Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Ashley Foster Lanzel

Date

Decision Making in the Face of Pediatric Incurable High Grade Gliomas: A Qualitative Ethical Analysis

By

Ashley Foster Lanzel, M.D.

Master of Arts

Bioethics

Kathy Kinlaw, M.Div. Advisor

Rebecca Pentz, Ph.D. Committee Member

Paul Root Wolpe, Ph.D. Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

Decision Making in the Face of Pediatric Incurable High Grade Gliomas: A Qualitative Ethical Analysis

By

Ashley Foster Lanzel B.S., University of Georgia, 2008 M.D., Medical College of Georgia, 2012

Advisor: Kathy Kinlaw, M.Div.

An abstract of A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in Bioethics 2018

Abstract

Decision Making in the Face of Pediatric Incurable High Grade Gliomas: A Qualitative Ethical Analysis By Ashley Lanzel, M.D.

Decision making for children and young adults with incurable high grade gliomas (HGGs), like diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma (DIPG) or glioblastoma multiforme (GBM), is difficult, complex, and ethically challenging.

A longitudinal, qualitative study was completed from April 2017 to February 2018 to evaluate factors that play into decision making for children and young adults with HGGs, their families and clinicians. Twenty four of 36 eligible patients were approached. Seventeen enrolled and two withdrew for transfer of care and unavailable, consenting interpreter. Key decision making visits (e.g. MRI reviews) and semi-structured interviews with parents and/or patients were serially audio-recorded. Field notes from clinician meetings, chart notes, and oncologist questionnaires were obtained. Discussions and interviews were transcribed, coded, and analyzed manually and with MAXQDA software until thematic saturation.

An average of 5 encounters, or 2.5 hours, were recorded per patient. Parent and patient interview themes included 1) hope (for a cure, prolonged life, and quality of life), 2) importance of physician recommendations, 3) importance of support systems (family, community, social media), 4) food (as cancer etiology, intervention) 5) finances (personal, research funding), 6) communication (with medical providers, family, community), 7) death, and 8) God (beliefs, prayer, existential questions). While patients, families and physicians all hoped for treatment efficacy, they balanced it with the known poor prognosis. Physicians consistently hoped for patients to live as long as possible as well as possible. Patients and families transitioned more slowly to this hope. Clinician attempts to preserve hope differed between oncologists and palliative care specialists.

From these results, decisions made in this setting are multi-factorial, ultimately reflecting the competing values of decision makers. Optimism about treatment is held in tension with poor prognosis, allowing for functional hope for patients and families. Acknowledging shifting hopes of patients and families allows for changes in goals of care and shared decision making.

Principlism is used to ethically analyze the decision making process, beginning with who makes the decisions to what decisions are made. A clinician communication guide was developed to aid in the multiple difficult conversations for children and young adults with HGGs.

Decision Making in the Face of Pediatric Incurable High Grade Gliomas: A Qualitative Ethical Analysis

By

Ashley Foster Lanzel B.S., University of Georgia, 2008 M.D., Medical College of Georgia, 2012

Advisor: Kathy Kinlaw, M.Div.

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in Bioethics 2018

Table of Contents

Dedication	iv
Acknowledgements	iv
Preface	1
Chapter 1: Introduction: Overview of High Grade Gliomas and Ethical Concerns	6
Poor Prognostic Pediatric Brain Tumors: Focus on High Grade Gliomas	6
Palliative Care and Quality of Life	9
HGGs, Goals of Care and Decision Making	11
Figure 1: Options of Care for Poor Pediatric Prognostic Brain Tumors	12
Figure 2: Decision Making Flow Chart from Diagnosis Through Progression	13
Controversies in Care: Medical Dilemmas	14
Overview of Ethical Dilemmas	17
Ethical Challenges and Principlism	32
Chapter 2: Empirical Study: Purpose and Methodology	35
Learning from the Decision Makers: Description of the Qualitative Study	35
Purpose	35
A Priori Objectives	35
Hypotheses	35
Methodology	
Figure 3: Experimental Design	
Eligible Participants and Enrollment	
Figure 4: Patient Enrollment	40
Chapter 3: Results and Brief Discussion	42
Table 1: Patient Characteristics	42
Table 2: Options of Care Patients Received	43
Table 3: Parent Interview Participant Characteristics	44
Table 4: Patient Interview Participant Characteristics	45
Table 5: Neuro-Oncologist Characteristics	46
Results	47
Figure 5: Audio-Recorded Visits Per Patient	47

Figure 6: Palliative Care Consultations Per Patient	48
Figure 7: Audio-Recording Time Per Patient	49
Figure 8: Symptom Focused Medications Patients Received^	51
Figure 9: Patient/Parent Reported Symptoms^	51
Figure 10: Themes, Codes, and Subcodes	52
Interview Themes	53
Patient and Parent Responses to Interview Questions	53
Table 6: Patient and Parent Responses	54
Review of Oncologist Responses	65
Table 7: Neuro-Oncologist Questionnaire Responses	66
Review of Palliative Care Responses	75
Table 8: Palliative Care Questionnaire Responses	76
Figure 11: Comparison of Oncology and Palliative Care Responses on Hope	84
Figure 12: Summary of Communication Training Recommendations	85
Limitations and Considerations	85
Summary of Results	86
Chapter 4: Difficult and Distressing Decisions for Care	
Decisions to Make	88
Decisional Priority	88
Figure 13: Representation of the Patient/Parent Priority Spectrum	
Doing Everything': The Physician's Fear and the Parents' Desire	96
Chapter 5: Hope Preservation	
Chapter 6: Ethical Reflections and Analysis with Principlism	
Principlism	
Figure 14: Ethical Principles	
Autonomy: Respecting Persons	
Beneficence	114
Nonmaleficence	116
Justice	119
Balancing Autonomy with Justice	
Balancing Autonomy with Beneficence and Nonmaleficence	
Ethical Dilemmas	

Chapter 7: Conclusions and Implications for Patient/Family Care & Practice	130
Loci of Control Amidst Chaotic Decision Making for Children with High Grade Gliomas	135
Implications and Communication Framework for the Longitudinal Decision Making Processes	137
Figure 15: Framework of Communication for Decision Making for Children with HGGs	140
Appendix A: Interview Guide for Patients/Families	141
Appendix B: Physician Questionnaires	142
Bibliography	143

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to my husband, daughter, and those impacted by high grade gliomas.

Acknowledgements

Appreciation does not give justice to the amount of gratitude I have for the many people who made this work possible. Thank you to the Emory University Center for Ethics, especially the Director of the Master of Arts in Bioethics program, Gerard Vong, Ph.D., my thesis advisor, Kathy Kinlaw, M.Div., and thesis committee members, Rebecca Pentz, Ph.D., and Paul Root Wolpe, Ph.D. Your support in this work has been substantial.

The pediatric hematology/oncology fellowship program at Emory University and Children's Healthcare of Atlanta has enabled me to participate in bioethics and qualitative research at the Aflac Cancer and Blood Disorders Center. I am indebted to my scholarship oversight committee members for their advice, support, and expertise. They include Katharine E. Brock, MD, MS, Karen Wasilewski-Masker, MD, MSc, Ann Mertens, Ph.D., MS, Rebecca Pentz, Ph.D., and collaborators of Abby Rosenberg, MD, MS, Amy E. Caruso Brown, MD, MSc, MSCS, and Justin N. Baker, MD. Without the support of the neuro-oncology team at the Aflac Cancer and Blood Disorders Center and Pediatric Advanced Care Team, this project would not be possible.

Thank you to the participating patients, parents, and physicians in allowing me to be a part of these special encounters. Thank you to the transcribing services of Matchless Transcription, Lydia G. Cox, M. Lisa Hwang, Melissa S. Hayban, and Margie Dixon, as you were central in making the voices of the patients, parents and clinicians heard.

To my husband, daughter, and parents, you have all been so patient as I have dedicated much time to this project. Your loving intercessory prayers for me have been encouraging. By the grace of God, the project was able to be completed. As I became a parent during this project, I have learned experientially the bond one feels toward a child, the daily challenges in caring for a child, the sharing of parental responsibilities and decision making with my husband. As parents from the study have reminded me, I cherish the time we have together, however long that may be.

Preface

What is it like to receive abrupt bad news? Let us explore this with a thought experiment. What if you were told your child has an incurable brain tumor? A million thoughts may be rushing through your head: "this can't be happening," "the doctor is wrong," and "not my child." You may wonder or ask, "Now what?" Whether or not you ask that last question out loud, the doctor will proceed to delineate the limited options.

However, while going through these options, you perseverate on the bad news. You cannot keep up with the options, much less weigh them against one another. You do not have fully informed preferences to make a decision, and yet, you may have been given paperwork to sign. This paperwork could be a request for sharing information with other medical institutions, an informed consent document, a do not attempt resuscitation form (DNAR), or a number of other important documents. It feels like you are in a nightmare. You feel overwhelmed. You may be angry that your child has cancer, that your child heard the word 'cancer,' that you have to maintain your composure and put the pieces back together when you get home.

Your hopes that your child would grow up, graduate from high school, obtain a job, get married and have a family of his or her own are shattered. You hope that you can make it through the phone calls telling loved ones the bad news. Oh wait, what did the doctor just say? Shock, anger, doubt, and grief may have prevented you from hearing what was said, cause misunderstanding, or lead to forgetting the options of care, which are the focus of family and friends' questions. These options are what you will research online, assuming you can get past the dismal diagnosis. It is too much. Your child has a death sentence. People expect you to hold it together because you are the child's parent. Your prior mechanisms for holding it together have been medication, friends, family, and God. Will those be helpful now? You only hope so as you journey forward. Most of all, you just want to sit and cry.

These thoughts and feelings are not just a thought experiment. They are reality for many parents of children with incurable brain tumors like high grade gliomas. It is hard for most parents to imagine anything this bad. Before the diagnosis, the family may have noticed changes in how the child's eyes focus, how the child talks, walks, eats, and sleeps. Their child may have complained of headaches, vomited in the early mornings, or fell behind in school or an activity. Parents may have worried about the symptoms or attributed them to a benign virus.

These symptoms were of a brain tumor that cannot be solved with surgery, radiation or chemotherapy. There are no known cures. There are a few possibilities that can relieve symptoms or prolong life, but, to date, all children with this diagnosis have died within six months to two years. This kind of brain tumor is unthinkable and unutterable. It is devastating.

Because there is no cure, the focus shifts to what decisions are made and how they are made. In this decision process, key players have differing duties, each requiring ethical reasoning. How people perceive their duties and how they ethically reason through the options impacts the decisions made and the level of distress about the outcomes.

For instance, the care for children and young adults with poor prognostic brain tumors relies heavily on their families and their medical providers. How families approach the care of their loved one often differs from the approach of medical providers, as they have distinct duties as family members. How parents define being a 'good parent' weighs heavily on their decision making. Similarly, how physicians define being a 'good physician' influences their recommendations for families. Though families and physicians share a common goal of caring for a suffering person, their viewpoints often diverge on how to best care for that person given their different roles. Parents may prioritize the spiritual or communal well-being over the physical well-being, while physicians may prioritize the physical well-being. The divergence might only appear at certain times: after cancer progression or near the end-of-life. Other times, the divergence is clear from the first meeting, with conflicting views amongst the family, amongst clinicians, or between families and clinicians.

Acknowledging these differing viewpoints and competing duties aides in providing optimal care, which is defined here as care that best supports a patient and family based on their values, informed by knowledgeable physicians, supplied by available resources, and constrained only by the physicians' ethical duties. Knowing everyone is on the same team enhances communication. When families and physicians position themselves on opposing teams or lack trust in one another, conflict abounds and communication breaks down. Without a solid relationship, quality care, much less optimal care, is difficult to provide.

Having competing duties does not always position the patient, family and physician on opposing teams but rather highlights the complexity of decision making. When an incurable brain tumor threatens to dissolve a person's dignity with progressive debility and diminished cognition, patients and families have decisional priority over physicians in deciding the goals of care, or primary ends, with constraints as indicated above. Physicians attempt to align available care options with those goals, essentially providing the means of care to support the primary ends. Over time, the goals of care may shift either because of family preference or less available options, causing changes to the plan of care. Knowing the competing duties of each decision maker allows for an open discussion in making those changes. Acknowledging shifting decisional priority can aide in shared decision making. Good communication helps prevent and ameliorate conflict.

The goals and their underlying values can be sources of conflict. Examples of conflicting goals include patients and families wanting to "do everything," or prolong life as long as possible while physicians may have a goal of improving quality of life. Underlying values may differ, especially if the patients, families, and physicians come from different backgrounds. For instance, when the patient and family differ in health literacy, spoken language, socioeconomic status, education, world view, culture or religion from their physician, their values may be quite different than the physician's.

Occasionally, conflict is subtle. Parents could have chosen a particular institution and physician who can enroll their child in a clinical trial. Other times patients and families could be healthcare providers, come from similar socioeconomic backgrounds and education level as physicians. The underlying values that informed the initial goals of care may be surpassed by other values and lead to changes in care preferences.

Patients or families who have prior healthcare experiences have influential narratives that shape their interactions after a new diagnosis of cancer. If those narratives are rooted in errors, misunderstandings, or disrespect, acknowledging these obstacles could be crucial in repairing the relationship with the medical field. Alternatively, if those narratives are based on 'medical miracles,' or 'beating the odds,' families may be tempted to 'prove the doctor wrong' again and compromise trust. Acknowledging these narratives does not guarantee a trusting relationship with a healthcare provider but may be a good start in the communication and decision making process, as they uniquely unfold.

Recognizing differences in hopes, backgrounds, values and experiences supports a healthy relationship among patients, families and physicians. This needs to be done in a sensitive and empathic manner to bring patients, families, and medical teams together. Each one has a story to tell about how communication helped or hindered their interactions. Decision making is complex; communication is essential for providing optimal care. Work is needed to understand the nuances of how decision makers think and how they communicate those nuances.

The goal of the current study is to learn about experiences and viewpoints from patients with high grade gliomas, their families, and physicians about their how decisions are made. Themes will be discussed from the following sources1) audio-recorded clinical visits with physicians, 2) audio-recorded parent or patient interviews, 3) field notes from clinician meetings and clinical encounters, and 4) physician questionnaires. The focus will be on the decision making process, specifically who has decisional priority and authority, delineating duties of physicians and parents. Medical provider moral distress will be explored in the setting of patients and/or parents asking to 'do everything.' Finally, hope preservation and how hope can be functional and lead to perseverance will be discussed.

Principlism will be utilized for ethical analysis of the competing duties of decision makers and provide a framework for clinical application and training that utilizes shared decision making to prevent or ameliorate ethical distress. Key goals of the framework are to improve understanding of patient and family preferences, assist in evaluating and re-evaluating hopes and goals throughout patient care, and promote palliative care consultation. Finally, the overreaching goal is to provide clarity in prioritizing and balancing the competing principles of optimizing beneficence, decreasing suffering, respecting autonomous rights, and justly providing the care possibilities desired for children and young adults with high grade gliomas.

Chapter 1: Introduction: Overview of High Grade Gliomas and Ethical Concerns

In this introduction, a background overview will be presented about pediatric high grade gliomas and the care options, including a focus on the standard of care which is palliative care. Medical controversies significant to key informants in the empirical study will be briefly highlighted. This is followed by an overview of key ethical dilemmas from diagnosis to end-oflife, with a brief caveat on shared decision making as it is the paradigm of communication and decision making that is promoted by the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) and is desired by patient and family informants. After discussing end-of-life issues, there is a brief discussion about the influence of God and religion on decisions as it was a key theme from informants. There is a paucity of literature in this area, but what does exist is found mostly in palliative medicine and end-of-life research. Finally, an overview of principlism will be provided as this ethical framework will be utilized in analyzing the ethical dilemmas that arise in the empirical study on decision making and communication.

Poor Prognostic Pediatric Brain Tumors: Focus on High Grade Gliomas

Despite significant gains in therapy for pediatric cancer and improvement of survival rates, pediatric cancer continues to be the leading disease related cause of death in children outside of infancy. (Siegel, Naishadham, and Jemal 2012) Brain tumors are the leading cause of death among children with cancer. In 2014, brain tumors accounted for 30% of pediatric cancer deaths. (Curtin, Minino, and Anderson 2016) Particularly dismally prognostic pediatric brain tumors are high grade gliomas (HGGs), which include diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma (DIPG), and glioblastoma multiforme (GBM).

Pediatric HGGs are biologically distinct from adult HGGs but carry a similarly poor prognosis. (Fangusaro 2012) HGGs are heterogeneous genetically, epigenetically, and histologically. (Louis et al. 2016) The etiology of pediatric HGGs may be related to an underlying genetic predisposition syndrome, problems with neurodevelopment, prior cancer directed therapy like radiation, transformation of a low grade glioma, or be sporadic. (Fangusaro 2012)

The World Health Organization (WHO) classifies high grade gliomas as astrocytomas that are grade III or IV based on pathology, with grade IV being GBM. (Louis et al. 2016) The WHO further uses epigenetic patterns of methylation and genetic changes to further subclassify these tumors. High grade gliomas located in the brainstem, specifically in the pons, are called DIPG. There are shared and unique genetic pathways altered in HGGs within and outside the brainstem. (Wu G, Diaz AK, Paugh BS, Rankin SL, Ju B, Li Y...Baker SJ 2014) HGGs in children are aggressive, have poor treatment options, and are near universally fatal. The treatment options available are based on the age of the child and the location of the HGG.

Children with GBM have more available therapy options and a slightly better prognosis than children with DIPG. On average, children 0-19 years of age with GBM have a five year survival rate of 20%; more specifically, the survival rate is 57% one year from diagnosis and 12.6% ten years from diagnosis. (Ostrom et al. 2013) Peak incidence is in adolescence and young adulthood but can occur at any age, including infants. (Fangusaro 2012) For HGGs outside the brainstem, surgery plays a central role as a gross total resection can greatly improve the survival rate but not necessarily morbidity. (Walker et al. 2013)

For newly diagnosed HGGs, standard therapy includes surgery, adjuvant therapy with radiation and/or chemotherapy. (PDQ Pediatric Treatment Editorial Board 2018) Radiation may be delayed in particularly young children (less than three years of age) due to severe neurocognitive effects. Temozolomide is a chemotherapy that has specifically been helpful for HGGs with methylated O6-methylguanine-DNA-methyltransferase (MGMT) overexpression, both in adults and children. (Cohen et al. 2011) For progressive HGGs, surgery, high dose chemotherapy with stem cell transplant, radiation, targeted therapy, and early phase clinical trials are potential medical options. (PDQ Pediatric Treatment Editorial Board 2018)

DIPG occurs most frequently in children between the ages of five and ten. The median survival from diagnosis is one year and there are no curative therapies. (Warren 2012) Though DIPG composes about 10-15% of pediatric brain tumors, it is the leading cause of death for children with brain tumors, as it is located in a place that is not amenable to surgical resection due to the pons' central role in controlling breathing. (Glod et al. 2016; Rizzo et al. 2015) Despite numerous clinical trials and significant collaborative efforts to improve treatments for DIPG, mortality remains unchanged. (Glod et al. 2016; M. Jansen et al. 2012; Hargrave 2012) Radiation remains the standard of care, as chemotherapy has not led to any benefit in quality of life or median survival. (Glod et al. 2016; M. Jansen et al. 2012; Warren 2012)

Though many researchers are working to improve the number of effective medical options for children with HGGs, there are notable challenges. HGGs are rare, heterogeneous, having an ever-changing classification system, and are protected by the blood brain barrier, making drug delivery more difficult. (Jones et al. 2017) Many institutions collaborate to recruit more children in clinical trials in an effort to ultimately improve outcomes. The question is which patients should be offered and enrolled in a clinical trial. This is based on clinician and researcher opinions, available options, and family preferences. Though who is offered clinical trials and how participation in clinical trials is determined are important areas to evaluate ethically, they will not be a focus here. Along with decisions about participation in clinical trials, palliative care should be standard of care for these children. (Weaver et al. 2015)

Palliative Care and Quality of Life

When pediatric oncology patients are diagnosed with cancer that carries a very poor prognosis, palliative care is essential and may become the primary focus of care. The Center to Advance Palliative Care defines palliative care and the medical subspecialty of palliative medicine as follows:

"specialized medical care for people living with serious illness. It focuses on providing relief from symptoms and stress of a serious illness. The goal is to improve quality of life for both the patient and the family. Palliative care is provided by a team of palliative care doctors, nurses, social workers and others who work together with a patient's other doctors to provide an extra layer of support. It is appropriate at any age and at any stage in a serious illness and can be provided along with curative treatment." (CAPC n.d.)

Palliative care provides holistic, supportive care for patients and their families. Much literature states that palliative care should be initiated at diagnosis, continued throughout therapy, and persist through bereavement. (Wolfe et al. 2000; Wolfe, Grier, and et al 2000, 200; Weaver et al. 2015) When integrated earlier, patients feel palliative care improves quality of life and anxiety. (Levine et al. 2017)

Though palliative care is the standard of care, scientific journals that delineate care options for pediatric brain tumors do not mention palliative or supportive care (Rizzo et al. 2015; M. Jansen et al. 2012) or mention it only around palliative cancer directed therapy, such as surgery or radiation. (Glod et al. 2016) Perhaps there is an assumption that primary palliative care is being provided; however, it could reflect that palliative care is forgotten in the care of these patients. When palliative care is included, the involvement and integration of specialty palliative care (as provided by an interdisciplinary palliative care team) varies from center to center based on resources, personnel and institutional support. (Hui et al. 2010) Access to specialty palliative care influences what is available and offered to patients. If there is access to palliative care, it may not be effective if parents have not yet accepted the need for palliative care or if palliative care does not achieve the parents' expectations for their child and family. (Verberne et al. 2017) Many families and providers have the misperception that palliative care is solely hospice care. (Bergstraesser 2013) Once this misperception is corrected and specialty palliative care teams are able to support patients and families through 1) continuity, coordination of care, and providing one reliable point of contact, 2) practical support, and 3) sensitive and reliable attitudes of team members, palliative care becomes invaluable to patients and families. (Verberne et al. 2017)

The utility of palliative care is high given that oncologists are often poor prognosticators, have trouble communicating around palliative care issues, and lack expertise in assessing and treating symptoms associated with cancer, cancer treatment and end-of-life care, especially for children with brain tumors who experience challenging symptoms due to progressive neurological deterioration. (Wolfe et al. 2000, 200; Wiener et al. 2015) Quality of life assessments are often used to help evaluate how well symptoms and distress are controlled.

Quality of life is multi-factorial and has significant personal meaning. Children with DIPG have higher health-related quality of life (HRQOL) per their parents when the children have fewer cognitive problems and less procedural anxiety. (Mandrell et al. 2016) Children report their quality of life is worse with moderate or high intensity cancer directed therapy; conversely, children have better quality of life and psychological scores with oral palliative chemotherapy. (Wolfe et al. 2015) Parental worry is inversely related to their child's HRQOL.

(Mandrell et al. 2016) Similarly, parental psychological distress is high when their children suffer from their therapy. (A. Rosenberg et al. 2016)

Though much more than cancer related symptoms and treatment decisions influence quality of life, they are major factors. Quality of life considerations are important in deciding on treatment options and play a major role in establishing goals of care. When discussing treatment options, palliative care should be considered a standard of care for children with cancer.

HGGs, Goals of Care and Decision Making

For children with poor prognostic brain tumors, goals of care are often blended: one may hope for a child to live as well as possible for as long as possible yet want to preserve quality of life. These goals may shift over time with more weight given to quality of life. Clinicians may attempt to present families with therapeutic options that align with families' preferences and values. When cure is unlikely, specific options can be limited by resources or provider preferences. Clinical trial participation and complementary and alternative medicine (CAM), are not proven cancer directed therapies, but are options that may be offered to patients. (Munshi, Ni, and Tiwana 2008; M. Jansen et al. 2012) Cancer directed therapy, such as surgical resection or biopsy, radiation, chemotherapy, and immunotherapy, are potential options for symptom palliation, disease control, or life prolongation. (PDQ Pediatric Treatment Editorial Board 2018) Clinical trial participation, CAM, and cancer directed therapy may all be provided with primary or intensive palliative care. A comfort focused approach may involve intensive palliative care alone. Hospice care, a service for children presumed to have less than six months to live, often accompanies a comfort-focused approach.

The process of deciding which path to choose can be quick or take some time based on the many influences impacting these decisions. Influences include the preferences and

11

experiences of decision makers, as well as the availability, eligibility and feasibility of treatment options.



Figure 1: Options of Care for Poor Pediatric Prognostic Brain Tumors

Pediatric patients and their families often struggle with the shock of the bad news (diagnosis, prognosis, and progression), the medical jargon, and the limited cancer directed treatment options. They desire to make the best, most loving decisions for their child. Yet, without much knowledge in the area, families rely on physicians to guide them in the decision making process. Interestingly, there are no studies about whether clinicians have decisional regret about decisions they have made for a patient or have moral distress related to guiding patients and their families through this decision making process. This is out of the scope of this thesis but is important for future research.

Once a cancer directed treatment or clinical trial is chosen, a patient will generally continue with that option until it is time to stop per protocol or progression of disease occurs. During that time, the response to the treatment will be evaluated. If the patient is worse off or not receiving benefit from the treatment (i.e. worsening pain or progression of disease), the selected treatment will stop, options will be reviewed again, and another decision will be made (see Figure 2).

When a child's brain tumor progresses, the discussions differ for several reasons: 1) the options of care change, 2) patients and families have experience with cancer directed therapy or clinical trials, 3) the physician leading the conversation may change, and 4) other psychosocial factors may change. Whether or not there are new providers, goals of care should be reviewed at diagnosis and at the time of progression to guide the care plans.

Discuss Potential Options & Decide Decide

Figure 2: Decision Making Flow Chart from Diagnosis Through Progression

With each decision for a child's care, potential medical and ethical dilemmas arise. I will explore several of the salient dilemmas that arise in this setting subsequently in this chapter. In later chapters, I will describe the empirical research conducted to evaluate the decision making

processes for children with DIPG, GBM or other HGG, their families and clinicians. I will then describe several ethical challenges that arise and analyze them utilizing principlism.

Controversies in Care: Medical Dilemmas

To Biopsy or Not to Biopsy?

Prior to the development of computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), biopsy was routinely utilized to diagnose DIPG. Shifts in diagnostic methodology and DIPG characterization have occurred over the past thirty years, though treatments have not changed outcomes. (Vanan and Eisenstat 2015) Classic clinical and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) findings have been the mainstay for diagnosis the early 1990's. (Puget, Blauwblomme, and Grill 2012; Ogiwara and Morota 2013; Albright et al. 1993) With improving surgical techniques and genetic and molecular characterization of tumors, biopsy of the brain stem lesion has recently become a safe option for diagnostic and research purposes. This option has been controversial as obtaining a biopsy of a brain stem lesion is inherently a life-threatening surgery fraught with ethical considerations on the parts of surgeons, clinicians, researchers, patients and family members. Additionally, a current controversy exists on whether to offer biopsy outside of clinical trials. Recommendations vary by clinician and institution.

Benefits of a biopsy may exist for both patients and the scientific community. Patients may benefit from better pathological and molecular characterization of the tumor, especially if the diagnosis is in question. (Ogiwara and Morota 2013) Research may benefit from having tissue to compare from diagnosis, progression and autopsy to further learn about the disease process. Further, lab-based research on the tissue samples can be used to develop future clinical trials. (Walker et al. 2013) The scientific community hopes that with greater molecular and genetic characterization, targeted therapy be developed successfully.

Burdens of the biopsy range from earlier death to diminished quality of life if a complication occurs. Other possible burdens include inability to enroll in a clinical trial without having a biopsy or inability to access specific investigational drugs if the patient's tumor molecular characterization is not known.

The surgeon may ask whether the risk of death from surgery is important considering the underlying poor prognosis. Would the patient be worse off for having the procedure? Would the patient suffer a preventable adverse event from the procedure? Death from surgery could shorten a patient's life and prevent patients and family members from having important quality time together.

Clinicians wonder if a biopsy should be recommended if no benefit is anticipated for the patient from the biopsy (i.e. change in diagnosis, treatment or survival). Recommendation of a biopsy may be considered if patients and families are interested in a clinical trial that requires a biopsy or if there is a chance of benefit. Because multiple clinical trials do not require biopsy and no clinical trial has been successful in changing the standard of care of palliative care and radiation, clinicians may recommend against a clinical trial requiring a biopsy.

When deciding about the option of a biopsy, patients and families will perceive the risks, benefits, and priorities differently based on their values. If patients and families value clinical trial participation for either altruistic reasons or for personal benefit, they may consider the biopsy to 'keep their options open' despite the life-threatening risk of surgery. Other patients and families may value quality time or feel that biopsy will not change their plan. Most patients and families have mixed goals and choose based on situational complexities and values. Thus, as biopsy is not a current standard of care, clinicians may present it as an option so that patients and families can decide if the procedure is important.

Time Matters: Hydrocephalus Management at Diagnosis Versus End-of-Life

Hydrocephalus, or fluid accumulation within the brain causing increased intracranial pressure, can develop at diagnosis, progression or as a treatment complication for HGGs. Treatment for hydrocephalus can be with surgical placement of a shunt, such as a ventriculoperitoneal (VP) shunt, ventriculoatrial (VA) shunt, third ventriculostomy, and external ventricular drain (EVD), to name a few. Placement of a shunt can be controversial for children with HGGs, depending on the goals of the shunt's placement and the timing of the hydrocephalus.

Relieving the hydrocephalus could improve symptoms, such as headache, early morning vomiting, lethargy, vision changes and gait instability. Efficacy of the VP shunt placement improving symptoms is better when there is a shorter duration between diagnosis of the HGG and shunt placement. (Castro et al. 2017) It remains questionable if it will prolong life, especially for children with DIPG. Survival rate in children with DIPG is similar between those with and without hydrocephalus. (Roujeau et al. 2011) Potential harms of placing a surgical shunt include death, infection, potential need to replace the shunt if hydrocephalus reaccumulates, and rarely, spreading of the tumor to the rest of the body. (Francisco Barajas, Jr. et al. 2015)

Because shunt placement can improve symptoms and quality of life, some clinicians recommend close monitoring for hydrocephalus and early, aggressive intervention. (Amano et al. 2002) These clinicians see it as part of supportive care, especially early in the disease course. However, not all clinicians recommend it, especially at the end-of-life.

Closer to the end-of-life, clinicians sometimes recommend against placing a shunt, as the children will die from disease progression, even if the hydrocephalus is shunted. Symptoms of

lethargy at the end-of-life may not be relieved by resolving hydrocephalus. From this viewpoint, offering shunt placement is an invasive procedure that does not exactly align with comfort-focused care. Instead of improving symptoms, suffering could be prolonged.

Thus, offering hydrocephalus management early in the disease course is less debated than at later stages. If surgeons and clinicians are not willing to offer shunt placement as an option later in the disease course, families should be informed. Clear goals of care discussions are needed prior to discussing hydrocephalus management with patients and families.

Overview of Ethical Dilemmas

Ethical dilemmas can arise in the setting of disclosing the diagnosis and prognosis to the patient and/or family, informed consent and assent, conflict of interest from provider preferences, access to care, decisional priority of patients and families, shared-decision making, relief of suffering, and healthcare provider moral distress. Ethical consultation is often made in the setting of complex patient situations, concerns of physician fiduciary responsibility to patients, care delivery when benefit is unclear, prognostic discordance, moral distress, and religion based refusal of care. (L. Johnson et al. 2015) Here, I will elaborate on prognostic disclosure, phase I clinical trial consent processes, and end-of-life care.

<u>Prognostic Disclosure and Hope</u>

Discussions of diagnosis, prognosis, potential interventions, goals of care and end-of-life care in a pediatric patient with a terminal or poor prognostic brain tumor are difficult. Many physicians find disclosure of bad news and giving recommendations to be distressing and prefer to avoid the discussions. (Wall et al. 2015; V. Miller et al. 2014) Pediatric oncologists leading these discussions often experience internal conflict in attempting to preserve hope and while conveying accurate information about prognosis with patients and their families. (Sisk et al. 2016)

Even if clinicians have accurate disease based knowledge, they are poor at prognosticating about life expectancy. (Gripp et al. 2007; Brook and Hain 2008) Physicians failed to mention no treatment and/or palliative care options in 68% of informed consent conferences and that the disease was incurable in 85%. (V. Miller et al. 2014) Without true understanding, fewer families were likely to explore palliative care options, but rather request extraordinary measures at the end-of-life and have expectations of a miracle, which was distressing to medical providers. (V. Miller et al. 2014)

Though delivering poor prognostic information is difficult for clinicians, it is vital to future decisions about patient care and does not diminish parents' hope. (Mack, Wolfe, et al. 2007; Mack, Cook, et al. 2007; Mack et al. 2006) In fact, most parents desire to know accurate prognostic information, even if it is upsetting. (Mack et al. 2006) They are still able maintain hope in tension with this upsetting knowledge. Maintaining this hope is evidence of their role in bearing hope and their ability to shift the types of hope they have. (Reder and Serwint 2009)

If not disclosed, parents often quickly learn from online sources what the actual prognosis is. The prognosis is available to anyone with Internet access. However, it is preferential that parents hear the prognosis from their child's physician who can provide guidance, incorporating their knowledge, prior experiences, and the family's specific hopes and worries. The physicians' conceptions of hope may influence their communication with patients and vice versa. (Wolf, Garlid, and Hyrkas 2018) When physicians and patients enter therapeutic relationships longitudinally, "hope becomes an amalgamation, or a rebuilding/rekindling of hope amidst hopelessness." (Wolf, Garlid, and Hyrkas 2018) Communication strategies to facilitate prognostic awareness have been developed by palliative care providers. (Jackson et al. 2013) When discussing goals of care, providers should inquire about a child and family's hopes and worries, and probe deeper if the predominant hope is cure. Asking what else a family is hoping for can elicit additional hopes. Families may express "seemingly conflicting hopes [as] part of the process of accepting the reality of this very sad situation and finding ways to live with it from day to day." (S. J. Friedrichsdorf et al. 2015) Medical providers should listen empathetically.

Jackson *et al.* (2013) describe a coping pendulum, where patients vacillate between expressing hopes that are likely to be realized and hopes that are not. Similarly, patients may swing from denial of illness to the reality of illness. In cultivating prognostic awareness, clinicians must assess the current level of prognostic awareness, help the patient envision a poorer health state, and decide based on the urgency of the situation how much information to deliver. For patients ready for the information, clinicians should provide that information. For those not yet ready, clinicians should align with the patient, name the dilemma of not addressing prognosis, and wait until the patient is ready to hear this information. The conversation can then transition to 'hoping for the best and preparing for the worst,' with anticipatory guidance about what "getting worse," looks like.

When making these important decisions, it is vital to diminish decisional regret when possible. Parents have less decisional regret when 1) receiving high quality information and detailed prognostic information from a trusted oncologist and 2) holding their perceived ideal role in decision making, which is often as a primary decision maker guided by physicians. (Mack, Cronin, and Kang 2016) Thus, physicians should not struggle with the ethical dilemma of preserving hope versus truth telling as parents are capable of maintaining hope and receiving truthful news simultaneously. Additionally, physicians should inquire the parents' desired involvement in decision making and support that role if it is appropriate in the form of shared decision making.

Ethical Concerns of Involving Children in Prognostic Disclosure and Decision Making

Inviting children into discussions about diagnosis, prognosis, decision making, and endof-life care is promoted professionally in the field of pediatrics. The American Academy of Pediatrics states, "The child should participate to the fullest extent possible, given his or her preferences, cultural and spiritual tradition, illness experience, developmental capacity, and level of consciousness." (AAP 2013) Current practices favor truth telling over non-disclosure, albeit in a way that is acceptable to caregivers (i.e. who tells the patient, where the patient is told, etc.). (Cole and Kodish 2007; Coyne et al. 2013; Sisk et al. 2016) However, this was not always promoted.

Previously, it was thought that withholding information from children about death would protect them in the paternalistic form of therapeutic privilege. There was concern that knowing the bad news would be harmful to the children. Theoretically shielding children from this knowledge would decrease their worries, preserve their hope, and be good for them. (Sisk et al. 2016) However, this is not the case.

Myra Bluebond-Langner completed one of the first investigations on how children perceive their terminal prognoses and death, publishing *The Private Worlds of Dying Children* in 1977. (Bluebond-Langner 1978) This groundbreaking work explored how children with leukemia, then a terminal diagnosis, viewed their diagnosis. She exposed the fact that children knew of their prognosis, even if parents and healthcare providers went to extensive lengths to 'protect' the children from that knowledge. This news began a wave of change that facilitated more open communication with children about their diagnosis and prognosis. It opened the doors to provide a shared experience and meaningful time for children and their families at the end-of-life.

Children actively dying may experience 'total pain,' including physical, psychological, social, and spiritual pain. (Saunders 1964) Children fear suffering, being alone at the time of death, worry about those surviving them, and desire to make the most of the lives they have left. Addressing these sources of pain, rather than have children perseverating on these fears can be beneficial. Having an end-of-life care discussion in a transparent manner allows children to experience the love people have for them. While discussing emotionally challenging topics can be hard, it is not particularly injurious to children if done in a developmentally appropriate manner. (Last and van Veldhuizen 1996) Thus, the benefit to harm ratio sways to greater benefit in incorporating children in these discussions.

Truthful disclosure in a developmentally appropriate manner and in an acceptable manner to parents is beneficial not only for the children, but also for families. Parents who talk honestly with their children about death have less decisional regret than those who do not. (Ullrich et al. 2016) Open communication can provide a means to promote familial healing, including for well siblings who can be overlooked or not involved during a child's cancer journey. (A. R. Rosenberg et al. 2015; Houtzager et al. 2004) The sibling's psychological adjustment depends not on the knowledge of the poor prognosis, but rather on the sibling's ability to empathize, coping strategies, birth order, closeness to the patient, and familial functioning. (Labay and Walco 2004; Houtzager et al. 2004) The process of getting to open communication can remain a challenge, but leads to patient and family-centered decision making, especially when it matters most. (Sison et al. 2017)

Though the pendulum has swung from no disclosure to full disclosure, more complexities exist on a case by case scenario. (Sisk et al. 2016) Additionally, specific recommendations on how to involve children in the decision making process are lacking. Considerations that need to be made when involving children in medical decisions include those for the child, parents, and the parent-child relationship. Child considerations include the child's age, development, illness experiences, views of illness and options for care, and actions to protect parents. (Bluebond-Langner, Belasco, and DeMesquita Wander 2010) Parental considerations include the parents' legal and moral responsibility for the child, the parent's positions on their child's care and treatment, their child's place in the decision making process and what their child should and can be told. (Bluebond-Langner, Belasco, and DeMesquita Wander 2010) Parent-Child relationship considerations include the lack of autonomy children have and their deference to authority figures or likelihood of dissent from parents' sanctioned decisions; usual decision making routines between parents and their children, differing knowledge base about illness and treatment options, along with social and cultural factors. (Bluebond-Langner, Belasco, and DeMesquita Wander 2010)

Children have emerging autonomy and capacity, but are legally minors, requiring surrogate decision makers, who are often parents or legal guardians. Without legal decision making power, children's voices may be lost despite recommendations to involve children when appropriate, possible, and culturally sensitive. (Villanueva et al. 2016) Ethically, healthcare providers try to ensure that surrogates make decisions in the best interest of the child. At times, the best interest of the child may be unclear or complicated. At other times, the surrogates may have conflicting or competing interests that interfere with making decisions in the child's best interest. Each situation should be evaluated in context to determine the most ethically sound decision.

Respect for persons is a key ethical concept to honor. For healthcare providers, it is important to ask parents, guardians, or significant family members what information is preferred and how they would like to receive information. Parents are more likely to allow discussion of terminal illness or impending death with their children when they become aware of the benefits. Clinicians have to work to avoid harm by talking with children in a sensitive manner and honoring parent preferences for information delivery. Respect for patient and family values is essential in supporting a therapeutic relationship with healthcare providers, so the physician may have to proceed carefully if the family rejects honest information sharing.

Phase I Clinical Trials and Ethical Concerns Around Informed Consent

Participating in phase I clinical trials or palliative radiation may be the only available options for a patient with DIPG and family who wishes to pursue cancer directed therapy. Families often choose participation in phase I trials with the hope of a potential benefit, the advancement of science and care for future patients. (Yap et al. 2010)

The purpose of a phase I trial is to establish the maximum tolerated dose, biologically relevant dose (for biologic agents), and dose limiting toxicity. In pediatric phase I trials, cancer control occurs in less than 10% of novel single agent trials and about 20% of trials combining novel agents with chemotherapy. (Lee, Skolnik, and Adamson 2005) A more recent prospective study of the risks and benefits of pediatric phase I trials in oncology showed an objective response rate of 10.29%, but with significant discrepancy with solid tumors having an objective response rate of only 3.17% compared to hematological malignancies of 27.9%. (Waligora et al. 2018)

Understanding the efficacy of a drug is the purpose of a phase II trial. Yeh *et al.* in 2016 demonstrated that when pairing single agent phase I trials with phase II studies, response rates were highly correlative; interestingly, they found that thirteen phase II studies took place despite the preceding phase I studies having an overall response rate of 0%. (Yeh, Huang, and Cohen 2016)

Adverse effects are common in phase I trials with 25% experiencing a severe toxicity, 17% with dose related toxicity, and 0.5-2.09% dying from treatment. (Waligora et al. 2018; Kim et al. 2008; Lee, Skolnik, and Adamson 2005; Shah et al. 1998; Decoster, Stein, and Holdener 1990) The average rate of severe or life-threatening event is 1.32 per person. (Waligora et al. 2018)

Thus, participation in phase I trials has little potential benefit and some associated risk, especially for children with poor prognostic brain tumors. Participants hope for some benefit even if they do not realistically expect it. This often leads to participation, especially if there are limited or no options for cancer directed care. A reasonable person could choose to participate in the clinical trial if options for cancer directed care are limited. (F. G. Miller and Joffe 2008) Choosing an option and being optimistic about one's choice helps one cope. Balancing hopes with worries is also appropriate. Having limited options may put one at risk for manipulation but does not necessarily infringe on the voluntariness of clinical trial participation and the validity of informed consent.

The process of enrolling in a clinical trial may be a whirlwind, but often occurs over a series of discussions rather than an isolated informed consent discussion. The content of the informed consent discussions can vary from provider to provider, notably around the perceived benefits and focus of a trial. (Simon et al. 2004; S Joffe et al. 2001)

The AAP states that informed consent process involves: "disclosure of information to patients and their surrogates, assessment of patient and surrogate understanding of the information, and their capacity for medical decision making." (Bioethics 2016) The information disclosed includes: 1) the patient's diagnosis and prognosis, 2) the nature of the treatment or intervention (including risks, benefits, and probability of success), and 3) the alternatives (including the option of no treatment or comfort measures). (Bioethics 2016) The discussion must be developmentally, educationally, and culturally appropriate. The consent process must take place before treatments or interventions and be long enough to provide time for patients and their surrogates to ask questions. (Bioethics 2016)

Some of the challenges that arise in pediatric settings around informed consent include, but are not limited to: language barriers, low education level or health literacy, emotional distress, religious or cultural views, manipulation from healthcare providers, parents, or legal guardians. (Breese et al. 2007; Simon et al. 2004) While clinical research informed consent documents should be written at or below an eighth grade reading level, this is not always accomplished. (Villafranca et al. 2017)

Attempts to improve the informed consent process are ongoing. To improve the informed consent process, many have advocated providing training to physicians and researchers, with focus on information delivery and attention to patient and parental preferences. (L. Johnson et al. 2015; Baker et al. 2007; Yap et al. 2010; Baker et al. 2013)

Several studies have been completed assessing communication, along with patient and parental understanding after an informed consent discussion. Hazen *et al.* in 2015 showed that in pediatric phase I oncology trials, risks were discussed 95% of the time and benefits about 88% of

the time. Therapeutic benefit was frequently emphasized along with the positive impact on quality of life (88%). (Hazen et al. 2015)

Both Simon *et al.* (2004) and Truong *et al.* (2011) compared the informed consent processes in pediatric and adult oncology centers. (Simon et al. 2004; Truong et al. 2011) While pediatric oncologists spent a longer average time disclosing information about the trial, parents had lower understanding of the rationale of treatment, risks and benefits of the clinical trial and standard therapy, the concept of randomization, treatment alternatives, and ability to receive therapy if not enrolled in the trial. Those with improved understanding often had participated in prior clinical trials, had a child with relapsed/progressed disease, had the consent discussion as an outpatient, a delayed time point from the new or relapsed diagnosis, discussed the consent with the principal investigator, and spent more time in the consent process.

Since Applebaum *et al.*, first defined therapeutic misconception in 1982, ethicists have debated if therapeutic misconception exists and have attempted to further clarify and more precisely define the alternatives to therapeutic misconception. (Applebaum, Roth, and Lidz 1982) For a person to have therapeutic misconception, that person misconceives the purpose of the clinical trial to be for personal, therapeutic benefit rather than for generalizable knowledge. Therapeutic misestimation, alternatively, occurs when a person incorrectly overestimates benefit or underestimates risk. (Pentz et al. 2012) Further, therapeutic optimism occurs when subjects believe that they are more likely to benefit and less likely to experience risk than others enrolled in the clinical trial. (Lad and Dahl 2017)

Many of these concepts have been grounded in evaluating the informed consent process with discreet questionnaires rather than qualitative interviews. This can be problematic due to the "psychologist fallacy" and "discursive perspective." (Weinfurt 2013) The "psychologist
fallacy," occurs when the researcher substitutes his or her point of view for a participant's response. This egocentric bias in interpreting data is difficult to eliminate. The "discursive perspective," occurs when participants answer questions based on a desire to establish an attitude within themselves. In other words, they answer based on what they hope will happen rather than what has been disclosed to them. Therefore, questionnaires incompletely captured individual understanding and over-estimated misunderstanding. Ongoing quality studies are needed given the risk of increasing therapeutic misunderstanding related to phase I trials related to the language of 'targeted therapy' and the designs of phase I trials that may include the pairing of an experimental drug with standard chemotherapy. (Reeder-Hayes et al. 2017)

Being optimistic about a therapy is not always problematic, especially in the context of a general positive outlook or dispositional optimism. (L. A. Jansen et al. 2016) Dispositional optimism can assist children and young adults with cancer and their parents in promoting resiliency, finding benefit in the face of adversity, engaging in healthier behaviors, improving health related quality of life and psychosocial functioning. (A. Rosenberg et al. 2014; Molina et al. 2014; Gardner et al. 2017; Okado et al. 2016; Mannix, Feldman, and Moody 2009; Sulkers et al. 2013) Increasing levels of hope and quality of life are correlated with decreased levels of depression and anxiety; thus, preserving hope or using hope as a framework for choosing interventions may benefit overall well-being after a cancer diagnosis. (Germann et al. 2015)

If participation in a clinical trial is the only cancer directed therapy option, allows for hope preservation, and aligns with patient and family goals, then presenting a clinical trial to the patient and family is reasonable. Informed consent must be approached carefully as children and their parents are vulnerable and are susceptible to bias or manipulation from a physicianinvestigator who has a known or potential conflict of interest. (A. Rosenberg 2016) When overt conflict of interest exists, it does not always interfere with the informed consent discussion, especially if the provider is transparent and does not provide a strong recommendation. Yap *et al.* (2010) noted that 64% of 103 pediatric oncologists presented phase I trials as an option rather than a strong recommendation and felt reluctant to influence decisions of families about these studies.

Separate from overt conflict of interest, the clinician can have an undue influence on the decision making for the child's care by making recommendations when there is no established standard of care. Each oncologist has his or her own medical opinions, values and underlying 'ethical standards.' These underlying values and standards influence the recommendations provided to patients and their families. (Hinds et al. 2005)

Those oncologists participating in Hinds *et al.* 2005 study reported consistently that patients and families choosing a Phase I study, terminal care, or do not attempt resuscitation (DNAR) orders were "consistent with my ethical standards." (Hinds et al. 2005) The physicians thought that the ethical option was chosen in each situation. It is unclear if the physicians influenced the decisions based on their own biases, values or preferences or if they believed all options were equally ethical and if all options are reasonable, physicians are less likely to have moral distress over the choices made by patients and their families. In the same study, parents perceived the way oncologists introduced phase I trials as "not trying to sway [them] one way or another/support any decision." (Hinds et al. 2005) In end-of-life decisions, patients and parents noted that oncologists helped "identify and respect [their] preferences." (Hinds et al. 2005) This extended to DNAR decisions, where oncologists "asked [parents] to do what [they] believe is right for [their] child." (Hinds et al. 2005) For all of these decisions, oncologists supported

patients and parents alike, a value that most oncologists find satisfying about their work. (Hinds et al. 2005)

Finally, phase I trial enrollment did not preclude quality end-of-life care in one institution where palliative care resources are robust. (Levine et al. 2015) This claim seems counterintuitive based on the observations I have had in my clinical training and in the empirical work done for this study. Even if palliative care services are robust, referrals can be late and preclude quality end-of-life care. A predictor of late palliative care referral includes intensive treatments and cancer directed care at the end-of-life. (Kaye et al. 2018) The discrepancy may be based on the differences of resources, personnel and institutional support for phase I trials rather than palliative care.

Shared Decision making

Patients and families ought to have greater decisional priority for terminal and poor prognostic cancer. (Whitney et al. 2006) Most parents desire to make decisions together with the oncologist (66%) or to make treatment decisions after considering the oncologist's opinion (25%). (Mack, Cook, et al. 2007) Only 8% of parents preferred the oncologist make the decisions, and no parents wanted the oncologist making decisions with little or no input from them. (Mack, Cook, et al. 2007) Only 1% preferred to make decisions with little or no input from the oncologist. (Mack, Cook, et al. 2007) Shared decision making is valued by parents of children with cancer and can best be accomplished with accurate prognostic understanding. It is also recommended by the AAP. (Adams, Levy, and Council on Children with Disabilities 2017)

To help patient and their families make the best decisions, healthcare providers can provide information in an empathic manner and use collaborative, shared decision making. Specifically in pediatric oncology, shared decision making interventions are sparse. (Coyne et al. 2013) However, it is of the utmost importance, especially at the end-of-life. (Hinds et al. 2005)

End-of-Life Care for Children and Young Adults with HGG

Parents of children with brain tumors at the end of their child's life focus on 1) parental coping with maintenance of hope and resilience; 2) parental struggles, such as balancing competing responsibilities and talking to their child about death; and 3) parental hardships such as lack of financial and/or community resources 4) parental dilemmas such as trying to achieve a home death while optimizing symptom management. (Zelcer et al. 2010) Parents rightly focused on home-based palliative and oncology care, as it is associated with improved quality of life, an increased likelihood of having fun, experiencing events that add meaning to life, and dying at home. (S. Friedrichsdorf et al. 2015)

End-of-life care for children and young adults with HGGs is particularly challenging whether they die at home, in hospice, or in the hospital because symptoms and debility progress until death. Managing these symptoms and debility can be difficult for healthcare providers and be especially distressing for patients and their family members. Moreover, uncertainty or conflicts in prior decision making can manifest in changes to prior care plans when patients are acutely dying.

A recent publication by a Canadian group describes end-of-life care of 41 children with DIPG who died between 2001 and 2010. (Hasan et al. 2018) In this retrospective cohort study, they evaluated the last three months of life for these patients who died from disease progression. Similar to other cohorts, about 50% of the patients received cancer directed care and within the last month of life, 30% of patients received cancer directed care within the last month of life. Fifty-six percent died at home. Importantly, DNAR discussions were documented but not always followed. Eighty percent of the patients had documented DNAR discussion a median of 28 days (IQR 11-68) before death. Of the 33 discussions, 30 (91%) agreed to a DNAR. Those not agreeing to DNAR received resuscitation. Three patients received resuscitation and after resuscitation had their first DNAR discussion. One child who had a DNAR order began to acutely die and parents called emergency services. This child also underwent cardiopulmonary resuscitation. Interestingly, none of the 29% of patients without a DNAR received CPR. As the authors point out, "a lack of a DNR in end-stage cancer may concern clinicians who fear that CPR may lead to child suffering, parental regret and provider moral distress." However, they later then go on to question the importance of a DNAR as the existence did not orchestrate the care the patients ultimately received. While their point is well taken, it is unclear what the foundational discussions of diagnosis, prognosis and goals of care were for these patients. This could reflect that DNAR discussions are more of a check box to complete rather than flowing out of goals of care.

There is a clinician rhetoric that DNAR conversations should occur with the patient and/or family early in the disease course and be led or moderated by the clinician who knows the patient and/or family the best (Sanderson, Zurakowski, and Wolfe 2013); however, late or absent discussions about code status are not uncommon. (Hasan et al. 2018) Common barriers cited by Sanderson *et al.* in having the DNAR discussions often focused on the parents: "unrealistic parent expectations," "lack of parent readiness," and "differences between clinician and patient/parent understanding of the prognosis." Conversely, the following were never or rarely considered a barrier: "lack of importance to clinicians," "laws and regulations," "concern about the patient receiving less attention from the health care team once resuscitation status discussions begin," "lack of clinician time," "ethical considerations," "conflict between patient and parent," and "clinician concern about losing the trust of the patient."

Palliative Care as an Example: Cultural and Religious Considerations in Decision Making

Culture and religion are important to patients and their families in decision making and end-of-life care and should be considered by healthcare providers when discussing care options. (Wiener et al. 2013) People have beliefs that are dynamic and individual in nature, and thus cultural and religious beliefs are not generalizable. Cultural humility, rather than assumption, is needed when interacting with patients and families. (Tervalon and Murray-Garcia 1998) Further learning about a patient's and family's religious and spiritual beliefs may help in the healing process. There is a paucity of literature in this field, but greater attention has been given to it in the palliative care field than other fields. (Puchalski et al. 2014; Balboni et al. 2013) The holistic view of the patient in palliative care and hospice allows for viewing the patient as a person in the spheres of biopsychosocial and spiritual health. Even from a research perspective, most quality of life evaluations do not include spirituality, but do reference hope, suffering, and transcendence. Demographic information recorded in a person's chart or from a checkbox on a survey does not adequately capture the importance of religion, faith tradition, spirituality, and community or how to address within healthcare the true beliefs of a person.

Ethical Challenges and Principlism

Principlism is often applied to clinical and research ethical challenges such as those outlined above. Principlism is an ethical theory promoted initially by Tom L. Beauchamp and James Childress in which essential moral norms of a pluralistic society, such as America, can practically be applied in a non-hierarchal way to evaluate ethical dilemmas. (Beauchamp and Childress 2013) Principles are general guidelines based on the common morality. "Based on considered moral judgments and the way moral beliefs cohere," the four clusters of principles that Beauchamp and Childress determined were essential to biomedical ethics are:

"Respect for autonomy (a norm of respecting and supporting autonomous decisions), 2) *nonmaleficence* (a norm of avoiding the causation of harm), 3) *beneficence* (a group of norms pertaining to relieving, lessening, or preventing harm and providing benefits and balancing benefits against risks and costs), and 4) *justice* (a group of norms for fairly distributing benefits, risks, and costs)." (Beauchamp and Childress 2013)

Though this theory was first promoted in the 1970's it has a historical background that extends to medical ethics in the nineteenth century with concepts of nonmaleficence and beneficence. (Beauchamp and Childress 2013) About the time the first edition of Principles of Biomedical Ethics was published, the Belmont Report formalized research ethics principles of autonomy, beneficence, and justice. (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research 1978) The foundational principles are rooted in, consistent with, or not in conflict with various moral theories and epistemic justifications related to moral decision making. (Bulger 2007) Thus, principlism accounts for moral pluralism.

It takes a middle ground with not only competing moral theories, but also competing principles. Principlism offers plasticity in moral decision making by balancing the competing *prima facie* principles. This is similar to W. D. Ross's idea of *prima facie* duties, in which conditional duties would be proper duties (one's actual duty) if they had no other competing duties of moral significance. (Ross 1930) It flexibly accounts for situational complexities and nuances in specific ethical dilemmas. This strength is also a limitation in that inconsistent judgments can arise when utilizing principlism.

In balancing these competing principles, different solutions can be elucidated with each moral dilemma or with the same moral dilemma given to a different group of people. While some argue that this is inadequate treatment of relativism and has promoted medical consumerism, (Donaldson 2017) principlism often leads to practical solutions that lead to the least amount of distress for those particular parties involved. (Beauchamp and Childress 2013)

Principlism is an accessible moral theory that is often used in pediatric ethics curricula along with casuistry for case based analysis of ethical dilemmas. (Opel and Olson, 2012) With the prevalence of principlism in medical curricula, clinical settings, and research, the use of it to analyze empirical, narrative results will be helpful in translation to clinicians. To some this may be counter-intuitive as principlism and narrative ethics can be in tension; instead, principlism and narrative ethics can inform one another. (McCarthy 2003) One cannot apply a principle unless the facts of the case or situation are well understood. This thesis will thus use principlism in analyzing data from the concordant empirical study, which is delineated in the next chapter.

Chapter 2: Empirical Study: Purpose and Methodology Learning from the Decision Makers: Description of the Qualitative Study

Purpose

The purpose of the empirical study was to investigate the communication and decision making processes over the illness trajectory for pediatric and young adults with HGGs, their parents, and physicians, namely oncologists and palliative care specialists.

A Priori Objectives

- 1. To evaluate the decision making and informed consent processes for cancer directed therapy for children and young adults with HGG and their families with the pediatric oncology team.
- To evaluate if palliative care improves understanding of comfort-focused care and hospice options along with family-centered decision making for pediatric patients with DIPG, GBM or other HGG.
- 3. To evaluate how decision making, hopes and goals change over an illness trajectory for children and young adults with HGG.
- 4. To compare the actual care of patients with HGG with the previously stated preferences and hopes when there is and is not a palliative care consult.

Hypotheses

- Children and young adults diagnosed with a HGG are more likely to receive treatment recommendations from the pediatric oncology team that favor Phase I trials or other cancer directed therapy over palliative care and hospice, given the tension between hopeful intervention and acceptance of end-of-life.
- Though there is a risk for conflict of interest with patients receiving care from physician investigators and a risk for therapeutic misconception during the consent process, appropriate informed consent is obtained and therapeutic misconception is minimal.

- 3. Palliative care involvement helps facilitate family-centered discussions and decisions. Families of children and young adults with HGG who have palliative care involvement have a better understanding of prognosis, end-of-life care options, and receive care that is concordant with their goals more frequently than those who do not have a palliative care consult.
- 4. Families' hopes shift over the course of an illness, transitioning from hopeful intervention with cancer directed therapy to a comfort focused approach. The shift to a comfort focus occurs earlier for families when palliative care is involved.

Methodology

A longitudinal, qualitative approach was used to evaluate how goals of care, hopes, and decision making change over the course illness for patients with HGGs and their families. With progressive illness, multiple difficult discussions were anticipated for these patients, starting at diagnosis and continuing through end-of-life care. We sought to assess the content and structure of these discussions and evaluate if therapeutic misconception, misestimation or optimism permeates decision making or if decision making is free of this problematic understanding, with patients and families balancing the knowledge of the poor prognosis with hope and an optimistic outlook. We also aimed to learn the important influences on decision making, including the impact of physician recommendations and communication.

Qualitative data was obtained in the form of personal accounts and experiences of parents, and when appropriate of patients, which reflect on communication with physicians, express insights into the decision making process, and reveal present and future hopes and worries. Serial audio-recording of key decision making clinical encounters (e.g. MRI reviews or end-of-life discussions) and one-on-one semi-structured interviews with parents and several adolescent and young adult patients were obtained. The open-ended, semi-structured interviews were developed based on informed consent questionnaires. (S Joffe et al. 2001; Truong et al. 2011) The questions aimed to evaluate the parents or patient's decision making processes, hopes, fears and suggestions on how to improve physician-parent/patient communication and support decision making. See Appendix A for the semi-structured interview guide.

Quantitative surveys of parents and/or patients were not used as they would not be able to provide the thick data of personal accounts, experiences, and decision making process that were needed to answer the study questions. Additional reasons include: 1) burden of additional time for completing questionnaires, 2) risk of external influences on questionnaire completion (i.e. other people helping complete the questionnaire), 3) risk of literacy level influencing ability level to complete, 4) low response rates, and 5) the lack of a validated instrument capturing all domains of care, ranging from phase I or cancer directed therapy to palliative or end-of-life care.

Field notes from neuro-oncology meetings reviewing patients, clinical encounters and chart notes were obtained and analyzed. If subspecialty palliative care was involved, attempts were made to audio-record interactions with the supportive care clinic or the Pediatric Advanced Care Team (PACT). Comparison was made between the desired care and the actual received care based on preferences expressed in audio-recorded clinical encounters and interviews and the charted received care in the patient's chart.

Oncologists and palliative care clinicians were queried via questionnaires after each audio-recorded key decision making clinical encounter. Questions focused on each patient's disease status, prognosis, patient preferences and family dynamics in decision making, and the physician's hopes and worries for the patient. Physician questionnaires for oncologists and palliative care specialists are located in Appendix B. Information from patients, parents and physicians allows data triangulation to identify key themes. Figure 3 demonstrates the

experimental design in a timeline schema.

Figure 3: Experimental Design



Audio-recorded clinician encounters and parent/patient interviews were centrally transcribed. *A priori* and inductive codes were generated independently by two investigators (AL and RP). Deductive codes derived from the interview guide and concepts in the literature. Inductive codes were derived from the data based on new issues, topics, ideas, or opinions. The codes were further defined and developed based on the meanings that participants attached to the coded ideas. Codes were classified based on their topics and underlying concepts.

At a code book meeting, the two investigators compared and discussed the codes with a third investigator (KB) until consensus was achieved. Inter-coder reliability was reviewed. Discrepancies in coding were evaluated and updated until coders agreed on the final code book. The coded transcripts were analyzed manually and with MaxQDA Analytics Pro 2018

Qualitative software using constant comparison method until code saturation, the point where no new codes arise. Codes were analyzed and key themes emerged based on frequency of occurrence and emphasis by participants.

Eligible Participants and Enrollment

Eligible participants included: 1) pediatric/young adult oncology patients (ages 0 to 21 years old) at Children's Healthcare of Atlanta with a diagnosis of DIPG, GBM or secondary HGG, 2) their parents, 3) their neuro-oncologists, and 4) their palliative care specialists. Primary language of participants was either English or Spanish. Recruitment of eligible patients occurred through primary neuro-oncologists who served as gatekeepers in allowing or not allowing access to patients. Accrual occurred over ten months, from April 2017 until January 2018.

Of thirty-six eligible participants, twenty-four were approached. Eight initially declined, however one enrolled later. Seventeen patients enrolled initially, but two later withdrew: one for transfer of care to another center and the other not having an available Spanish interpreter to consent to having his or her voice audio-recorded. Fifteen remained enrolled at the end of the study (Figure 4).

Subjects able to participate in semi-structured interviews were: 1) patients with HGG (ages 8-17) with no cognitive impairment who provided assent and had parental permission to participate 2) patients with HGG (ages 18-21) with no cognitive impairment and provided consent, and 3) parents of patients with HGG who provided consent. One researcher (AL) interviewed thirteen mothers, one father, and four patients. While four fathers and one step-father were present at key decision making visits and agreed to be audio-recorded, they were not specifically interviewed. They deferred to the mothers for participation.



Eligible healthcare providers included neuro-oncologist attendings (n=5, 4 enrolled), neuro-oncology fellows (n=2, 1 enrolled), hematology-oncology fellows (n =14, 1 enrolled), and palliative care specialists (n=6, 2 enrolled). Consent for audio-recording was also obtained from two developmental therapeutics nurses and one advanced practice provider. No interpreters provided consent to audio-recording. Questionnaires were completed only by the oncologists or palliative care specialists caring for the patients (n=7).

Institutional Research Board and Ethical Considerations

This protocol was approved by the Emory University and Children's Healthcare of Atlanta Institutional Review Boards (IRBs), and the pediatric hematology oncology program, neuro-oncology program, palliative care team, and interpreting services leadership team. Institutional practices for informed consent and assent were followed. Participation did not impact treatments offered to the patient or care received at the institution. Healthcare provider participation did not impact their employment or training status. Study participation was voluntary for patients, parents and clinicians. Participants who revoked consent or assent were notified that records would be destroyed and not analyzed.

Potential risks and discomforts from participation in the study included: 1) distress from discussing emotional topics such as end-of-life care, 2) discomfort from audio-recording, and 3) provision of time for interviews. Possible direct benefits from participation included development of greater insight into hopes, wishes and decisions being made. No compensation was provided for participants. Data from audio-recordings, field notes, chart notes, and questionnaires were de-identified, kept private and confidential, and securely stored per institutional guidelines.

Chapter 3: Results and Brief Discussion

<u>Demographics</u>

Demographics of patients, parents and physicians are listed below. Quotations denote respondent answers as they are not standardized but rather obtained from open ended questions in interviews or on questionnaires.

Sex Male 11 (73)* Male 13 (
Sex Male 11 (73)* Male 13 (
	62)
Average 9.2 (SD 6) Average 9 (S	D 6.4)
<6: 4 (27) 4 (19)	
Age, years 6-10: 6 (4) 4 (19)	
11-17: 3 (2) 7 (33)	
>= 18: 2 (13) 6 (29)	
White: 8 (53) 10 (48))
African American: 4 (27) 6 (29)	
Race Asian: 1 (7) 3 (14)	
Other: 2 (13) 2 (9)	
Ethnicity Latino/Hispanic Origin: 2 (13) 1 (5	5)
Medicaid Only: 7 (47) 6 (29)	
Insurance Private Insurance Only: 6 (40) 11 (52)	
Medicaid + Private 4 (19) Insurance: 2 (13)	
DIPG : 9 (60) 6 (29)	
Diagnosis GBM: 4 (27) 14 (66)	
Secondary HG: 2 (13) 1 (5)	

Table 1: Patient Characteristics

Included Patients, N=15, n (%)	Excluded Patients, N = 21, n (%)
No Surgery: 8 (53)	3 (14)
	7 (33)
	12 (57)
	1 (5)
	5 (24)
• • •	2 (10)
G-Tube: 1 (6)	0 (0)
Radiation: 15 (100)	18 (86)
Re-irradiation: 6 (40)	3 (14)
Standard: 3 (20)	5 (24)
Multiple courses: 3 (20)	5 (24)
Palliative: 2 (13)	1 (5)*
Compassionate Use: 3 (20)	0 (0)
Phase I [one]: 7 (47)	3 (14)
Multiple Phase I: 2 (13)	4 (19)
Phase II: 1 (6)	1 (5)
7 (47)	7 (33)
	Biopsy: 3 (20) Resection: 5 (33) Re-Resection: 2 (13) VP Shunt/EVD: 3 (20) Port: 4 (27) G-Tube: 1 (6) Radiation: 15 (100) Re-irradiation: 6 (40) Standard: 3 (20) Multiple courses: 3 (20) Palliative: 2 (13) Compassionate Use: 3 (20) Phase I [one]: 7 (47) Multiple Phase I: 2 (13) Phase II: 1 (6)

Table 2: Options of Care Patients Received

*Two patients had discussed palliative chemotherapy, but did not start it prior to death.

Parent Participants in Semi-Structured Audio-Recorded Interviews, N = 13, n (%)		
Parent Respondent	Mother: 12 (92)	
Average Age, years	36 (SD 5.4)	
Race	White: 8 (62) African American: 3 (23)	
Ethnicity	Asian: 2 (15) Latino/Hispanic Origin: 1 (8)	
Preferred Primary anguage	English: 12 (92)	Spanish/Bilingual: 1 (8)
Relationship Status	Single: 1 (8) Married: 9 (69) Divorced: 3 (23)	
Sexuality	Heterosexual: 12 (92)	Bisexual: 1 (8)
Highest Level of	Bachelors Degree(s): 4 (31)	High School: 2 (15)
Education Leve	Some College/Associates Degree: 5 (38)	Graduate Degree: 3 (23)
mployment Status	Part-Time: 1 (8)	Full Time: 7 (54)
Financial Status	"Struggling, Rocky, Lower Class, Relying on Family & Friends": 4 (31)	"Able to Pay Bills and Do What Want, Upper Middle Class": 2 (15)
	"Able to Pay Bills, Ok, Lower Middle Class": 3 (23)	"Pretty Well, Upper Class": 4 (31)
Number of People in Family	Average: 4.3 (SD 1.5)	
Religion	Atheist: 1 (8) Baptist: 3 (23) Catholic: 2 (14)	Non-Denominational: 3 (23) None: 3 (23) Seventh Day Adventist: 1 (8)
Church/mass	"Don't believe in going to church": 4 (31)	Rarely Attend: 2 (15)
ttendance:	Attend Regularly: 2 (15)	Attend Frequently: 5 (38)
pirituality	Prav: 11 (85) Sing/Worship: 1 (8) Devotional/Read Scripturé: 2 (15) Meditiation/Good energy: 2 (18)	Write notes: 2 (18) Diet: 1 (8) Teach Kids: 2 (18)
ife Outlook	Optimist: 6 (46) "Positive Realist": 3 (23)	Realist: 3 (23)
ife Stressors	Work: 1 (8) Finances: 1 (8) Patient Siblings: 1 (8) Nones: 5 (38)	Pessimst: 1 (8) Spouse laid off work: 2 (15) Insurance: 1 (8) Living with Ex-spouse: 1 (8) Over 50 of them: 1 (8)
lealthcare Provider n Family	Yes: 5 (38)-no physicians	<u> </u>
amilial Experience with Serious Illness	Yes: 11 (85)-Cancer, Congestive Heart Disease, Ch Death, Thrombotic Throm	

Table 3: Parent Interview Participant Characteristics

	cipants in Semi-Structured Audio-Rec	$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} = 1$
Sex	Male: 3 (75)	
Age, Average, years	17.5 (SD 3.5)	
Race	White: 1 (25) African American: 2 (50) Other: 1 (25)	
Ethnicity	Latino/Hispanic Origin: 1 (25)	
Preferred Primary Language	English: 4 (100)	Bilingual (English/Spanish): 1 (25)
Relationship Status	Single 4 (100)	
Sexuality	Heterosexual: 4 (100)	
Highest Level of Education Level	High School: 2 (50) Graduated High School: 1 (25) Some College: 1 (25)	
Employment Status	Employed: 1 (25)	
Financial Status	"Hard not working; worried about bills": 1 (25)	"ОК": 3 (75)
Number of People in Family	Average: 5 (SD 1.8)	
Religion	Baptist: 1 (25) 7th Day Adventist: 1 (25) Jehovah's Witness: 1 (25) Mixed (Catholic & Islam): 1 (25)	
Spirituality	Pray: 4 (100)	Attend church/meeting: 4 (100)
Life Outlook	Optimist: 1 (25) Realist: 2 (50)	Positive Realist: 1 (25)*
Life Stressors	Finances: 1 (25) Difficulty Walking: 1 (25)	School: 1 (25) Appearance: 1 (25)
Healthcare Provider in Family	Yes: 2 (50)-no physicians	
Experience with Serious Illness	Yes: 3 (75)-Self & other family members	

Table 4: Patient Interview Participant Characteristics

*Initial answer: ("Optimist & pessimist at the same time-hope for the best, prepare for the worst," but at a later date changes answer to positive realist)

Experience with Serious IllnessRenal FailureLife OutlookRealist: 2 (66)Pessimist: 1 (33)StressorsFamily: 2 (66)Financial: 2 (66)Work: 2 (66)Work-Life Balance: 1 (33)Informed Consent: 3 (100)End-of-Life Care: 1 (33)	Neuro-Oncologi	st Demographic Characteristics, (N = 3 completing questionnaire), n (%)	
years D2.0 (30 3.3) Bace White: 2 (66) Asian: 1 (33) Ethnicity Latino/Hispanic Origin: 1 (33) Primary Language English (100) Relationship Status Married: 2 (66) Divorced: 1 (33) Sexuality Heterosexual: 3, (100) Highest Level of Education MD: 1 (33) Employment Employed Full Time: 3 (100) Attending Neuro-Oncology: 3 (100) Financial Status "Employed Full Time": 1 (33) "Upper Middle Class": 1 (33) "Upper Middle Class": 1 (33) "Upper Middle Class": 1 (33) "Top 3%": 1 (33) Number of People in Family Average: 4 (SD 0) Religion "Agnostic/Non-Practicing Catholic": 1 (33) Practicing Catholic: 2 (66) Meditate/"commune with nature": 2 (66) Healthcare Provider in Family Yes: 3 (100)-mostly physicians Familial Experience with Serious Illness Life Outlook Realist: 2 (66) Yes: 3 (100)-Cancer,Congestive Heart Failure, Dementia, Diabetes, Early Death, Renal Failure Life Outlook Realist: 2 (66) Stressors	Sex	Male: 2, (66)		
Asian: 1 (3) Ethnicity Latino/Hispanic Origin: 1 (33) Primary Language English (100) Relationship Status Married: 2 (66) Divorced: 1 (33) Sexuality Heterosexual: 3, (100) Highest Level of Education MD: 1 (33) MD + Graduate Degree: 2 (66) Employment Status Employed Full Time: 3 (100) Attending Neuro-Oncology: 3 (100) Financial Status "Employed Full Time": 1 (33) "Upper Middle Class": 1 (33) "Top 3%": 1 (33) Average: 4 (SD 0) "Average: 4 (SD 0) Religion "Agnostic/Non-Practicing Catholic": 1 (33) Practicing Catholic: 2 (66) Spirituality Attend Mass: 2 (66) Meditate/"commune with nature": 2 (66) Healthcare Provider in Family Yes: 3 (100)-cancer,Congestive Heart Failure, Dementia, Diabetes, Early Death, Renal Failure Experience with Serious Illness Yes: 3 (100)-Cancer,Congestive Heart Failure, Dementia, Diabetes, Early Death, Renal Failure Stressors Family: 2 (66) Financial: 2 (66) Work: 2 (66) Work-Life Balance: 1 (33) Training Informed Consent: 3 (100)- End-of-Life Care: 1 (33)-		52.3 (SD 5.5)		
EthnicityLatino/Hispanic Origin: 1 (33)Primary LanguageEnglish (100)Relationship StatusMarried: 2 (66)Divorced: 1 (33)SexualityHeterosexual: 3, (100)Highest Level of EducationMD: 1 (33)MD + Graduate Degree: 2 (66)Employment StatusEmployed Full Time: 3 (100)Attending Neuro-Oncology: 3 (100)Financial Status"Employed Full Time": 1 (33) "Upper Middle Class": 1 (33) "Top 3%": 1 (33)MD + Graduate Degree: 2 (66)Number of People in FamilyAverage: 4 (SD 0)Attending Neuro-Oncology: 3 (100)Religion Practicing Catholic: 2 (66) Meditate/"commune with nature": 2 (66)Attend Mass: 2 (66)SpiritualityYes: 3 (100)-mostly physiciansFamilial Experience with Renal FailureFamilial Experience with Serious IllnessYes: 3 (100)-Cancer, Congestive Heart Failure, Dementia, Diabetes, Early Death, Renal FailureStressorsFamily: 2 (66)Financial: 2 (66)Work- Life Balance: 1 (33)Work-Life Balance: 1 (33)TrainingInformed Consent: 3 (100)-End-of-Life Care: 1 (33)-	Race			
Primary Language English (100) Relationship Status Married: 2 (66) Divorced: 1 (33) Sexuality Heterosexual: 3, (100) Highest Level of Education MD: 1 (33) MD + Graduate Degree: 2 (66) Employment Status Employed Full Time: 3 (100) Attending Neuro-Oncology: 3 (100) "Employed Full Time": 1 (33) "Dyper Middle Class": 1 (33) "Top 3%": 1 (33) Average: 4 (SD 0) Religion "Agnostic/Non-Practicing Catholic": 1 (33) Practicing Catholic: 2 (66) Meditate/"commune with nature": 2 (66) Spirituality Ves: 3 (100)-mostly physicians Provider in Family Yes: 3 (100)-Cancer, Congestive Heart Failure, Dementia, Diabetes, Early Death, Renal Failure Experience with Serious Illness Yes: 3 (100)-Cancer, Congestive Heart Failure, Dementia, Diabetes, Early Death, Renal Failure Stressors Family: 2 (66) Financial: 2 (66) Work-Life Balance: 1 (33) Family: 2 (66) Financial: 2 (66) Training Informed Consent: 3 (100)- End-of-Life Care: 1 (33)-				
Relationship StatusMarried: 2 (66)Divorced: 1 (33)SexualityHeterosexual: 3, (100)Highest Level of EducationMD: 1 (33)MD + Graduate Degree: 2 (66)Employment StatusEmployed Full Time: 3 (100)Attending Neuro-Oncology: 3 (100)Financial Status"Employed Full Time": 1 (33) "Upper Middle Class": 1 (33)"Top 3%": 1 (33)Number of People in FamilyAverage: 4 (SD 0)Average: 4 (SD 0)Religion"Agnostic/Non-Practicing Catholic": 1 (33) Practicing Catholic: 2 (66)SpiritualityAttend Mass: 2 (66) Meditate/"commune with nature": 2 (66)Healthcare Provider in FamilyYes: 3 (100)-mostly physiciansFamilial Experience with Serious IllnessYes: 3 (100)-Cancer,Congestive Heart Failure, Dementia, Diabetes, Early Death, Renal FailureLife OutlookRealist: 2 (66) Work: 2 (66)Pessimist: 1 (33)StressorsFamily: 2 (66) Work: 2 (66)Financial: 2 (66) Work-Life Balance: 1 (33)TrainingInformed Consent: 3 (100)-End-of-Life Care: 1 (33)-	Ethnicity	Latino/Hispanic Origin: 1 (33)		
Sexuality Heterosexual: 3, (100) Highest Level of Education MD: 1 (33) MD + Graduate Degree: 2 (66) Employment Status Employed Full Time: 3 (100) Attending Neuro-Oncology: 3 (100) Financial Status "Employed Full Time": 1 (33) "Upper Middle Class": 1 (33) Number of People in Family Average: 4 (SD 0) "Attending Neuro-Oncology: 3 (100) Religion "Agnostic/Non-Practicing Catholic": 1 (33) Practicing Catholic: 2 (66) Spirituality Attend Mass: 2 (66) Attend Mass: 2 (66) Healthcare Provider in Family Yes: 3 (100)-mostly physicians Practicing Familial Experience with Serious Illness Life Outlook Realist: 2 (66) Pessimist: 1 (33) Stressors Family: 2 (66) Financial: 2 (66) Work: 2 (66) Work-Life Balance: 1 (33) Training Informed Consent: 3 (100)- End-of-Life Care: 1 (33)-	Primary Language	English (100)		
Highest Level of EducationMD: 1 (33)MD + Graduate Degree: 2 (66)Employment StatusEmployed Full Time: 3 (100)Attending Neuro-Oncology: 3 (100)Financial Status"Employed Full Time": 1 (33) "Upper Middle Class": 1 (33) "Top 3%": 1 (33)	Relationship Status	Married: 2 (66)	Divorced: 1 (33)	
EducationMD: 1 (33)MD + Graduate Degree: 2 (66)Employment StatusEmployed Full Time: 3 (100)Attending Neuro-Oncology: 3 (100)Financial Status"Employed Full Time": 1 (33) "Upper Middle Class": 1 (33)"Top 3%": 1 (33)Number of People in FamilyAverage: 4 (SD 0)Average: 4 (SD 0)Religion"Agnostic/Non-Practicing Catholic": 1 (33) 	Sexuality	Heterosexual: 3, (100)		
StatusEmployed Full Time: 3 (100)Attending Neuro-Oncology: 3 (100)Financial Status"Employed Full Time: 1 (33) "Upper Middle Class": 1 (33) "Top 3%": 1 (33)Number of People in FamilyAverage: 4 (SD 0)Religion"Agnostic/Non-Practicing Catholic": 1 (33) Practicing Catholic: 2 (66)SpiritualityAttend Mass: 2 (66) Meditate/"commune with nature": 2 (66)Healthcare Provider in FamilyYes: 3 (100)-mostly physiciansFamilial Experience with Serious IllnessYes: 3 (100)-Cancer,Congestive Heart Failure, Dementia, Diabetes, Early Death Renal FailureLife OutlookRealist: 2 (66)Pessimist: 1 (33)StressorsFamily: 2 (66)Financial: 2 (66) Work: 2 (66)TrainingInformed Consent: 3 (100)-End-of-Life Care: 1 (33)-		MD: 1 (33)	MD + Graduate Degree: 2 (66)	
Financial Status"Upper Middle Class": 1 (33) "Top 3%": 1 (33)Number of People in FamilyAverage: 4 (SD 0)Religion"Agnostic/Non-Practicing Catholic": 1 (33) Practicing Catholic: 2 (66)SpiritualityAttend Mass: 2 (66) Meditate/"commune with nature": 2 (66)Healthcare Provider in FamilyYes: 3 (100)-mostly physiciansFamilial Experience with Serious IllnessYes: 3 (100)-Cancer,Congestive Heart Failure, Dementia, Diabetes, Early Death Renal FailureLife OutlookRealist: 2 (66)Pessimist: 1 (33)StressorsFamily: 2 (66)Financial: 2 (66)Work: 2 (66)Work-Life Balance: 1 (33)TrainingInformed Consent: 3 (100)-End-of-Life Care: 1 (33)-	• •	Employed Full Time: 3 (100)	Attending Neuro-Oncology: 3 (100)	
Number of People in FamilyAverage: 4 (SD 0)Religion"Agnostic/Non-Practicing Catholic": 1 (33) Practicing Catholic: 2 (66)SpiritualityAttend Mass: 2 (66) Meditate/"commune with nature": 2 (66)Healthcare Provider in FamilyYes: 3 (100)-mostly physiciansFamilial Experience with Serious IllnessYes: 3 (100)-Cancer, Congestive Heart Failure, Dementia, Diabetes, Early Death, Renal FailureLife OutlookRealist: 2 (66)StressorsFamily: 2 (66)Family: 2 (66)Financial: 2 (66)Work: 2 (66)Work-Life Balance: 1 (33)TrainingInformed Consent: 3 (100)-	Financial Status	"Upper Middle Class": 1 (33)		
Religion Practicing Catholic: 2 (66) Spirituality Attend Mass: 2 (66) Meditate/"commune with nature": 2 (66) Healthcare Provider in Family Yes: 3 (100)-mostly physicians Familial Experience with Serious Illness Life Outlook Realist: 2 (66) Family: 2 (66) Family: 2 (66) Work: 2 (66) Work-Life Balance: 1 (33)				
Practicing Catholic: 2 (66) Spirituality Attend Mass: 2 (66) Meditate/"commune with nature": 2 (66) Healthcare Yes: 3 (100)-mostly physicians Provider in Family Yes: 3 (100)-Cancer,Congestive Heart Failure, Dementia, Diabetes, Early Death, Renal Failure Experience with Serious Illness Yes: 3 (100)-Cancer,Congestive Heart Failure, Dementia, Diabetes, Early Death, Renal Failure Life Outlook Realist: 2 (66) Pessimist: 1 (33) Stressors Family: 2 (66) Financial: 2 (66) Work: 2 (66) Work-Life Balance: 1 (33) Training Informed Consent: 3 (100)- End-of-Life Care: 1 (33)-	Peligion	"Agnostic/Non-Practicing Catholic": 1 (33)		
SpiritualityMeditate/"commune with nature": 2 (66)Healthcare Provider in FamilyYes: 3 (100)-mostly physiciansFamilial Experience with Serious IllnessYes: 3 (100)-Cancer,Congestive Heart Failure, Dementia, Diabetes, Early Death, Renal FailureLife OutlookRealist: 2 (66)Pessimist: 1 (33)StressorsFamily: 2 (66)Financial: 2 (66)Work: 2 (66)Work-Life Balance: 1 (33)Informed Consent: 3 (100)-End-of-Life Care: 1 (33)-	Religion -	Practicing Catholic: 2 (66)		
Meditate/"commune with nature": 2 (66)Healthcare Provider in FamilyYes: 3 (100)-mostly physiciansFamilial Experience with Serious IllnessYes: 3 (100)-Cancer,Congestive Heart Failure, Dementia, Diabetes, Early Death, Renal FailureLife OutlookRealist: 2 (66)Pessimist: 1 (33)StressorsFamily: 2 (66)Financial: 2 (66)Work: 2 (66)Work-Life Balance: 1 (33)TrainingInformed Consent: 3 (100)-End-of-Life Care: 1 (33)-	.	Attend Mass: 2 (66)		
Provider in FamilyYes: 3 (100)-mostly physiciansFamilial Experience with Serious IllnessYes: 3 (100)-Cancer,Congestive Heart Failure, Dementia, Diabetes, Early Death, Renal FailureLife OutlookRealist: 2 (66)Pessimist: 1 (33)StressorsFamily: 2 (66)Financial: 2 (66)Work: 2 (66)Work-Life Balance: 1 (33)Informed Consent: 3 (100)-End-of-Life Care: 1 (33)-	Spirituality	Meditate/"commune with nature"	1: 2 (66)	
Experience with Serious IllnessYes: 3 (100)-Cancer, Congestive Heart Failure, Dementia, Diabetes, Early Death, Renal FailureLife OutlookRealist: 2 (66)Pessimist: 1 (33)StressorsFamily: 2 (66)Financial: 2 (66)Work: 2 (66)Work-Life Balance: 1 (33)TrainingInformed Consent: 3 (100)-End-of-Life Care: 1 (33)-		Yes: 3 (100)-mostly physicians		
StressorsFamily: 2 (66)Financial: 2 (66)Work: 2 (66)Work-Life Balance: 1 (33)TrainingInformed Consent: 3 (100)-End-of-Life Care: 1 (33)-	Experience with	Yes: 3 (100)-Cancer,Congestive Heart Failure, Dementia, Diabetes, Early Death, Renal Failure		
StressorsWork: 2 (66)Work-Life Balance: 1 (33)TrainingInformed Consent: 3 (100)-End-of-Life Care: 1 (33)-	Life Outlook	Realist: 2 (66)	Pessimist: 1 (33)	
Work: 2 (66)Work-Life Balance: 1 (33)TrainingInformed Consent: 3 (100)-End-of-Life Care: 1 (33)-	Straccore	Family: 2 (66)	Financial: 2 (66)	
		Work: 2 (66)	Work-Life Balance: 1 (33)	
	Training			

Table 5: Neuro-Oncologist Characteristics

Results

Seventy-five independent encounters were audio-recorded, with an average of five encounters per patient (Standard Deviation 2.9), with each patient having an average of 2.5 oncology visits (Standard Deviation 1.6) and 2.5 interviews (Standard Deviation 1.4) [Figure 5]. Patient subjects were identified by P, followed by their enrollment number (i.e. patient 1 = P1). Due to scheduling conflicts and missed appointments, no physician encounters were audiorecorded for P9 and P12; and one physician encounter was audio-recorded for P6. Due to scheduling conflicts, no semi-structured interviews were obtained for P14 and only one structured interview was obtained for the following patients: P2, P9, P12, and P13.





One palliative care visit was recorded (P11) even though 47% (7) had a palliative care consult by the end of data collection. One patient had an in-patient consultation by the pediatric advance care team (PACT) prior to this study. During the study, five patients had in-patient PACT consults and four patients had out-patient supportive care clinic visits. Audio-recording palliative care visits was difficult as only two PACT providers enrolled in the study, schedule conflicts with timing of palliative care consultation, and lack of principle investigator notification. In-patient consultation was more difficult to schedule than out-patient visits. Most consultations were in-patient.



Figure 6: Palliative Care Consultations Per Patient

The 75 audio-recorded encounters generated 40 hours (2,398.9 minutes) of transcribed data, with an average of 2.7 hours (159.92 minutes, Standard Deviation 115.9) recorded per subject. The average length of encounters was 27.3 minutes (Standard Deviation 11.8). Audio-recording times ranged from a minimum of 7.8 minutes to a maximum of 91.3 minutes for clinical encounters, a minimum of 1.9 minutes and a maximum 94 minutes for interviews, and a minimum of 23.8 minutes and a maximum of 928 minutes for encounters with combined clinical visit and interview. On average, a clinic visit was 28.6 minutes (Standard Deviation 18.2). On average, an interview was 36.7 minutes (Standard Deviation 22). Audio-recordings of

encounters that included combined clinic visits with interviews were 61.5 minutes on average (Standard Deviation 29.9).

The wide range of audio-recording time was secondary to 1) differing ranges of clinical encounter times, 2) patients or parents spending more time answering questions in the first interview and less time in subsequent interviews, 3) the investigator permitting families to answer "no changes" for an interview without answering all of the questions, 4) time constraints on patients or families for the interview, 5) technical difficulties with the audio-recorder not capturing an entire encounter, and 6) missed clinical encounters and interviews with patients or parents.



Figure 7: Audio-Recording Time Per Patient

At the time of the study completion, four patients died: P2, P4, P5, and P9. Of those who died, two died in the hospital, one of which had enrolled in hospice services previously. Two died at home with hospice services in place. The four deceased patients had DNAR orders.

Three had documented DNAR orders at least one month prior to death, with the earliest documentation being six months prior to death. None were intubated, underwent mechanical ventilation, or spent time in the intensive care unit. Three of the deceased patients had discussions with a healthcare provider about Physicians Orders for Life Sustaining Treatment (POLST). Two had documented limitations of life-sustaining treatment in the form of Physicians Orders for Life Sustaining Treatment (POLST) while the third never had the forms completed. One of the two completed POLST forms was directed with a clinician other than a physician. No surviving patients have DNAR or POLST orders written.

Hospice was discussed with 53% (8/15) of patients and 27% (4/15) received hospice services. Three of the four deceased patients received hospice services. Three families planned to have limited autopsies post-mortem, but only two had autopsies completed. These two patients died in the hospital.

Outside of the initial diagnostic discussion, clinicians did not bring up life-expectancy again until patients had progressed significantly and were presumably at the end-of-life; however, parents may bring it up in a way of demonstrating they have beaten the odds. For instance, parents would mention that it has been a year or almost two years from diagnosis. At a time of significant progression, parents may have been told that death would be eminent, yet their child survived (n=6). During audio-recording, clinicians over-estimated life-expectancy 66% of the time (2/3 patients). In one patient encounter, a clinician stated the child had several months to live, yet that patient died nine days later. Another clinician estimated the patient would die in 12 weeks; the child died 8 weeks later. For a third patient, the oncologist did not give an exact life-expectancy yet talked about how the compassionate use drug or brain tumor progression could cause an acute event. That oncologist was surprised that the child died two

days later. P9 did not have an audio-recording discussing life-expectancy with clinicians, but at clinician meetings physicians focused on what progress the patient had made rather than deterioration toward death.

Steroids 73% (11)	Antiepileptics* 33% (5) *Not including Ativan	Opiods 33% (5) Gabapentin 20% (3)
Ativan 27% (4) Mood Stabilizers 13% (2)	Antiemetics* 73% (11) Bowel Regimen 47% (7) Reflux Medication 53% (8) *Not including Ativan	Marinol 6% (1) THC oil 13% (2)

Figure 8: Symptom Focused Medications Patients Received^

^Data obtained from chart review.





[^]Data obtained from audio-recorded patient encounters and chart notations. These were not asked specifically in the interviews and were not a primary focus of the study. Results here may be falsely low.

Figure 10: Themes, Codes, and Subcodes



Interview Themes

Parent theme categories were identified based on emergence of new ideas, mentioning more than two times, and emphasis by the informants. Themes were identified from analyzing the codes, with emergence of underlying concepts that related the codes to one another. Parent and patient interview themes included 1) hopes (for a cure, prolonged life, quality of life, memory making and legacy building, and false hopes), 2) worries (patient's health, the unknown, siblings, and personal finances), 3) decision making (decision makers, decision process, decision reflections), 4) importance of physician recommendations (relationship with physician, type of recommendation, team of physicians), 5) importance of support systems (family, community, medication/therapist), 6) food (as cancer etiology, intervention, weight gain/loss, end-of-life care), 7) communication with medical providers (content of discussion, bad news, knowledge sharing, method of communication, physician characteristics), 9) death (preparing for death, dying, saying goodbye, heaven, autopsy), and 10) God (beliefs, prayers, existential questions).

Patient and Parent Responses to Interview Questions

Tell Me About Your Child's (or Your) Illness

Patient and parent narratives are powerful when recounting when the patient was first diagnosed and prognosis was revealed. Their personal stories demonstrate the impact of how the information was delivered, received, and interpreted. With knowledge of limited treatment options, some families indicated that they would spend a significant amount of their time, money, and resources in exploring any potential treatment option for their loved one. Others would rely primarily on the oncology team to provide options of care. Table 6: Patient and Parent Responses

Patient and Parent Responses, N = 16, n (%)

Prognostic Understanding

All patients and parents acknoweldged the poor prognosis and that there was no cure: 16 (100).

Options for Care

•All patients began with a cancer directed therapy (chemotherapy, surgery, radiation) or clinical trial: 16 (100)

•After intial therapy: Waiting: 3 (19)

•At progression: Clinical trial as Only Option: 3 (19), Surgery: 1 (6) No option: 1 (6)

Did the doctor recommend one of the options? What did he or she say? Did you think this was a strong recommendation or just a suggestion?

Continue what we are doing. Stay on clinical trial: 5 (31), Come off trial with progression: 3 (19), Continue compassionate use drug: 2 (12.5), DNAR/POLST: 1 (6)

What option did you pick and why?

Clinical trial, radiation, chemotherapy, surgery, compassionate use drug as it was our only option: 14 (88)

Tell me all about how you made the decision.

Influences on decision: Family members: 16 (100), Friends 2 (12.5), Church: 2 (12.5), God: 12 (75)

Who usually makes big decisions in your family?

Myself: 10 (62.5), With spouse, together as a team: 3 (19), Other Family Member: 2 (12.5)

What do you wish you could know that you have not discussed yet?

Nothing, just wish child did not have illness: 16 (100)

What do you wish you did not know or wish that you had not been told? Is there anything you wish your child was not told?

Nothing: 16 (100)

What do you think is the best outcome?

A cure, miracle, or healing: 16 (100)

What is the worst outcome?

Death: 16 (100)

What are your fears?

The drug isn't going to work: 1 (6). Death: 16 (100)

What do you hope for right now?

A cure: 16 (100). Make a milestone/memory: 6 (38)

How could we improve conversations like the one you had with your child's doctor? We welcome any suggestions!!!

Nothing: (75), Decrease the waiting time: 3 (19, Decrease the number of people in the room: 1 (6)

Clinical Trial Understanding and Experience

The clinical trial experience often involves having multiple long appointments, labs, tests, imaging, completing diaries, and waiting for dispensing medication. Patients and families embrace the intensity when they perceive it to be their "only option." One family expressed their hope that the medication would work and that his tumor would disappear, but they knew that it would not. They struggled to get their child to take medication and reinforced that the study drug was to "get him better." They hoped that because he was on a higher dose than other children who progressed, that it would work for him. This family knew that non-adherence would mean stopping the trial. All they could do was to work with their child to take the medication, continue the clinical trial and pray.

Parents of patients on clinical trials connected and talked with one another in person or on social media. Many parents reported that they compared notes and talked about how other children were doing. They tried to connect the patients' medication doses with their good or poor responses. They discussed the options their children had tried, other available options, where trials were open, eligibility, and wash out periods. They become savvy in navigating difficult healthcare systems and online informational sites to prepare for the next clinical trial. They developed "game plans" for care and wished that medical providers had explicit "game plans" for progression, even though they understood that their providers may not have a plan since no other options are available.

Improving Conversations and Care

Overall, patients and families believed they were being cared for at a superb institution with both quality care and good communication from healthcare providers. However, some families indicated that if needed they would look elsewhere for second opinions (especially if their insurance company would pay for it), and other potential treatment options.

Though patients and families were mostly satisfied, several had concerns and complaints about communication, especially around sensitive topics. Some patients reported that bad news, such as diagnosis, progression, and end-of-life conversations, were abrupt, were delivered in the wrong place, had the wrong people present, and had too much content. Trying to shield their child from certain knowledge or the word cancer (instead using "the bump," "the owie," or "the spot"), this request may not have always been respected.

Patients and parents wanted medical providers who would be familiar with them. A few parents did not like how the oncology team operated. They did not like the lack of transparency in how a primary oncologist was chosen for them. Some parents indicated that they sometimes wished they could pick their medical providers rather than randomly being assigned to a provider. Most parents did not appreciate seeing different providers at each visit rather than having a consistent oncologist. With the team approach, however, they could see different providers if they did not like their assigned medical provider. All patients and parents appreciated the collective team recommendations.

Treatment Options

Many families feared progression and simultaneously wished that they could do something to prevent progression. For parents of three patients who completed radiation, with or without a study drug during that time period, they anxiously awaited progression. To them it seemed paradoxical that patient progression was needed prior to administration of a cancer directed therapy or another clinical trial enrollment. Rather than hoping that the prior therapy or clinical trial 'worked,' they had mentally moved on to the next idea or therapy plan. This helped them prepare for progression; it would 'soften the blow.' Two mothers recalled being devastated at the first post-treatment MRI that continued to show the tumor. They believed that as symptoms improved the tumor and MRI should have also improved, even to the point of cure. Only after recognizing that the tumors would not go away, could they shift to thinking about the best and worst case scenarios.

Four parents focused on how unfair it is that there are limited treatment options given how far technology and medicine has come. They believed that more research funding would lead to more progress. Two parents in particular became visibly angry when describing the funding disparity for adult and childhood cancer research. They felt progress has been made on adult cancers but none has been made on DIPG. It was important to them to participate in research to further scientific knowledge in addition to the hope that their children would personally benefit.

Influence of Social Media

Many parents found social media, especially Facebook, highly beneficial. Some parents noted that from posting on Facebook, they received free meals, gifts, activities, and fundraising. Several parents posted about their child's wish for a particular gift or experience for a holiday or birthday. Community members would go out of their way to ensure that the milestone event was spectacular. Additionally, nearly all families benefited from Go-Fund-Me pages to aid in medical expenses. Patients and their parents looked to provide mutual or altruistic support of others as well. If parents saw a need in clinic, they would share this with the community and generous donations would be given. Two families were able to initiate large donations to the clinic or to children in hospice.

On Facebook, they were invited to special groups for DIPG or high grade gliomas. They became part of a tight knit international communities whose members experienced similar challenges. One mother said, "To me it helps a lot because people don't know. Like if you're not going through it you don't know." Parents connected with one another and even began praying for one another. Parents shared their ups and downs of the disease process, specific clinical trials, and novel therapies from other countries, especially Mexico.

One mother said that though she reads medical journals and understands them the best that she can as a well-educated non-medical person, she was able to obtain helpful knowledge through Facebook as well. There she could follow patients and their parents through their journeys of compassionate use medications, clinical trials or cancer directed treatments. Several other parents mentioned similar things, citing that people would post pictures, videos, all of the interventions they had tried, in addition to MRI scans and physical updates.

Learning about other people's experiences had benefit both in informing their decision making and providing peace about the care they were providing as parents to their child. One father recounted a mother's account on Facebook and the impact it had on him:

"[She said, 'We didn't leave a stone unturned. We looked at every treatment, went to everything. Said, you know, we spent almost \$ 3 million doing it. She said I can promise you that we'll never think that we didn't do everything, but there's nothing you can do. She was just like in the end, if you live longer because of it, it's just because of the type and the way the tumor's sitting. If you live shorter, nothing slows it down. Nothing stops [death], you know, from happening....And then at the same time people like that post on there, it sounds terrible, but you know, also gives us some comfort that we're not screwing up. You know, I mean, we're sitting over here and we don't have \$3 million...I mean, there's some people that's even worse off than we are, you know, and they're sitting there thinking you know, I've heard them. I've heard people say it. I've seen them say on that page that you know, my kid's going to die because I can't afford to save them. That's not true. These people had \$3 million and tried to do everything, you know, other people do. So—that makes us feel better, because our biggest scare is can we live with ourselves if we don't do something, like if—we're trying to decide on Mexico. Well, if we don't go, are we not going to be able to live with ourselves because we didn't?"

Another mom demonstrated the conflicting thoughts about Mexico (where treatments would be about \$300,000), and the importance of the decisions made for her daughter:

"The reasonable side of me is like, 'no that's a bad idea.' I don't know the language. They don't have the standards we have. They're asking for a boat load of money up front. You know, so all of these are red flags. But then you see the parents and the parents are like, 'my son's using [his legs] and he wasn't using them before. And my daughter's talking. Or, my child doesn't have to have a NG tube anymore'...When we see these other kids who we just here thought that they were promising in what they were doing, you know, the treatment that they were having and then they die. It's hard.... For [our daughter] we have means to do anything. If we don't have the money, we'll get the money... As a parent, knowing that you may have to be without your child one day, you have to be able to live with decisions that you make and know that you did everything you could. And for me, doing everything I can doesn't mean prolonging things for her.... And it's not a criticism to those parents in any way, but some parents have done more than I think I would do to prolong life. Because to me, quality of life, to me, is more important than being physically present... I want her to be here for my whole life, but it's not up to me."

The connection with others through Facebook was seen as a "blessing" but at other times, painful. Many parents followed other parents of children who were dying or had already died from DIPG or HGG. They could not delete "friends" or the group as they became connected to the other children. One mother said:

"It's very hard because we, every day, see kids die that we've connected with their families, or have prayed for. And that's been...really hard, 'cause we grieve [our daughter]. We try not to you know, because she's alive, but we can't help it. We're only human."

Some parents wondered why physicians did not join the groups or know much about the information on the websites. They wished that physicians had an online presence so that physicians could validate the type of information that was on-line and demonstrate care for their child (especially when a child had a particular Facebook page).

Not all parents posted on social media. One mother did not want others to think the specific treatments her child was receiving would work for other children. Some other parents stopped posting due to negative outcomes they experienced. One family posted a Go-Fund-Me page on Facebook. This led to using the word 'cancer' around the child even though the family was trying to protect him from that language as the child was struggling with the cancer related deaths of loved ones and his own mortality. Another mother learned the reality of the prognosis from Facebook:

"I found out how in depth, how bad these babies get. You know, pretty much through the Internet, Facebook and all of that. I mean that's what I wish I didn't know is how bad it's going to get later, you know, if it comes down to that."

Influence of Religion and God

If a family indicated that prior to the diagnosis they practiced a religion or spirituality, that practice supported the family during this difficult time and provided guidance and peace in decision making. Many parents became even more engaged with their religious groups. One mother asked her friends to provide scripture so that she could be surrounded by it all the time. Friends ensured that she had framed scripture to put around the house, especially at the kitchen sink where she does the dishes. She said that helped tremendously.

Many families stated the God influenced their decisions and prayer was important. One mother said:

"We're always asking for guidance, and you know, clarity with what to make. Not—you know, most the time or I guess at that time when we started on that chemo it was kind of like, you know, we just left it in [God's] hand and whatever [He willed] was-you know, it was just going to be."

Prayer was a central focus of nearly all parents. Several parents said they constantly prayed, and "never really said an Amen." Two parents who were agnostic would pray that the cancer never comes back and would pray before a major procedure or MRI as a family that "things be ok." The mother said, "I probably pray once a week. It's more like a mental, uh meditation, I guess. It's more of like putting good energy out there...I say, 'whatever forces are out there, please let her be ok." Many thought that prayers from others were helpful. One mother wanted to ensure that others prayed specifically for a miracle with the belief that you must ask to receive:

"I'm hoping for a miracle. I know that and believe that miracles are real...I mean that's my hope and prayer is for a miracle. If I don't have that and we don't get a miracle then my hope is that she doesn't suffer... And people are always like, 'Well, what can we do?' And I want them to pray for a miracle. I don't want them to just pray that she's home or that she doesn't suffer. I want everybody to pray for a miracle. I put my thoughts down [on Facebook] and make sure that I'm clear with the people who love and care about [her] for what we need for them as far as their prayers go."

However, one mother who believed in God but did not believe in church found it unhelpful when people said that they "would pray for them":

"I feel like I'm just sitting around waiting for death. And there's nothing that anyone can do besides, 'I'm praying for you,' which, eh...I've learned that that's one of my trigger words.... Because to me prayer is begging. Cries. Don't beg for my child. Help me get answers. I'm not looking for a miracle. I'm looking for answers. I'm looking for tangible things that I could do for her while she's here. Even if it's just, 'Hey, I know you guys are not doing anything. I'm coming over just to sit with you.' That's what somebody needs, not prayer. What makes a person's prayer different than mine? [I've got] a one on one relationship. Doesn't make any sense to me. I'm already begging enough because she's mine. So why's my prayer different from yours?.... I'm not praying anymore.... It's hard. I don't get it. Cries. It just makes no sense to me. I don't know—I feel like I did something or karma, or – and I can't think of anything that I've ever did to anybody that's so horrible that I have to lose my child. Cries... I begged God for her. So
what? Prayer doesn't do anything. [She's going to be] taken away... And that's all— And I mean, --And I get how, you know, a lot of people say that, you know, because they don't know what to say but they don't have compassion and sympathy, so you only say, you know, what you've taught, and that's, 'Oh, I'm praying for you,' you know, and especially if you're a Christian or you have that religious background, you know, I'm praying, it's like okay, pray. I don't know what kind of relationship you have with him (God), you know? Laughs. So, I don't know, if I want you praying for me or not. But what people really want is someone to stand next to them, hold their hand, let them cry, especially if you are losing a child or a loved one. A lot of people just want somebody just to be there. I don't like being alone, especially when I'm with her, you know what I mean? Because I can't hold my emotions, you know? And so, if someone was just here with me so I can go and, you know, release a little bit and come back, and sit with me, and laugh, and watch a show, or you know, that would mean the world to me, you know."

A spiritual leader's recommendation was important for about one third of patients and families. Spiritual leaders were pastors or heads of religious groups but could also be vocal community members or friends. One family talked about a teacher who a "big time Christina" and was influential in their family's life. She would support decisions the family was making. She would not only come to the hospital and pray with the family, but she would also be available to other students and their families. Families took their children to healing prayer services with priests.

They also took to heart recommendations religious leaders would preach about. One religious leader showed a video on the connection of food with cancer. Along with that video, the leader preached about the importance of diet and the link to both faith and health. That

sermon took place close to the time of the patient's progression. The patient enrolled in a clinical trial and changed his diet. When asked if they were going to stop one of them, they said, "No, because we don't know which one is working."

Influence of Food

Families had a complex relationship with food. Some believed food was the etiology of their child's cancer, like certain dyes. Others believed it could be an effective cancer treatment, alongside other complementary and alternative medicine options. Families and patients focused on weight gain associated with steroids. Though the steroids helped with symptoms (headache and vomiting), they had other undesirable side effects, like mood swings, acne, elevated blood pressure, and weight gain. Eight patients started restricted or 'healthy' diets to try to lose weight or stop further gain. These diets were often organic, vegetarian, or vegan. Some mothers ensured that their child had "good meals," with no fast food. One mother meticulously prepared meals for her child but forgot to make herself food. If a clinical trial medication required certain food to enhance absorption or if a child would only take a pill with a certain food/drink, families went to great lengths to obtain that specific food/drink.

Life Outlook, Hopes and Fears

Most patients and families had optimistic life outlooks or were "positive realists." If they personally were not optimistic, someone else in the family was. Parents often balanced one another, with one being optimistic and the other being pessimistic or realistic. Many patients and parents embraced the "fight against cancer." Most patients rarely complained and bravely underwent procedures related to clinical trials or cancer directed care.

Similar to a pendulum, patients and families swung from one side to another with hopes for cures, to fears of suffering and death, to focusing on the day at hand. They all hoped for full,

long lives, but also had hopes of making memories, building legacies, and caring for each other. Parents worried about their child dying from the tumor, and how their other children would cope. Parents went to great lengths to learn how to care for siblings. One family moved to a new house so that their dying child would not share a room with a sibling.

<u>Reflections on Participating in this Research Study</u>

Fourteen families (93%) expressed that this study was beneficial to them as they were able to express their feelings in a safe place. They saw value in the study in that it could change how healthcare providers communicate and improve the local healthcare system. They appreciated learning about their decision making processes which often were illustrated within semi-structured interviews. Family members heard from their children what as important to them and what they hoped and feared. Interviews often occurred during clinic downtimes, helping the time pass more quickly; however, if it was late in the day, families were in a rush to leave clinic. Many families were flexible to talk on the phone. No one felt participation was a burden or desired to be removed from the study.

Review of Oncologist Responses

In this study, oncologists acted as gatekeepers to the patients. Oncologists expressed to me that they were stressed from busy days, multiple difficult conversations per day, and other life concerns. If they perceived that a patient or family was overwhelmed, they protected the patient from another research study. Enrolled patients were often early in the disease course, after both diagnosis and discussion of clinical trials. This was secondary to difficulties in coordinating schedules and balancing the levels of patient, family and provider anxiety. Once patients and families enrolled, attempts were to be present at key clinical encounters and medical meetings reviewing patients. Some of the patients had conflicting encounters and were not able

to be audio-recorded. For the forty-one audio-recorded neuro-oncology visits, twenty-five, or 61% had accompanying completed physician questionnaires. Here I will delineate the oncologist responses to the questionnaires, which only represents a portion of information I learned from these physicians. See the below table that delineates the five neuro-oncologist responses in twenty-five questionnaires for fourteen patients (no questionnaire for P9). Several physicians provided more than one answer, so that the total number of response may be greater than twenty-five.

Table 7: Neuro-Oncologist Questionnaire Responses

Neuro-Oncologist Questionnaire Responses, N = 25, n (%)

What is the patient's diagnosis?

DIPG: 16 (64), Progressive DIPG: 1 (4), HGG: 1 (4), GBM: 5 (20), GBM/NF1: 1 (4), GBM, infant, epitheliod: 1 (4)

Do you expect this child to live longer than 6 months?

Yes: 18 (72), No: 7 (28)

Did you offer a Phase I trial?

Yes: 6 (24), Total No: 19 (76); Qualifiers-"Not Yet": 1 (4); Not Eligible: 3 (12): None Available: 1 (4); Progressed & taken off trial: 1 (4): Already on from institution: 8 (32); Already on from outside institution: 1 (4)

Did you offer cancer directed therapy (radiation, chemo-not on trial)?

Yes: 12 (48); radiation 2 (8) re-irradiation: 1 (4), chemo 1 (4); No: 13 (52); Already on: 4 (16); Not option: 1 (4)

Did you offer palliative care?

Yes: 11 (44), Primary palliative care: 1 (4); No: 14 (56); Previously with palliative care & hospice but now withdrawn per family request: 1 (4)

Neuro-Oncologist Questionnaire Responses, Continued N = 25, n (%)

What did you recommend?

Start Clinical Trial: 2 (8); Continue Current Clinical Trial: 8 (32); Continue Current chemo: 2 (8);
Radiation: 1 (4): Re-irradiation: 1 (4); Palliative Chemo/Avastin: 1 (4); Compassionate Oral Chemo: 3 (12); holistic/CAM: 1 (4); Referral to another specialist: 1 (4); Other medication adjustment: 1 (4); Start hospice: 1 (4): continue hospice: 2 (8); Observe: 1 (4)

What option did they pick and why?

None picked yet: 3 (12), Start Clinical Trial for "hope" of prolonged life & QOL: 2 (8), Start Clinical trial with few other options & family signed consent: 1 (4): Continue Clinical Trial with no progression: 3 (12), Continue Clinical Trial because of good response and doing well: 2 (8), Continue current clinical trial because mom is committed to trial: 2 (8), Continue clinical trial because of "hope for a miracle" or "looking for a cure: 2 (8), Enroll in hospice, sign POLST, and consent for autopsy because "mother wanted hospice and made clear her decisions": 1 (4), Compassionate use drug and palliative care/hospice to maintin current quality of life as long as possible: 1 (4); Compassionate use drug because "there's nothing to lose": 1 (4), Continue Comassionate use drug because it is working: 1 (4), Treat with radiation to help with symptoms: 1 (4), Standard treatment with radiation and chemotherapy: 2 (8), Standard treatment with radiation: 1 (4), Continue observation post clinical trial as patient is not eligible for another clinical trial and no other clinical trial is available: 1 (4)

Who do you think is the primary decision maker in their family?

Mom: 17 (68), Dad: 5 (20), Both Parents: 2 (8), Patient: 1 (4)

Who do you think influenced these decisions the most?

Mom: 10 (40), Mom's own background, beliefs, and core values: 1 (4), Mom's education: 1 (4), Dad: 5(20), Parents: 1 (4), Other family member: 1 (4), Friend: 1 (4), Oncologist: 3 (12), Patient: 1 (4)

What do you think is the best outcome? Why?

Prolonged stabilization, progression free survival: 12 (48), Longer Quality of Life: 10 (40),
Supportive care to alleviate suffering: 1 (4), Symptoms: 4 (16), Clinical improvement to baseline: 1 (4) Quick tumor progression to lessen suffering: 1 (4), Cure: 1 (4), Patient has a specific experience: 3 (12), Wean patient off steroids: 1 (4)

What do you think is the worst outcome? Why?

Rapid Decline/early death: 13 (52), Worsening quality of life: 12 (48), Severe side effects of medication: 2 (8), Severe symptoms: 2 (8), Family won't accept anything other than cure: 1 (4), Prolonged suffering: 1 (4)

Neuro-Oncologist Questionnaire Responses, Continued N = 25, n (%)

Do you try to preserve hope? If so, how?

Offer/Discuss Clinical Trial Participation: 11 (44), Research: 1 (4), Waiting on Test Results: 1 (4), Emphasizing unclear course: 2 (8), Listen and support family: 1 (4),Talk about 'Rare Responders'/Positive Outcomes: 3 (12), Relay Hopes of Medical team: 2 (8), Concentrate on Child's Acheivements/Positives: 2 (8), Not asnwered: 2 (8)

What are your fears for the patient? For the family?

Rapid Deterioration/death: 5 (20), Short Progression Free Survival: 9 (36), Poor Quality of Life 3 (12), Go to Mexico: 1 (4), Family losing child: 2 (8), Tumor recurrence: 1 (4), Secondary Malignancy: 1 (4), Worsening depression: 1 (4), Patient failing school: 1 (4), Placement of VP shunt: 1 (4), Family seeing child suffer: 1 (4)

What are your hopes for the patient? For the family?

Long Progression Free Survival: , Good Quality of Life: 10 (40), Durable response to treatment: 1 (4), End-of-Life symptoms controlled: 1 (4), Peaceful death: 1 (4), Go to school: 1 (4), Good holiday: 2 (8)

Would you call yourself an optimist, a realist, or a pessimist?

Optimist: 1 (4), Optimist/Realist: 1 (4), Realist: 14 (56), Pessimist: 9 (36)

If you could re-do the conversation, what would you do differently? If so, how would you change it?

No: 18 (60), Not Much: 2 (8), Don't Know: 1 (4), Would Make Change: 4 (16).

Examples of changes: "I would provide better guidance of what to tell child about current condition, death, and dying." "I would keep personal recommendations out of the conversation." "I would have involved the father more." "I would not tease the patient about his belt buckle."

How could we improve training for physicians to have difficult conversations like the one you had with patients and/or families?

Observation: 10 (40), Classes/Seminars/Videos: 5 (10), Experience/Practice: 10 (40)

Most oncologists recommended phase I clinical trial participation early in the disease course. If a patient was doing well and had no evidence of progression on a clinical trial, no other options were discussed. If a patient progressed, palliative care emphasized. Some made recommendations based on the patient's and/or family's goals. One oncologist recommended steroid-sparing palliative chemotherapy (Avastin), holistic prescriptions, and cannabis oil. Physicians sometimes made recommendations for medications to manage symptoms, equipment, or referral to other specialists. Some discussed cancer directed options like re-irradiation for symptom control and improvement of quality of life, but rather would recommend hospice enrollment.

Oncologists perceived that decisions were made by mothers (68%), fathers (20%), both parents (8%) and the patient (4%). These decision makers seemed to be influenced by parents and family members (68%), patients (4%), friends (4%), (28%), physician recommendation (12%), their own educational background, beliefs, faith and core values (8%).

Oncologists believed that families chose clinical trial participation because it "offers hope for a miracle," there were "few other options," "it will increase [the patient's] chance of survival," "prolong [the patient's] survival," or even the family was "still looking for a cure." Parents would be "committed to the clinical trial." Oncologists perceived that families chose comfort focused options after tumor progression or were burdened by symptoms. In some cases, oncologists thought that parents picked compassionate use drugs and palliative care to <u>maintain¹</u> current quality of life for as long as possible or because they had "nothing to lose."

¹ All emphasis of underlining or bold font within quotations is original to the physician informants.

Physicians perceived that parents chose the patient and family's preferred treatment plan; however, parents comments did not always align with this. For example, one physician remarked, "They wanted hospice. Mother signed POLST form and then consent for autopsy. Mother had made her decisions and was clear on what are the important things for her." Though the oncologist had just met the family and did not have a goals of care discussion with the family, the oncologist felt that the mother's goal of care was based on "quality of life" and influenced by the poor prognosis. However, these statements did not align with the family's comments. The family perceived that communication was abrupt and unexpected. Instead of taking the oncologist's recommendation to enroll in hospice alone, the family chose reirradiation, another clinical trial, and compassionate drug use along with hospice enrollment.

One physician who "offered palliative care" to three patients never actively consulted the specialty palliative care team through supportive care clinic and only twice referenced potential hospice enrollment. Possibly, this physician mean offering primary palliative care. Some patients were never offered palliative care during recorded study visits, likely due in part to the "good performance status" of the, patients. One patient who had specialty palliative care consultation and hospice enrollment, was later removed from hospice due to clinical improvement and parental request.

The best outcomes identified by oncologists focused on quality of life, symptom control, tumor control, and quantity of life. Only one physician mentioned <u>cure</u>, and qualified this statement by stating, "a small % are cured and although this should have relapsed by now there is no indication of tumor 1.5 [years] from diagnosis." Other best outcomes included: prolonged stabilization, clinical improvement back to baseline, prolonging a good quality of life without suffering, maintaining interaction with others for as long as possible, and overall survival beyond

two years since diagnosis. Occasionally specific outcomes were listed for specific patients. An example of a specific outcome was for a patient to walk independently, play, and run with siblings again. Weaning steroids off steroids was considered a best outcome, especially if neurological symptoms, such as hemiparesis also improved. If children's disease had progressed, oncologists believed the best outcomes would be for "amelioration of symptoms, supportive care to alleviate suffering, quick tumor progression to lessen suffering."

The worst outcomes identified by oncologists were: rapid decline, severe side effects of disease, a trial that did not add benefit and led to added side effects, disease progression less than one year since diagnosis or shortly after radiation (the "expected" course), or tumor recurrence. If there was disease progression, oncologists believed the worst outcome would be prolonged suffering and death within 3 months. Oncologists worried that a "family [would] not accept anything other than [a] cure," a family would choose "aggressive interventions at the end-of-life," or that a compassionate use drug could hasten death from a "catastrophic side effect... (low likelihood but possible)."

Oncologists hoped for the following for their patients: prolonged quality of life, prolonged life, preserved <u>good</u> quality of life, prolonged progression free survival, survival greater than two years from diagnosis, and that patients live without pain or fear for as long as possible. They also hoped that the clinical trial medication would provide the opposite of "early death." Hopes were framed against uncertainty:

"I hope that parents and siblings enjoy quality time with the patient since there is uncertainty on how long the response is going to last. My hope is that the patient continues to improve clinically and that this is a durable response with this new regimen." In response to another patient who was doing favorably, the physician said, "at <u>this</u> particular juncture we are cautiously optimistic." Some oncologists framed their hopes in relation to the family's goals of care or with patient's goals. For instance, one oncologist hoped that a patient would have his wish of an enjoyable holiday. If a patient's disease progressed, oncologists hoped for quick tumor progression and minimal suffering, which they believed to be the family's hope as well. They also hoped that at the end-of-life, symptoms would be well controlled, and that the patients would die peacefully. Oncologists also hoped that patients would avoid prolonged suffering, poor quality of life, and loss of interaction with others; they hoped that families would avoid "losing their child and seeing their child suffer."

Oncologists feared the patient's deterioration and death (20%), family's coping with death (8%), poor quality of life 12%), short progression free survival (36%). They feared that patients would die around the holidays (8%). They also feared tumor recurrence due to the "inability to cure if recurs" and even secondary malignancy. One oncologist feared survival would be less than anticipated but balanced that with hopeful knowledge that the patient "has already beaten those odds." Oncologists feared the medications would have no effect. If a patient seemed to have a response to therapy, physicians feared the patient would later stop responding. Some oncologists feared the family would lose hope if the patient deteriorated or that patients would have worsening depression and anhedonia or fail school. Oncologists feared that patients and family members would pursue aggressive treatments, such as VP shunt placement. At disease progression, physicians feared patients would have slow and painful deterioration. They feared the patient would get "sicker," have decreased quality of life as a result of a new drug and lose ability to interact with others.

Physicians believed that they preserved hope through offering participation in clinical trials, noting "we are learning new things every day so prolonged life could offer [an] opportunity to [try the] next trial/new drug prescription." They told parents that other options were available if progression occurred, and that molecular testing would provide more information about the outcome. Some believed that "New trial \rightarrow hope." Oncologists stated they preserved hope "until [the patient] is no longer eligible for trials."

Some oncologists felt they preserved hope by focusing on an uncertain prognosis and toxicity profile. Others focused on the positive achievements of the patients to preserve hope. They encouraged parents to work with their children and to concentrate on one day at a time. Still others said they preserved hope by sharing with the patient and family their mutual hopes.

Twice oncologists did not answer the question of "did you preserve hope and if so, how?" when a patient had disease progression. Another physician challenged the question: "Before we preserve hope, the question is what is hope? Hope for what???? Once you clarify this, then you can take the next step." Only one oncologist stated hope preservation was through "listen[ing] and support[ing] the patient and family."

One physician engaged in shared decision making regularly. This physician was willing to work with families in managing treatment options that were based on limited, existing evidence. For one particular patient, that physician hoped that "we have 'stumbled' upon a treatable form of GBM, even though the particular type of GBM was described as being very aggressive. This oncologist worked with the family in facilitating proton radiation at another institution and negotiating the non-standard chemotherapy. The child tolerated the therapy well and has continued to surprise the medical team. When oncologists were asked what they would do differently, some oncologists interpreted the question of changing the conversation to mean changing the treatment course. One physician commented, "I would not change it. So far have been lucky in having prolonged quality of life without disease longer than expected." Sixty percent of the time, oncologists would make no changes to the conversation. When stating that they would not change or re-do the difficult conversation, they sometimes commented that they presented the "reality of diagnosis/prognosis," offered hope through a clinical trial, needed to hope for the best, and offered palliative/supportive care. When news was good, conversations were not difficult and there was nothing to change.

An oncologist reported wanting to involve other family members in the conversations more. Another would not have teased a patient. A different oncologist would have provided "better guidance [for the family on] what to tell [the] <u>child</u> about [her] current condition, death and dying," and questioned giving "my 'personal recommendation,' [but] I think [the] family understood what I meant so [I] likely [would] not change much."

Almost all oncologists lacked formal training on informed consent or end-of-life discussions. One acknowledged the importance of training: "Some physicians are shy and avoid exposure to those difficult conversations during training, then when they have to do it as attendings, you can see how this part is weak." Oncologists had many suggestions on how to improve training for fellows, junior and senior faculty, most of which followed the paradigm of 'see one, do one, teach one.' Time was needed to listen and observe other expert providers, like palliative care specialists or senior faculty having "upfront conversations" (diagnosis), and discussions around decision making for treatment." They preferred observing multiple <u>different</u> **experts** in both real and simulated patient conversations. Oncologists were open to being

observed, supervised and directed by experienced providers discussing their strengths and weaknesses both one-on-one and in groups. Several oncologists emphasized "experience, experience, experience," "practice!" and being the "person delivering the bad news, not only the person sitting in the room listening." One oncologist mentioned personal reflection on experiences as well.

A few oncologists mentioned watching videos, attending classes, conferences, or seminars on difficult conversations was mentioned by a few physicians. The curriculum should include what is helpful and unhelpful when conducting a difficult conversation and should occur after some real-life experience with difficult conversations. Importantly, one oncologist emphasized that these difficult conversations are not just one conversation; they occur over a series of encounters and additional work is needed to thread the conversations together.

Review of Palliative Care Responses

The two palliative care specialists provided greater detail in their responses to questions in a total of five completed questionnaires. They framed their answers with the patient's specific situation and goals. They provided narrative and contextual explanatory answers.
 Table 8: Palliative Care Questionnaire Responses

Palliative Care Questionnaire Responses, N = 5, n (%)

What options for care did you discuss with the child and/or family?

•Hospice care: 1 (20), Symptom management (pain control, nutrition, consitpation, fevers): 1 (20), Rehabilitation: 1 (20), Chemotherapy: 1 (20), Phase I study enrollment: 1 (20), Advance Directive: 1 (20), End-of-Life: plan who is present, memory making: 1 (20), NG tube: 1 (20), Post-death options: bathing patient, being with patient as long as desired, autopsy: 1 (20)

Did you discuss hospice?

•Yes: 4 (80), No: 1 (20)

• "No (or not yet I should say). At that time, it was not consistent with the goals. In addition, as he was making the decision to enroll on a Phase I trial, and would continue to need to have frequent visits/ adhere to the rules of the trial, it did not seem like it would be a good fit. "

What did you recommend?

Focus on comfort: 1 (20), Focus on good quality of life on clnical trial (school, friends, decrease steroids): 1 (20), Family permission for respite: 1 (20), Think about hospice: 1 (20), NG tube trialstop if does not lead to improvement: 1 (20), DNR/DNI put on chart: 1 (20), Hospice would have been recommended if it was not in place or was a realistic possibility: 2 (40)

What option did they pick and why?

•Natural death without attempts at resuscitation with comfort focused goals and desired "peaceful" death: 1 (20), Remained in the hospital for death because not able to be "safely" discharged: 1 (20), NG attempted but immediately removed due to patient discomfort: 1 (20), DNR/DNI put on chart: 1(20), no decision made yet about hospice: 1 (20)

Who do you think is the primary decision maker in their family?

•Mom: 3 (60), Patient with mom: 2 (30)

•"In this family, the mother was the primary decision maker. P5's father was also involved and participated in decision making, but the mother was the primary driver. I think dad harbored a lot of guilt over not having been a better father to her and was trying to make up for lost time."

• "P9 is legally the primary decision maker, although he makes decisions in conjunction with his mother. He wishes to bypass his father as a primary decision maker. On his advanced directive he intends to completed to be his mother, followed by his sister, followed by his grandmother. This will supersede the state order which would be mother/father, followed by sister."

•"His mother, but with very strong influence by his grandmother."

What do you think is the best outcome? Why?

Comfort until death: 4 (80), Enroll in clinical trial: 1 (20)

- •"I think the best outcome for a child with a well-known terminal brain tumor is a comfortable, happy life until they die, also peace for the family that maintaining as normal a life as possible despite disease is the best way to "fight" for their child."
- "The best outcome here was that we allowed her to be comfortable, loved, and cared for until she died peacefully. It was also "good" that she didn't have attempts at resuscitation as this would not have been successful due to her underlying condition and only would have caused additional pain and suffering (which her parents were trying to prevent). They had a ton of family and friends around who came to be with her and this was also a good outcome."
- "The best outcome for P9 would be that he gets what he wants. I think this means that he gets discharged from the hospital, get some of his strength back, does not feel a burden to his family, spends more time at home, and eventually dies with hospice (or in the hospital if desired) but in a comfortable manner with focus on pain relief and being peaceful. "
- "At that time, the best outcome was for him to enroll on the trial, have some benefit that would allow him to wean steroids so that he can have less steroid s/e and get back to seeing friends, wearing his clothes, and going to school."

What do you think is the worst outcome? Why?

Suffer: 2 (40), Die in the ICU: 2 (40), Long term life support: 1 (20), Increase steroids: 1 (20)

- •"I think the worst outcome is for a child and family to suffer needlessly with false hopes and magical thinking that aggressive chemotherapy will make their child "the one to survive"
- •"Some people might say that the worst outcome here was that she died. But I believe that that was her only outcome and our job was to usher her there peacefully. If she had died in the ICU getting coded, that would have been a poor outcome since it would be contrary to her family's wishes."
- "The worst outcome is hard to define, because are not sure he has defined it for himself. I think that ending up in the ICU, on a ventilator, or long-term life support would not be what he wishes for himself. It is definitely not what his mother would want."
- •The worst outcome for him would be progression that entailed going up on steroids. The worst outcome for the mom/grandmother (I believe, it's a bit of a presumption based on what they told me) would be to watch him suffer greatly and then still have him die "

Do you try to preserve hope? If so, how?

- •Yes: 5 (100); Focus on patient/family's hopes: 3 (60), Intensive symptom management: 1 (20), Give examples of hopes that provider or other people have in similar circumstances: 1 (20)
- •"You can always hope. To the last breath, even beyond that. You often have to help the family shift what they are hoping for. With P5 we hoped for good time with her siblings and a comfortable death. Mom hoped for her legacy."
- "His mom noted that she has many hopes for him including cure, growing up, graduating, going to college, and getting married. She wishes that he could spend more time being a "normal teenager". We validated that it is okay to still hope for those things."
- •"In this setting (at the EOL), there is still hope for peace, forgiveness, time together, time and courage to say goodbye, for her comfort/ to not suffer, and to transition peacefully to death. Here, there was hope preserved in the form of a limited research autopsy that this would help other children in the future."

What are your fears for the patient? For the family?

- None: 2 (40), Patient has less time than perceived: 1 (20), Progressive symptoms: 1 (20), Patient to feel like being a burden: 1 (20), Missing patient's voice: 1 (20)
- "My only fear when patients come in for EOL care is that it won't end up being as peaceful as they would like. Death is never as pretty as one hopes, and we try to do a good job preparing them for what it will look like, how the body will change, what we will do to manage symptoms vs what is not 'fixable' at this point. My fear for the family during death is their ability to cope, to grieve openly, and how they will enter bereavement. The moment of death and that experience does factor in to hope people grieve. "
- •"My fears that P9 has much less time than we think he does. I worry that his oncologist may not have the same estimation of his prognosis that we (palliative care and rehab) do. I worry that he will only become more and more symptomatic, and lose the ability to the use his arm. If he can no longer type, or communicate for himself, or help with his care is in some way, I feel this will only add to his feeling of being a burden. I worry that P9 will continue to be externally worried about his

What are your hopes for the patient? For the family?

•Peace, coping and a healthy bereavement: 3 (60), Patint regains self-confidence to enjoy life, spend time with friends and go to school: 1 (20), Better symptom control: 1 (20), Better disease control with palliative chemotherapy: 1 (20), Better understanding of wishes before not able to communicate: 1 (20), Discharge from hospital: 1 (20)

Would you call yourself an optimist, a realist, or a pessimist?

•Staunch realist: 2 (40), Realist: 3 (60)

If you could re-do the conversation, what would you do differently? If so, how would you change it?

- •No change: 1 (20), Earlier timing (in disease course) of conversations: 2 (40), Have more time with patient/family: 1 (20), Ask if friends/family should step out or if it was okay to speak in front of them: 1 (20), Ask mother if she would like to participate: 1 (20)
- •"I wouldn't change anything. We covered a lot of ground in terms of his symptoms, goals of care, code status. advanced directive and decision making. and hospice. This was to his primary team."

How could we improve training for physicians to have difficult conversations like the one you had with patients and/or families?

- •Setting a framework for establishing a trusting relationship: 2 (40), Practice with an expert available (simulation lab, role play): 2 (40), Didactics: 1 (20), Rotation with palliative care: 1 (20)
- •"It is important for physicians to not walk into difficult conversations with a presumption they will "check a box" by the end, what I mean is that they shouldn't see it as a failure if they walk away without "the DNR", acceptance of hospice, acceptance of disease etc. It is about setting the framework for establishing a trusting relationship, partnership if you will, to walk this difficult journey with the parents and children going through it."
- "They need to realize that these conversations don't just go wonderfully because people are innately good at this, or just born with that skill. It comes with practice: in a sim lab, in role play, with a palliative care clinician. Ideally, they should watch themselves on video and see how it feels to them/ see if they can follow the conversation, the logic, the jargon, etc. They need communication training, ways to have better conversations. They could even call a palliative care team member to help "prep the conversation."
- "This needs to be integrated throughout medical education, starting at the medical school level and extending through the attending level."

In describing patient and family understanding about diagnosis or prognosis, palliative care specialists relayed the multiple, often competing opinions of several family members. For one family, an aunt only wanted to hear the positive, so she stepped out of the room when prognosis was discussed. Another patient and his mother knew that "he was dying from the day of diagnosis…he was lucky to have time between then and the time of his death [as] no day was a given;" however, "until a few days before his death, Dad was reluctant to admit that [his son] was at the end of his life. He felt that everyone was too gloomy and negative. He was convinced that his son would turn around." Their family dynamic was such that the father was not a strong presence in decision making, and thus, was "an afterthought." As the mother knew the disease was fatal, she already had a burial plot for her son. Here, the family dynamics influenced the tensions of maintaining hope, remaining positive and accepting reality of a terminal illness.

Palliative care met the patient, mother and father where they were. This patient and family pursued cancer directed therapy and intensive supportive care until his death. Palliative chemotherapy was a "last ditch option," that the patient wanted to continue. At the same time, he discussed his advance directive and end-of-life preferences. He was open to hospice but was reluctant due to prior experiences with home health services which lacked nursing continuity. He was reassured that in hospice, he would have a primary care nurse.

Options of care and recommendations depended on the patient's situation. If hospice was a service that the palliative care providers thought the patient and family could benefit from, then they would discuss it when the patient and family were ready. One family requested to enroll in hospice "before they really needed it." They had decided not to put their daughter through aggressive interventions. However, as the child neared death, her safety and comfort were the main focus. Palliative care focused on symptom management (pain control, fluid/nutrition status, constipation, fevers), presence of family, memory making, post-death care (bathing the child, being with the child for as long as desired) and confirmed the family's desire for an autopsy. The palliative care providers gave parents the permission to "just be the parents" and love their child and allow the healthcare providers to be the "nurse." The family's goals were clear: comfort care and natural death without attempts at resuscitation. Those goals were met by healthcare providers and was thus the best outcome. Other good outcomes were 1) having family present, 2) relieving the father of guild over not being more involved, and 3) completing a limited research autopsy which may help other children in the future (as per the family's desires). The palliative care provider notes that some people would say "the worst outcome here was that she died. But I believe that was her only outcome and our job was to usher her there peacefully. If she had died in the ICU getting coded, that would have been a poor outcome since it would [have been] contrary to her family's wishes."

Palliative care recommendations did not undermine the oncologist recommendations, but rather attempted to support the patient and family. However, palliative care specialists did have some underlying suppositions that differed from the oncologists. For instance, one palliative care specialist framed best and worst outcomes based on the nature of the problem:

"I think the best outcome for a child with a well-known terminal brain tumor is a comfortable, happy life until they die, also peace for the family that maintaining as normal a life as possible despite disease is the best way to 'fight,' for their child. I think the worst outcome is for a child and family to suffer needlessly with false hopes and magical thinking that aggressive chemotherapy will make their child 'the one to survive.' Compared to oncologists, palliative care specialists better estimated when a patient would

die. For one patient that was told days before that she would have weeks to live, the palliative

care specialists prognosticated it would be days to maximum of weeks. Yet, palliative care specialists supported the patients' and families' goals and hopes. One patient was enrolled on a clinical trial with strong family support. While the patient initially seemed ambivalent about enrolling in the trial, he later expressed that he hoped it would help him achieve a goal of graduating. Thus, the palliative care specialist focused on achieving good quality of life on the clinical trial: "focusing on school, friends, decreasing steroids (per his wish as he hates the side effects of acne and weight gain), and giving his family permission to take breaks and have respite time." Thus, the palliative care specialist assessed that the best outcome for that patient would be weaning steroids, so that he could have "less side effects, get back to seeing friends, wearing his clothes, and going to school." The worst outcome for the patient would be "progression that entailed going up on the steroids" while for the family members would be "watching him suffer greatly and then still [having] him die." "Best and worst outcomes" were framed by palliative care specialists around the desires of patients and families, noting the best outcome would be that the patient "gets what he wants," and the worst outcomes as those the patient and family do not want.

Preserving hope is a critical part of palliative care. In fact, two palliative care providers wrote very similar responses: 1) "There is always something to hope for. Though hopes may change over time, there is always hope," 2) "You can always hope. To the last breath, even beyond that. You often have to help the family shift what they are hoping for." Palliative care specialists learned what the patient and family's hopes were and then validated that it was okay to still hope for those things. Preserving hope, for some patients, meant focusing intensely on symptom management to maintain hope that symptoms can be managed. In study responses, palliative care specialists referenced the hopes of patients and family members. One mother's

hopes for her child were cure, growing up, graduating high school, going to college, and getting married. She also wished that her son could "spend more time being a 'normal teenager.' Another mother hoped for her daughter to have a legacy.

Questionnaire responses revealed that the patient and family hopes of palliative care specialists mirrored the hopes of the patient and family. Hopes for the patients included: regaining self-confidence to enjoy life, comfort, independence for as long as possible, peace, being home, controlled symptoms, achieve good disease control with cancer directed therapy, rehabilitate with an understanding of unlikely return to baseline, good time with siblings, forgiveness, time together, courage to say goodbye, and to transition peacefully to death. Hopes for family members included peace, healthy coping, and a good bereavement outcome.

Fears of the palliative care specialist were also patient and family centered. One provider's fear at the patient's end-of-life was that dying would not

"end up being as peaceful as [the family] would like. Death is never as pretty as one hopes, and we try to do a good job preparing them for what it will look like, how the body will change, what we will do to manage symptoms, and what is not 'fixable' at this point. My fear for the family during death is their ability to cope, to grieve openly, and how they will enter bereavement. The moment of death and that experience does factor into how people grieve."

Another palliative care provider worried that a patient's voice was being lost by not having separate conversations with medical providers, observing that, "he seems to be protecting his mother, and she is doing the same for him." Another patient stated that his biggest worries were for "his comfort and his mom's ability to 'survive' without him. He wanted her to be okay. When he was convinced she would be okay, then it would be his time." While the patient was hoping for his mother to demonstrate that she would be oaky in her bereavement, the mother hoped her son would have "peace and happiness in heaven."

Palliative care specialists tried to go "at the pace of the family." When reflecting on redoing a conversation, one palliative care specialist would have liked more time with the patient and family. In the out-patient setting, palliative care providers see the patients after a busy clinic visit with the oncologist, obtaining study labs, reviewing the study drug diary, checking the number of study drug pills in a bottle and dispensing new medication. In the in-patient setting, timing was centered on having important conversations with the patient earlier, when he was better able to communicate for himself. One palliative care specialist would have asked if the parents wanted other family members to step out during the conversations or whether it was okay to speak in front of them (though the family's demeanor seemed to support the latter). At the end-of-life, a palliative care provider would have inquired if a parent wanted to help remove the medical equipment post-mortem.

Insights palliative care providers gave on improving training for physicians in difficult conversations were:

Provider 1: "It is important for physicians to not walk into difficult conversations with a presumption they will 'check a box' by the end, what I mean is that they shouldn't see it as a failure if they walk away without 'the DNR,' acceptance of hospice, acceptance of disease, etc. It is about setting the framework for establishing a trusting relationship, partnership if you will, to walk this difficult journey with the parents and children going through it."

Provider 2: "People need a framework. Then, they need to realize that these conversations don't just go wonderfully because people are innately good at this, or just

born with that skill. It comes with practice: in a [simulation] lab, in role play, and with a palliative care clinician. Ideally, they should watch themselves on video, see how it feels to them, and if they can follow the conversation, the logic, the jargon, etc. They need communication in [post-graduate] training, [including] ways to have better conversations. [Oncologists] could even call a palliative care team member to help '[prepare for] the conversation."

Another provider mentioned the integration of didactics and simulations throughout medical education, starting at the medical school level and extending through attending level. Palliative care rotations were encouraged, especially to learn how to structure a goals of care conversation.

Figure 11: Comparison of Oncology and Palliative Care Responses on Hope

Oncologists and Hope

Hopes: Prolonged QOL, minimal suffering, medication provides benefit, minimal harm, prolongs survival, and meets goals of patients/families
 Hope Preservation: Offer potential therapeutic options, especially clinical trials, share hopes with family, focus on

the positive or one day at a time, listen and support family

Palliative Care Specialists and Hope

Hopes: "Live as well as possible for as long as possible,"
"Family Centered," such as peace, comfort, independence,
healthy coping and bereavement
Hope Preservation: There is always hope. It can change
over time. Assess what patients/family's desire, relay
what is reasonable, and aggressively pursue those

reasonable desires.



Figure 12: Summary of Communication Training Recommendations

Limitations and Considerations

This is a qualitative study based on a small sample size of patients at a large academic medical institution. Selection bias exists in several ways. Patients presenting for a "second opinion only," who were not followed at the Aflac Cancer and Blood Disorders Center at Children's Healthcare of Atlanta were not approached for study. Patients came specifically for clinical trial participation; thus, patients interested in comfort care approaches could be underrepresented. Non-English-speaking patients and those in state custody are not represented but are vital in learning how to better support decision making and effective communication. As many patients or parents answered questions weeks, months, or years from initial diagnosis or specific decisions, recall bias is expected. The triangulation of interview data with chart and physician accounts may help in alleviating some of this bias.

Not all eligible pediatric patients (by age) were interviewed due to available time or parents not wanting their child to participate. Patient participation was lower than anticipated. The number of participating physicians was also small and exacerbates selection bias. As some physicians completed questionnaires in a delayed rather than immediate fashion, recall bias is again possible. Significant missing physician data resulted from incomplete questionnaires and demographic sheets.

The longitudinal nature of the study led to difficulties obtaining data continuously. Some important conversations were not captured in this study as they were not anticipated or a recorder/investigator was not available. Specifically, the audio-recorder and the back-up recorder did not work for four clinic visits and two interviews. Field notes were taken at three of the clinic visits and both interviews.

Although plans were made to follow patients and families starting at diagnosis, patients were captured at different stages of disease course and not followed from beginning until end. Two patients were lost to follow up or withdrawn if transitioning to other centers for care.

Summary of Results

Patient and family decisions in the setting of HGGs are multi-factorial, ultimately reflecting the competing values of decision makers. While patients, families and physicians all hoped for treatment efficacy, they balanced it with the known poor prognosis. Though data is limited, patients and families demonstrated the knowledge that investigational agents would not be therapeutic or curative, though they hoped they would be. Physician investigators would also have hopes of investigational agents working but would balance those hopes with the known prognosis as well. Thus, therapeutic misconception, misestimation and optimism are likely not present when taking into account dispositional optimism, hopes, worries, and understanding. Optimism about treatment is held in tension with poor prognosis, allowing for patients and families to have hope that is functional. This 'functional hope' is an unfulfilled desire (realistic or unrealistic in achievability) that allows a person to proceed with daily life despite difficult circumstances. Hoping for a cure is not necessarily a false hope, rather a hope that allows a patient or parent to face the day and all of its difficulties. Functional hope allows for hopes to shift or swing over time per the needs of the moment. Oncologists too can have functional hope in that they are not paralyzed by the deaths of children but continue to press on in caring for patients and seeking out potential treatments through research.

Physicians did not cause patients or families to lose hope. On the contrary, patients and families had many hopes which may or may not have aligned with their medical providers. Physicians consistently hoped for patients to live as long as possible as well as possible. Patients and families transitioned more slowly to this hope from hope for a cure. Hopes shifted at different times for each person. Acknowledging shifting hopes of patients and families could improve communication about goals of care and shared decision making.

Patients, families and physicians agreed that communication and decision making are important. Training physicians in communication skills and shared decision making is desired in experiential and didactic education and evaluation.

Chapter 4: Difficult and Distressing Decisions for Care

Decisions to Make

Decisions, decisions, decisions. There are many decisions to make when a child has a HGG. Medical providers decide the breadth of options for patients by obtaining information and collaborating with specialists. Options generally include surgery, radiation, chemotherapy, and/or immunotherapy. A patient could eligible for clinical trials or compassionate use drugs. Patients and families make a decision based on their preferences and values. Some may choose intensive phase I trials, while others choose a comfort-focused approach. With a life-changing diagnosis, the patient and family have to make many other life changes, like changing jobs, finances, and schedules. Many people have opinions about what decisions could and should be made, who should make the decisions, and what influences those decisions? Information from parent and patient responses will be used to answer some of these questions empirically.

Decisional Priority

In the setting of paternalistic medicine, physicians have decisional priority and authority. In the setting of patient and family centered medicine, patients and families have decisional priority and authority. Where is the balance? Shared decision making occurs when there is a collaboration among physicians, patients and families to come to a decision regarding care. Families bring their knowledge of their child and values. Physicians bring their medical expertise.

Whitney et al. described a decision making model in pediatric oncology that utilized consequential rationale, whereby decisional authority and priority could shift from physicians to families based on whether one best option, probability of cure, existed. (Whitney et al. 2006) In this model, if cure exists and only one option of care is available, physicians should have decisional priority and authority. If there is no cure and multiple options for care exist, patients

and families had decisional priority and authority. This model's main limitation is that the patient and family are treated as a unit, rather than distinct decision makers. (Andre 2006)

With children having evolving autonomy and capacity, they also have evolving roles in decision making ethically, but not legally. For physicians, there is a tender balance in respecting the autonomy of the parents and the evolving autonomy of the child. Some argue that only the autonomy of the parents should be respected, as they are the legal, surrogate decision makers. Others would state that the child's desires should be respected as capacity develops, giving more respect to a mature adolescent than a young preschooler. Still, others state that it is the child's body and the child's life, so only their desires really matter. There are extremes on this ethical spectrum of decisional priority, ranging from giving all of the priority to the parents to all of the priority to the patient.



Figure 13: Representation of the Patient/Parent Priority Spectrum

Parents did not always agree on the care of a child, especially at the end-of-life. For three patients, mothers were all physically with their children day in and day out. Their fathers were less frequently around. Mothers would desire a more comfort focused approach, but fathers would still be requesting significant interventions be done, such as VP shunt placement or to continue a full code status. This caused distress for the patient and medical team until conflicts

were resolved. The VP shunt was not placed for one patient. Two other patients had DNAR orders placed and at the time of death, fathers did not insist on chest compressions or invasive procedures.

When two divorced parents disagree about the care of the child, is a physician obligated to prioritize the court's ruling about the decision maker? If parents are not divorced, who is the primary decision maker? It likely depends on the family unit's architecture. Some parents work as a team in co-parenting. Others still take leads on certain types of decisions. This consideration did not arise in clinic visits as either the primary decision maker attended the clinic visits or the divorced parents worked together as a team.

One couple was getting a divorce when their child was diagnosed with DIPG. They decided to live together, go on vacations together and attend clinic visits together for her sake. A point of contention was how to answer the child if she asked if she was dying. The oncologist did not have a straightforward answer for a precocious school age child and deferred to palliative care specialists, but ultimately recommended to "let the child lead." The mother was worried about this method but agreed that she wanted to be honest with her child. The father, on the other hand, did not ever want his daughter to be told that she was going to die. He was willing to say that "We are all going to die" or that the treatments were not working and that they were looking for others.

There are some important, practical considerations when ethically determining who has decisional priority, even if the decisional authority is legally prescribed. First, parents (and some patients) like shared decision making. (Mack, Cronin, and Kang 2016) This does not necessarily have to be 50% physician and 50% family. It could be 90% physician and 10%

family or vice versa. Families like to have honest answers, know the potential care possibilities, and be involved participants in the decision making process. (Mack, Cronin, and Kang 2016)

Second, the involvement of the child depends on many factors, with cognitive capacity being the most important one. Infants will not be included *a priori*. No infants were involved in this study, but one child was diagnosed with GBM as an infant and clearly was not involved in the decision making. Another patient had severe developmental delay and was non-verbal. This patient was also not included in decision making.

For preschoolers, some information may be shared, but their ability to weigh in on complex decisions is insignificant. A three-year-old boy could weigh in on preferences for food, games, and participation in the physical exam, but parents dictated what food he received, when his schedule (when nap time would be), and availability of a game. If he would not pay attention, a game would be taken away. He would be rewarded if he did well in participating. He may see his MRI with parents, but the meaning of the pictures was likely not known to him. One four-year-old patient was always given a choice of a game to play in clinic, the type of necklace she wanted to make her mother using her fingerprints, and the type of book about dying that she wanted to read.

For school age children and pre-teens, parents may desire to share generalities but not specifics with the child. Parents balance being honest with causing more anxiety for the child. One mother went to great lengths to hide specific information from her son. She would call and email the oncologist multiple times before a visit and remind the oncologist outside of the room to not go over the MRI results in front of the child as it caused him to worry. He would be told generalities about the tumor but not specifics, such as necrosis, radiation effects, bleeding, bright spots, etc. The medical language used by physicians led to more distress in the patient than when a parent revealed information in a more sensitive manner.

However, this can lead to more anxiety for these children if they believe that something is being hidden from them. For instance, one school age boy was told that he had DIPG or a brain tumor. He was not told that he had cancer. He associated that word with death as a close relative died recently from a different type of cancer. When people outside of his family mentioned that he had cancer, it caused many problems for the child. He only focused on the negative things rather than the positives. Though he went from not being able to play his favorite video games and not being able to walk to doing both activities with some impairment, he only focused on his inabilities. His pain in his back and head seemed to get worse and his intake of analgesics increased. These hallmarks of distress may have been prevented if the family was forthright about the diagnosis rather than providing tailored information. Ethically one could provide generalities rather than specifics about medical information, however, the missed generality of a cancer diagnosis is a significant breach in trust.

Oncologists spend more time speaking directly to the teenage/young adult patients than other family members, which is different for younger patients. Adolescents and young adults are more likely to be included in decision making since they have their own beliefs and opinions. They may wish to share their opinions privately or defer decision making to their parents. One teenager seemed ambivalent about decision making when his family members were present, but privately he would become more involved. Another teenager was glad to be considered and somewhat involved in the decision making, but he felt relief that his mother was really paying attention and acting as the primary decision maker. It took the stress off of him. A young adult patient attempted to not have her parents around for decision making as they would become very anxious and cause her stress. She had been primarily supporting her family by working and had been acting as a 'responsible adult' for several years. She did not want them to be present to discuss decisions or make them as she would likely not agree. Another young adult patient actually experienced a transition in decision making about his cancer and end-of-life preferences from his parents to himself. He felt that his mother knew his preferences and values. They talked about them regularly. He trusted her judgement not only because she had made decisions before, but because she listened to him and knew what he wanted. The degree to which children participate in decision making relies on the type of decision, the level of cognitive and emotional development of the child, and the family structure.

<u>"You're the Doctor</u>

Parents and patients are vulnerable in making decisions as they have less expertise and power than physicians. They do not have authority to prescribe chemotherapy or enroll their children on clinical trials. However, they can look for clinical trials and have the authority to sign documents, such as informed consent and release of information forms. All parties are advocating for the patient's best interest but may perceive differently what the best interest is. Shared duties and authorities between physicians and parents (and adult patients) permits shared decision making but does not necessarily guide the process. Additionally, responsibilities may not be fulfilled by the parties and authority can be abused. Thus, one must ethically perform one's duties as a physician, parent and patient in order for shared making to function.

Though parents like to be involved in decision making, they want to know what the doctor thinks. Several families would gather information from many sources and then inquire the oncologist's opinion about the information. Other times, parents wish for more assistance in

guiding difficult decisions, such as limiting life-sustaining technology. One mother would often say, "I don't know, you're the doctor." This statement would come when her child had a rapid decline, when she was flustered or did not know what to do. Despite saying this, she was very active in making decisions for her child. She led efforts in searching for clinical trials, advocated for her child to have re-irradiation, agreed with DNAR orders, and met with hospice.

She trusted most physicians, but not all. She questioned physicians who recommended plans of care that did not align with her child's primary neuro-oncologist's recommendations. She was astounded when an Emergency Department physician said, "If it was my child, I would stop the steroids." After noting significant hydrocephalus, the doctor asked, "How do you feel about a shunt?" This question came after another physician had abruptly given the mother POLST forms to sign. When given the forms, the doctor said, "don't do a shunt." The mother was wondering why the Emergency Department physician did not see in the chart that she did not want a shunt. This caused a lot of discord at home because the patient's father wanted a shunt to prolong life and improve symptoms of headaches and vomiting. The mother said "a shunt is not going to cure his DIPG." She was concerned about additional harm, as the child would have to go through significant surgery and be in the hospital instead of being at home. So, she responded to the Emergency Department physician:

"I'm not putting a shunt in my child who's already terminal. He was like, 'Well you know it might be good for someone who has spina bifida.' I'm like, 'He doesn't HAVE spina bifida! Like, he's got a brain tumor.' I don't know..."

She was less trusting of doctors who were unfamiliar with her child, especially when making uniformed or poorly informed comments. The familiar pediatrician also lost her trust and respect over time. When the patient went to get labs, the oncologist had ordered at the pediatrician's office, they would say that he needed a physical exam there, even though he was being seen by multiple physicians every week on a clinical trial. The pediatrician's office would comment that he had gained weight, that his vision or balance was off. She would write down that he had "BRAIN CANCER," but they would still push. She concluded that, "You don't go to the pediatrician if you have cancer. You don't."

There are lessons here. For children interfacing regularly with the healthcare system, parents learn how to navigate the system and become experts in their child and their child's disease. They develop educated opinions that are valuable in determining care. When children have cancer, their medical home becomes the cancer center. Oncologists can improve families' stress levels by communicating well and working as a team.

Goals of care discussions are important for planning the next steps in decision making. These discussions often occur with the physician who knows the patient and family best. Other physicians may defer major decisions to the primary team unless it is time sensitive. When they need to provide complete care for a patient or to know certain information, they should ask open ended questions rather than making strong statements. Physicians should reflect on the big picture when making recommendations to support the patient and family.

<u>"You're the Parent"</u>

As parents look to physicians' recommendations because of their knowledge base physicians also defer to parents for certain decisions. Examples where physicians would say, "You're the parent," include what the eats and wears, how the child is disciplined, the destination chosen for a child's Make-A-Wish trip, if the child goes to a healing service, or practices a particular religion, etc. Medical decision making is often not deferred to the parent unless one is determining goals of care and end-of-life planning. Other times, physicians may feel uncomfortable with allowing parents to be the primary decision makers, especially if the decisions do not align with their own personal beliefs and values and if the decisions seem to cause more harm than good for a patient.

One general example is pain management. If parents avoid providing analgesics and the patient appears in pain, clinicians may have moral distress over this. While they do not want to overstep the parent's wishes, they do not want the child to continue in pain unnecessarily, especially when they are capable of relieving pain. Rarely, and not in this study population, suffering and pain is important to the patient and/or family's view on life after death. If a family believed suffering and pain could bring a better life after death, families may be willing to permit pain. Therefore, an ethical dilemma and moral distress persist until resolution.

Physicians have the authority to intervene if the child is being harmed or they believe that parents are making decisions that are not in the best interest of the child. When considering the over-arching goals of care and end-of-life care, parents often have priority in driving the type of care given to their child. However, the physician has the authority to either carry out that care or not. For the most part, pediatricians often provide the care parents (and sometimes patients) request, even if with reservation. One special consideration is 'doing everything.'

Doing Everything': The Physician's Fear and the Parents' Desire

Several families in the study seek to "do everything." They will go from one institution to another looking for all cancer directed therapies and cure. Six of fifteen patients (40%) went to more than one institution for cancer directed care, in the form of clinical trials or complementary and alternative medicine. When they find medical providers, who engage in highly specialized techniques or research for scientific advancement, the hope of better cancer therapy is a shared goal. Even this shared goal appears differently through the optimistic family-lens compared to the realistic/pessimistic physician scientist lens.

The shock of the cancer 'treatment' not working resonates on a deeper level with the parents compared with physicians. While highly personal for parents and physicians in the study, the aftershocks have repercussions of differing weight and meaning. For families, the treatments failed. Their loved one died, but they did all that they could. For the physician scientists, the treatments failed, and they failed. A patient died and they could not prevent it. They are not necessarily closer to developing a cure, though they hope to be. Some family members raise funds for research or help other families going through a similar process. The physician scientists, however, continue searching for this evasive cure and life-prolonging treatment with less toxicity.

If a parent's philosophy on parenting is that caring for a child involves providing all the means necessary to promote life, then they will seek to 'do everything,' and 'leave no stone unturned,' seeking the best treatments for their child. As one father reflected on the family who spent over three million dollars and the mother who said they would find money, giving the child the best possibility of sustaining life longer, and perhaps even better. In this quest for treatments for incurable illness, parents will expend significant energy and resources to obtain this goal, even if they have observed other parents doing the same thing for effective treatments, in this quest for treatments, parents will expend significant energy and resources to help their child. They will do this even if they observe other parents doing the same thing. It is part of their mantra. They cannot stop. They have a duty to care for their child and nothing will stop the them, sometimes not even the child's other parent.

Ethically, a parent willing to 'give in' and focus on quality of life, may disagree with the 'do everything' standard. Parents in the study wishing for less intervention would often defer to the parents wishing to 'do everything,' except the account of where the father wanted a VP shunt and the mother did not. Acknowledgement of differences of opinion may lead to conversations around the goals of care from patient and family perspectives.

Is 'doing everything' normal? It does appear that new science advancements are leading to more being done. This leads us to ask, 'just because we can, does it mean we should? Doing everything will not change the eventual outcome in an incurable illness. The child will die. Could there be a net harm in doing more interventions to a person who is dying? Yes! The child's life may be shortened. Some interventions may lead to increased time, allowing a loved one to come say goodbye. And yet, people who receive comfort focused care may live longer and better than those without this focus. (Temel et al. 2010)

One main goal of parents and physicians alike is to provide care to a suffering child. Shifting the hopes and goals from doing everything to cure the cancer to doing everything to keep the child comfortable is a large shift. It takes time for that transition and many conversations. Despite numerous conversations, parents and patients indicate they may still choose to "do everything" until the end. One father likened the care of his son to playing sports. He would ask the doctor about the "game plan" and ask if it was time to "throw a 'Hail Mary." This question may bring distress to the medical provider who fears the decreased quality of life with utilization of medical technology and develops distress from 'poor' allocation of resources. If distress occurs, consultation with the ethics team or palliative oncologist may be helpful on a case-by-case basis. While awaiting expert consultation, it may be helpful for medical providers to reflect on their hopes and worries for the patient and inquire from parents and patient about
their hopes, expectations, and worries. This could be the first step in mediating distress and unrealistic expectations, not only for care but also in fulfilling one's role as a patient, parent, or physician.

Chapter 5: Hope Preservation

When a child has a HGG, all families hope for a cure. This hope persists until the day the child dies. Every parent interviewed in this study expressed this sentiment. At the same time, they knew that their child would die. Parents were desperate to believe that a cure could happen not only for their child, but also for other children. They prayed for a miracle and they hoped that medications, radiation or surgery could lead to a cure. For one mother, a clinical trial drug was her "only hope for [her son's] surviving this" but ultimately left the outcome to God. She said, "hopefully He (God) lets my baby stay here with me."

Most parents and patients maintained positive outlooks and balanced them with knowledge. For instance, one mother who considered herself a realist talked about hope often:

"Hope is plastered all over the house and it's-I have it tattooed on my hand so I can look at it. So, I definitely have a ton of hope, but I-you know, I do know what statistics say and you know, I do know what the reality of this is... Which makes it difficult to be a realist, because everybody around you is an optimist and you're not."

She later said, "I think that the optimism, the positivity is what is keeping him here...the hope is what's keeping him here."

All physicians considered themselves a realist or pessimist. One oncologist was exceptional in calling herself an optimist when she delivered good news and a realist when she delivered bad news. Thus, the outlook may be related to the cancer itself or one's mood. If it is related to cancer, oncologists may be desensitized by the many children who die. Physicians did not hope for a cure, except in very rare cases when patients had proven to be an exception. One physician said: "She's clearly doing something different than the rest, and let's hope that maybe she does everything completely different in that regard... she's off on an island to herself, and I wouldn't, at this point, I wouldn't assume anything, you know? So, let's just hope that maybe this one is cured... no reason to suspect otherwise at this point."

When this patient broke the rules, the physician felt able to hope alongside the family. Another physician, felt like she "won the lottery," when a patient responded to a compassionate use drug. That physician hoped alongside the family, but also worried about drug resistance. The quickly brought herself back to a more realistic position, not allowing herself to develop false hope.

Both patients had something unique about their situations and both received non-standard treatments. Though oncologists saw success with these tailored regimens, they do not support veering away from standard of care often. When there is no known benefit, high risk of harm, and no gain of generalizable knowledge (as would be in a clinical trial), treatments that break the rules are not often recommended.

Most physicians in this study hoped that clinical trials would work but reminded themselves and others that prior clinical trials failed. They would then count how many children were the exceptions over a period of time. If a clinical trial seemed to be going well, the physician would remind people that statistically there will be an exception, but the exception is not the rule. Other ways physicians held realistic or responsible hopes was hoping for something that would predictably happen. For instance, they would hope for decreased tumor size at the end of radiation, but not necessarily months after radiation. One physician said when reviewing the MRI at the end of radiation, "Obviously we got the results we were hoping for. The tumor is a little bit smaller." Thus, the hope was not unrealistic. Though physicians did not always hope for the same things that patients and parents did, they wanted to preserve hope without giving false hope. The more patients and parents focused on cures, the more physicians would make statements that aligned with ambiguity or doubt. However, these statements were made with care.

Hope preservation takes work. Parents expressed to me in interviews that they worked to preserve hope themselves as it was important to "keep the hope" especially if they were feeling that "their hopes were shot." They did rely on physicians to preserve hope. One father said that he "always feels like there's still hope, even if we don't have it right now." Thus, parents hoped to hope again and would later take steps to develop a new hope.

Parents also hoped for support from others. They would share disappointment if people did not provide that support or if the support was not "what they hoped." Here, expectations are not fulfilled but they are able to still hope. Thus, they are not in despair.

Parents did not want to give false hope to their children, similar to physicians. Patients did not always embrace the philosophy that parents embraced. One patient said, "I don't really like the whole, 'well, you might get better' You know, you just have to hope. I don't really like that. I'm just kind of like, if I get better, great. If I don't, oh well, but yeah." That patient instead was still hoping to go back to work, buy a house, achieve other life milestones, lose weight gained from being on steroids, and spend time with friends. Another patient also wanted to buy a home, travel, and spend time with friends and family.

The hopes of patients also stimulated and fostered hopes in other people. A child's hopes also led to others working to fulfill those hopes. When a child would hope to be a superhero, people would work to introduce that child to that superhero. Parents would also hope for certain milestones. They hoped a child would make it to a vacation, then to a holiday, then to a birthday, and then even to kindergarten. When kindergarten started, they then had to permit themselves to have new milestone hopes. Thus, as time passes, hopes change. People may have worries and challenges along the way, but they work very hard to preserve hope.

This work to preserve hope becomes a duty for physicians and parents alike. It is a caring act to allow and even encourage others to hope, as great benefit can come when hopes are fulfilled. However, supporting false hopes can lead to despair and thus significant harm. Unfulfilled hopes can also lead to despair, possibly explaining why people hope for the miraculous and also more achievable hopes. Achievable hopes allow people to function daily. They are functional hopes, similar to the miraculous, in that they inspire people to persevere. A functional hope may motivate action. True hope preservation leads a person who is resilient despite difficult circumstances.

Principlism

In this final chapter, the principlist approach will be used to analyze decision making dilemmas that arose from the study. This analytic approach is most helpful with its basis in common morality and its use by physicians and researchers. The principlist framework recognizes that there are competing obligations and rights. It is flexible and uses an extension of W. D. Ross's idea of *prima facie* obligations and rights, whereby an obligation must be fulfilled or a right must prevail, unless there are obligations and rights of equal or greater weight. Thus, when deciding what one ought to do, one must weigh out the competing obligations and/or rights. (Beauchamp and Childress 2013) The obligation fulfilled or right honored is the one of greatest weight or contextually the highest consideration. The principles of autonomy, beneficence, nonmaleficence and justice are of equal importance but compete against one another in ethical dilemmas. Though each principle is to be balanced with the others, Americans often prioritize autonomy over the others, leading to an unbalanced approach. (Wolpe 1998) Similar to how patients, parents and physicians balance the competing notions of poor prognosis and hope, these ethical principles balance one another out; however, hope for a cure may be in the forefront regularly. In this chapter, each principle will be delineated and discussed with relation to its importance in decision making for children and young adults with HGGs. How these principles are balanced will be examined in particular cases.



Figure 14: Ethical Principles

Autonomy: Respecting Persons

The word autonomy has Greek origins and means self-rule. (Beauchamp and Childress 2013) There are multiple theories of autonomy, but Tom L. Beauchamp's and James F. Childress' three-condition theory will be used. The three conditions for an action to be autonomous are intentionality, understanding and non-control. (Beauchamp and Childress 2013) Though intentionality is or is not present, understanding and non-control may ambiguously be present as they may be present by degree. Thus, "the lines between adequate and inadequate degrees of understanding and degrees of control must be determined in light of specific objectives of decision making." (Beauchamp and Childress 2013) Special considerations are needed regarding decision making for pediatric patients as they are developing capacity and have various degrees of controlling influences, especially from parents and physicians. Relational autonomy takes into account the social context of decision making in pediatrics. (Walter and Ross

2014) However, parents answered study questions individually as they were often the primary, surrogate decision makers for the patient. Young children and adolescents did not see themselves as active decision makers in their care. Young adult patients acted as individual agents making decisions.

Respecting autonomy, or respecting a person's self-rule, often involves: telling the truth, respecting privacy, protecting confidential information, obtaining consent for interventions, and helping others make important decisions. (Beauchamp and Childress 2013) These are all essential to the decision making process for patients with HGGs. The diagnosis, prognosis, and treatment options need to be honestly communicated to allow patients and families to prioritize goals of care and what decisions need to be made. Physicians need to protect the privacy of patients and families, specifically, the patient's information, body (especially during a physical exam), location and personal space. In regard to decisional privacy, physicians should limit access of others to the knowledge of a patient's and family's choices and decisions. Confidential information that patients and families relay should be kept private, unless patients and families request the sharing of information to further the patient's care, which often occurs in the setting of physician referral or insurance coverage. Consent to procedures and interventions is needed. The consent should be voluntary (without manipulation) and patients and family should receive accurate information in a way that is understandable about the purpose, benefits, risks, and alternatives of the procedures and interventions. Conflicts of interest should be made transparent by an investigator. Additionally, when patients and families inquire about guidance in decision making, it should be provided in a non-manipulative manner to allow decisions to reflect the application of their own values and preferences to the available knowledge from an expert

provider. These are some general principles about autonomy. Further examination of the principle of autonomy derives from study participants.

One patient expressed that his individual autonomy in decision making was important to him. He developed that autonomy legally with turning eighteen, but also ethically developed it as he increased his knowledge and understanding. He underwent many treatments for his HGG, with chemotherapy and radiation. Around the same time, he went to college his HGG progressed. He commented:

"After that I became secluded... I decided to move to Portland with my aunt and did everything on my own. Mom just let me go. It was a good example [of how] I deal with my illness. While I was up there on my own, [I sought] out treatment options, like intraarterial chemo, which would have put me in a vegetable state. I'm glad I didn't do that. About 3 weeks after I decided to come back here and get treated by [my primary doctor]."

Since then, he had another progression. He said, "Right now, I'm all good mentally. [I have] recovery of my left side and all throughout." He went on to discuss that his past experiences, his oncologist's recommendations, and his family impacted his perspective and the decisions he made. He reflected that the decision making shifted from when he was first diagnosed to now. His parents initially made decisions and now he makes them. His grandparents and parents raised him to be independent. He wanted to do things himself and be well informed. Though his family helped him all the way, he declared that "it's been mostly my decision because they want the best for me." He said that he made decisions not for his mom, dad, family, or friends. He made the decision for himself, doing what makes him happy. Though it was no one else's decision to make, he felt like he had 100% support from his family.

He described how he embraced his individual, autonomous decision making. His family members also embraced his functioning as an autonomous decision-maker. They listened to what he wanted and his wishes were met. He discussed "everything" with his mother and he trusted her to act in his best interest if he was ever not capable of making decisions. He reinforced this with completing an advance directive, listing her as his surrogate decision maker.

Another young adult on the study embraced her autonomy as well. She had become quite independent. At the time of her diagnosis, she had graduated high school, worked at an office for several years, bought a car, and was supporting her family by paying rent and other bills. She had her father present when clinical trials were discussed. She said it was mostly her decision, but it helped having the approval of her family and the physical nod of her father next to her. When her tumor progressed and another clinical trial was mentioned, she did not accept it. She did not want to take pills every day. Though others would have joined, she decided that the trial did not align with her quality of life.

Most of the patients on the study were not young adults. Adolescents had more influence on the decision making than young children, but clearly were not making the decisions. Adolescents may be involved in most of the discussions with physicians. However, not all healthcare providers involved the adolescents in the discussions of major treatment decisions. For instance, one nurse came to a family to discuss clinical trials. She spoke directly to the patient's mother and did not acknowledge the adolescent. After the nurse explained two clinical trials, the mother asked, "Who makes the call" on deciding which clinical trial the patient should enroll in. The nurse then responded:

"That's a great question. So, I think it's a partnership between you guys and [your doctor]. So, the two of you guys can sit down together and look at what's your

expectation, like what fits better for your lifestyle. So [your doctor] can have that conversation. She of course can definitely say what she prefers, and I think that's where her medical decision could kind of help, but I think looking at, you know, what is your goal, like how much do you guys want to be here, you know, your factor of your lifestyle kind of can play into things too, so I mean, you know there are some studies that we're looking at as well. We're looking at right now, that may be more -- that may have an IV component. So, is that something that you would want to do? If there's an IV drug that we could give? So, we need to look at those studies and see if [he] would qualify for those."

The "you" she references should be the patient, but actually was the mother or the family as a whole: Even though the patient had experience with prior chemotherapy, radiation, and stem cell transplant, the information was not being directed to him. The evident decision makers were the mother and the doctor in the clinic. However, when the patient was asked if he had any say in the decisions that are made, he said, "She (mom) wants me to be happy, and so I do have a say. Yeah, I feel like I have a say. I do. I feel like if I say no, I don't want to do this anymore, then she will be alright with that."

Preschool to school age patients were not interviewed in the study and thus their opinions about the decision making processes were not analyzed. Importantly, these children had violations against respecting their developing autonomy by not having honest information from medical providers or their parents. Some people could argue that the children had developing autonomy and did not require the same respect as autonomous adult agents. Though patients did not yet have full competence or capacity, they could usually still understand the implications for their lives and bodies. Though parents thought they were "protecting" their children from the information, their children became more anxious. Patients clearly knew what they were not supposed to know. Parents of one child attempted to protect the child from the word 'cancer.' However, the child saw the word cancer on the entrance to the clinic and had other children tell him that they were "sorry about his cancer." Other children learned about the prognosis based on how many fun things they were able to do, such as Make-A-Wish trips, and gifts they received. Their siblings were not receiving the same degree of special benefits or going to the doctor as much as them. Their illness was therefore very serious.

Another violation of a child's developing autonomy was not respecting a child's refusal to a procedure or intervention or obtaining assent with significant manipulation from parents. Parents of one school age child wanted investigators to deem her unable to provide assent because of her brain tumor, even though she was cognitively not delayed or impaired. They did this because she would become very emotional and say no to anything and everything without rationally considering the possibility. The parents attributed this action to the steroids. Instead of her brain tumor, they really were positing that the steroids impaired her cognition. However, a third hypothesis is that the child actually did not want to participate in the trials and was giving dissent. A different outcome may have resulted if parents and physicians took time to learn why the patient was saying, "no," instead of blaming steroids or her brain tumor.

In situations such as these, a physician has an obligation to obtain informed assent from the patient. If the patient is not willing to assent, further investigation into why the patient does not want to assent. Ideally, this would be inquired in a way that is non-threatening, nonmanipulative and without the presence of those who could significantly influence the answer, such as parents. If patients continued to dissent, a physician would have a dilemma of whether to honor the wishes of parents to have the child have the procedure or intervention. For some procedures and interventions with known greater benefit than risk of harm, it would be ethically permissible to honor the parents' desires over the child's. However, for those procedures and interventions with no benefit or concern for greater risk of harm than good, it would not be ethically permissible to honor the parent's desires' over the child's. This most often arose in the setting of clinical trials and research studies, where participation was optional, the investigational drug had unknown efficacy and known risks of harm with greater procedures. Therefore, having institutional guidelines for research studies about child assent may support physicianinvestigators and researchers who encounter the dilemma of conflicting desires of parents and children.

Autonomy and Shared Decision Making

Physician-patient/family relationships have shifted from paternalism to consumerism with the risk of patient and family centered medicine. (Cohn 2004) In the middle is shared decision making, which aligns closer to physician recommendations or patient and family preferences. Shared decision making swings toward physicians or patients/parents based on the competing *prima facie* duties of different decision makers. Physicians have a protected fiduciary relationship with patients (and their families), where the patients (and their families) put their trust, confidence and reliance on the physician to care for them. Physicians have professional and ethical duties to care for their patients. (American Medical Association 2001) They are to be honest, trustworthy, reliable, and present. In communicating, they are to be respectful of others, relay information in a transparent manner, and attempt to preserve hope while improving prognostic awareness. These characteristics are important in honoring autonomy or 'self-rule" of individuals with agency. Being respectful and disclosing information needed for decision

making are positive obligations that acknowledge the agency of individuals and their ability to "self-govern."

Parents have a fiduciary responsibility to care for their child, including providing a safe, loving environment, food, shelter, clothing, and healthcare. They are expected to provide emotional and spiritual support and guidance, prioritizing the best interest of the child and minimizing the harms. Parents lack professional codes like physicians their ethical and moral values are not standardized. Parents can promote the values that they see fit.

When caring for children with incurable HGGs, parents and physicians may not agree on the best plan as they balance benefits and harms differently. Thus, to make a plan, physicians, parents and patients will discuss the goals of care. Physicians have a duty to align the available and feasible options with the preferences of patients and/or families, respecting their autonomy where possible. Physicians, parents and patients have conflicting interests, with physicians attempting to uphold professional integrity and honor the autonomy of parents and the developing autonomy of pediatric patients. This is highly contextual, especially at the end-oflife.

Medical providers should probe the family's readiness for end-of-life planning when the child is still well, because waiting until the child is extremely ill "takes away the opportunity for planning, and often excludes the patient from the discussions." (Friedrichsdorf, Remke, et al. 2015) When discussing advance care planning, a medical provider may rarely be faced with different opinions from the patient and parents. (Durall, Zurakowski, and Wolfe 2012; Beecham et al. 2016; Hinds et al. 2005) In this situation, the medical provider wonders if the pediatric patient's perspective should take precedent over the parents' because he/she is going to die soon or if the parents' perspectives should be promoted because of their authority over their children.

Does the physician choose to support the opinions that align with the physician's opinion to limit aggressive interventions in this setting or the opinions that promote aggressive interventions? Medicine defaults to aggressive interventions, such as attempting cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) to try to avoid death. Oftentimes, the parental authority over their children is honored and their decisions receive priority. However, when the child desires that everything be done, the child's opinion may prevail. One could argue that death will occur either way, and thus it does not matter. However, managing conflict prior to a child's death is important for bereavement following the child's death.

Finding common ground through open, honest, non-threatening communication may be possible. If a decision cannot be reached around resuscitation, a child will receive attempts at resuscitation. While harm and pain can result from resuscitation, some may wish to receive CPR for religious, cultural, or life-prolonging effect. In the setting of a terminal brain tumor, prolonging life may be a few days, hours or minutes. Parents must decide if this is care they and or their child desire.

Finally, physicians have ethical and legal obligations to honor decisions made about code status and the legal documents that justify and delineate limitations in aggressive interventions, such as advance directives, DNAR orders, or POLST forms. If no decision has been made, the decision is unknown, or the forms are not available, the default, obligatory action by the provider is to provide CPR. Thus, to honor the wishes of patients and families at the end-of-life, discussions around code status are vital to the type of care the patient receives. As one family mentioned, these discussions should be with someone the patient trusts and knows, should have all the important decision makers present (such as key family members), and should not be rushed.

Beneficence

The principle of beneficence "refers to a statement of moral obligation to act for the benefit of others. Many acts of beneficence are not obligatory, but some forms of beneficence are obligatory." (Beauchamp and Childress 2013) Actions that benefit others involve intentionally helping others by promoting a good, preventing harm, and removing or minimizing harm. (Beauchamp and Childress 2013) Beneficence obligations are requirements of action rather than prohibitions of action, as per the principle of nonmaleficence. Several of these *prima facie* rules of beneficence include "protecting and defending the rights of others, preventing harm from occurring to others, helping persons with disabilities, and rescuing persons in danger." (Beauchamp and Childress 2013)

The benefits for patients were in the forefront of decision making for patients, parents and their physicians. The benefits desired ranged from improved symptoms and quality of life to tumor stabilization, tumor regression and even cure. Decisions initially favored cancer directed benefits while later decisions favored quality of life and comfort. Over the disease course, the "best interest" of the patient shifted. Additionally, at each key decision making point, such as initial diagnosis, disease progression or end-of-life, the risk-benefit ratio shifted. Greater risks were willing to be taken earlier in the disease course than later.

At diagnosis, all patients in the study received either cancer directed therapy or were enrolled in a clinical trial. None of them had palliative care consultation at diagnosis even though studies show significant benefits of having subspecialty palliative care concurrently with cancer directed care. (Dans et al. 2017; Ferrell et al. 2017) Patients and their families were willing to be aggressive in cancer management or to participate in research from which they may not benefit. At progression, however, patients and parents would be presented with options. Most patients attempted cancer directed care or a clinical trial again. However, this time, they may have a palliative care consultation or at least begin discussing quality of life more. If disease progression occurred again, similar options would be discussed, but patients potentially would not be eligible for clinical trials or would not be willing to undergo the intensive procedures associated with the clinical trial. For some patients, prior experiences weighed heavily on whether to enroll in clinical trials. For example, if a patient did well with an oral medication but had difficulties with intravenous therapies, parents and patients would not even consider clinical trials that involved intravenous therapy. As the end-of-life approached, some patients would still consider palliative chemotherapy or compassionate drug use but would be enrolled in hospice services or focused heavily on comfort.

While most parents hoped that they would have significant benefit from the cancer directed therapy or investigational drug, only one child had significant benefit. The mother was sincerely surprised as her child previously had significant worsening on prior study drugs. They had chosen to try this compassionate use drug as their doctor previously mentioned that it was being used in a clinical trial and it was there "only option" left. She reflected on the decision to start the compassionate use drug after talking about the MRI results that showed a "dramatic" decrease in the tumor size:

"[I feel] great. I mean, blessed, because we, like we had no other option at that time, and it was -- like we didn't know what we were going to do next. We did radiation, and then after that it was kind of like what other medicine are we going to be able to use. There was nothing at that time except, like I said, this -- you know, this trial, so yeah, I mean, it was either use it or just you know, don't use anything, and it's great. Seeing the results right now, yeah. I think that we made a good decision." She went on to say that her husband and the physician recommendations most influenced the decision, but foundational to the decision was first the patient's quality of life. The benefit of good quality of life was more than fulfilled with actual cancer regression. The benefit from starting the drug surpassed the family's and oncologist's expectations as this is a rare occurrence.

Though requesting a compassionate use drug is not a standard obligation, offering palliative care is. Palliative care is essential to the care of these patients, especially as it can be utilized concurrently with cancer directed care if cancer directed care. Not providing palliative care has the potential to harm the patient physically, psychologically and spiritually. Patients and families may be in despair about progression. Having an oncologist state that there are "no more options," can worsen this state. "Not having options" is a misconception and misperception, as there are many ways to care for the patient, including intensive comfort focused care.

However, oncologists did not always consult palliative care at the time of progression because they believed it would be too overwhelming to discuss palliative care in addition to 1) the "bad news" that no other options were available, or 2) the three clinical trials they were going to offer the patient and family. Rather than seeing the benefit in subspecialty palliative care and evaluating goals of care, oncologists sometimes feared that it would be harmful to the patients to discuss. Avoiding these discussions did not permit shared decision making, but rather placed patients at risk for feeling abandoned. This perceived abandonment is ethically problematic and leads to the ethical principle of nonmaleficence.

Nonmaleficence

The principle of nonmaleficence obligates one to not cause another harm and is a *prima facie* principle requiring "the justification of harmful actions. This justification may come from

showing that the harmful actions do not infringe specific obligations of nonmaleficence or that infringements are outweighed by other ethical principles and rules." (Beauchamp and Childress 2013) Physicians often cite the Hippocratic Oath when stating they are "first [to] do no harm." (Miles 2004) They have a duty to provide care that does not impose unreasonable risks of harm. Pediatric oncologists often prescribe chemotherapy that does have harms that are outweighed by the benefits of likely cure; however, for children with HGGs, there is minimal potential for cure. Thus, causing harm in providing certain treatments or investigational agents with unknown benefits can became ethically problematic. Judgments about quality of life and goals of care desired by patients and families are important in what options a physician presents in the shared decision making process.

Specific rules that include the principle of nonmaleficence include: do not kill, do not cause pain or suffering, do not incapacitate, do not cause offense, do not deprive others of the goods of life. (Beauchamp and Childress 2013) Several of these *prima facie* moral rules were important in decision making in the study. Physicians most often cited not wanting to cause pain or suffering to patients and worried about "catastrophic" adverse events that were possible with investigational or compassionate use drugs. Additionally, physicians did not want to offend parents or patients in communicating about these sensitive decisions. Physicians did not discuss the ethics around allowing the natural course of a HGG without any cancer directed intervention or removal of life sustaining treatments as they did not arise in the study.

In the study, nonmaleficence was mentioned most around CAM, compassionate use drugs, palliative care, and end-of-life care, specifically around discussing code status. When nonmaleficence was mentioned, beneficence was almost always accompanying the discussion in a way that demonstrated the ideas were competing. Nonmaleficence was not always honored, especially if competing principles were present. Though physicians hoped that patients would have good quality of life, they often recommended clinical trials and other intensive modalities of care that could diminish quality of life. This recommendation was often because they were honoring the stated goals of patients and parents to "do everything."

A violation of nonmaleficence occurred when one physician effectively abandoned a patient. One mother revealed this violation when she discussed the decisions she made for her child and for changing oncologists. These decisions came after significant disease progression while on a third clinical trial through an outside institution, and after child's oncologist had advised against VP shunt placement a d re-irradiation, but recommended DNAR and hospice enrollment.

"I called our doctor [at the other institution] that had that trial that we were doing. I talked to her and I said, 'you know, is there any way we could do radiation again, because they don't typically do that for what he has.' And she said, 'Yeah, actually, it isn't. It is a possibility [that] your doctor would have to agree to...' So, I called my radiation doctor from up here and she said, 'Yeah, let's definitely do it again.' So, we went in and did it again and he responded really well... So we got done with radiation, he was doing like super well. I mean, started walking again, everything. Like he was like [himself] again. So, after being off of that for – I think it was like three or four weeks, we were like, 'why don't we look at another trial, just – you know, just because he's doing so good, the tumor had to have shrank.' So, we talked with the hospice nurse and she said, 'You know, I honestly think that's a great idea.' So, she [tried to get] in touch with [his] doctor who was supposed to have like a Facetime, Face Chat so we didn't have to go into the office. [The doctor] was busy both times. The doctor said she would call us back and

she never did. We waited three weeks for her to call us back and nothing. Nothing. So that's when we decided to switch to another doctor."

This was significant as this was not the first time the mother felt abandoned. When the child had progression, she was not able to get in touch with the same oncologist who was out of the country or other oncologists the child had seen previously. The physicians were not reasonably available, even during normal business hours in the week. The parents and patient suffered from distress of not knowing what to do and not being able to make decisions when their oncologists was not available. Concerns for negligence of care are ethically impermissible, unprofessional, and unjust.

Justice

The principle of justice is based on "a group of norms for fairly distributing benefits, risks, and costs." (Beauchamp and Childress 2013) Several theories of justice include utilitarian theories that maximize the public good, libertarian theories that emphasize individual rights, communitarian theories that derive from conceptions of good from moral communities, egalitarian theories that emphasize equal access to goods in life that rational people value, capabilities theories that each person has the means to exercise capabilities to flourish in life, and well-being theories that emphasize health, personal security, reasoning, respect, attachment and self-determination. (Beauchamp and Childress 2013) Equitability and fairness are central to the distribution of burdens and benefits. Inequalities due to social determinants of health and discrimination are to be minimized utilizing the principle of justice.

During this study, physicians and other healthcare providers would ask rhetorically why some patients would be good candidates for clinical trial participation and others would not. The clinical trials did not have rigorous social criteria to participate, but some patients would have inherent difficulties in making it to appointments and obtaining the necessary resources to participate. For one patient, a nurse explored many possibilities to help a family out. She learned that donations were available to help the family pay bills, but not to buy the family a phone, or to pay for transportation. This caused stress for the medical team as the patient missed appointments and also stress to the family as they were having pressure to fulfill the requirements.

All patients had some form of insurance and all received some form of benefit from specific foundations. This was important as they all experienced financial struggles. Those most in need received the most benefits from charitable donations. There were some differences in decision making, though, if families had higher education levels and greater financial resources. These families would often pursue second opinions or travel significant distances to receive a particular form of care or enroll in a specific clinical trial. They would do whatever it took and spend whatever money was needed to obtain these services. Those with lower education levels and less resources would not always look for other options outside of this institution. They would state that they were receiving good quality care here but would entertain looking at other institutions if their child had disease progression. They would discuss the other options of care they saw through social media but would talk about how the people who received those other options did not survive. They developed a peace about receiving care where they could.

Parents most focused on the unfairness of distribution of research dollars for children's cancer. Though there are significantly more adults with cancer than children, parents saw that there were greater losses for children with cancer. They believed that children who died lost out on living a full life while adults already had the opportunity of being a teenager and meeting other milestones, such as graduation from high school. One family stated that the child's school

participates in a specific cancer fundraising event every year. They were upset that people thought they were donating for all types of cancer for all types of people, when in fact, none of the funds went to childhood cancer research. This was unjust to the family in this misunderstanding and skewed distribution of funds for adult research.

One constraint on resources during the study was for one patient on a compassionate use drug. The company had merged and was considering stopping the production of the medication. After several petitions, the drug was continued but changed formulations. The patient's family adjusted to the new formulation and the specific manner the child needed to take it to maximize absorption.

Health policies around end-of-life care vary by state to state. Children are able to receive concurrent cancer directed care or participate in a clinical trial and still be enrolled in hospice. However, adults cannot. One young adult patient transferred care to the pediatric institution from an adult institution because she had a pediatric brain tumor (DIPG). As there was a clinical trial that was only being offered at the pediatric center, she was advised to go to the pediatric institution to increase her options. At that time, palliative care and hospice were not discussed. At the time of disease progression, the oncologists were shocked to learn that her age made her ineligible for receiving concurrent care. This ineligibility shifted the decision making for this patient, and for physicians. The types of discussions that physicians were used to having with parents and patients did not apply in this case. Clinicians were unclear about how to advise the young adult patient and then were astounded that she chose not to participate in another clinical trial. The patient went on to receive re-irradiation but lost her medical oncology home and did not have palliative care or hospice resources set up. She was left without the supports she would need as end-of-life approached. Thus, her age and diagnosis skewed her access to available

resources and deprived her of continuous medical support, leading to another effective patient abandonment. This unjust experience should lead oncologists to re-evaluate how they care for these young adult patients and consider advocacy in health policy change.

Balancing Autonomy with Justice

Justice can be in conflict with autonomy. Respecting choices of seeking out medical care or clinical trials is not wrong but can become problematic if there are depleted resources with concern about distributive justice. If the patient and family desire to pursue a clinical trial, what lengths does a medical provider go to assist that the patient is enrolled? There are limited spots on clinical trials and the physician may be caring for multiple eligible patients. Does the medical provider have preference based on disease status, likelihood of benefit, the ease of interaction, the likelihood of compliance, or first come first serve?

Does the physician have an obligation to promote research and research funding? Some would say no, as the physician is already investing resources to care for children with cancer, but others would say that physicians should invest time and effort developing more treatments which could benefit to the more people if it worked. On the other side, some physicians are also investigators in the trials they propose to patients. Physician investigators should be clear when interacting with patients and families about potential conflicts of interest. Patients and families may see that person as an expert and feel better about being in that person's care; however, that may lead to manipulation and problematic therapeutic misconception. The harm of therapeutic misconception is that it does not respect a person's rights and autonomy in the informed consent process. Without appropriate understanding, informed consent is not valid. Physicians should take care to ensure appropriate informed consent, including verbal and written materials for

people who speak different languages or who are illiterate. These participant populations could be excluded from participation and increase health disparities and discrimination.

Another area of conflict in the study was the inequitable provision of access to medical marijuana. Some medical providers were certified via state authority to certify patients with qualifying conditions. Other medical providers did not have permission or authority to do so but were willing to refer to certified providers. Still others saw this as illegal and/or unethical and were unwilling to refer patients to certified providers. Thus, there was no standard recommendation for how to approach the request for medical marijuana and some patients who requested it could be denied the request. Patients received discrepant interventions depending on which medical providers were involved in their care. Further work to ensure patients have equal access to interventions in the same clinic seems ethically reasonable and permissible.

Balancing Autonomy with Beneficence and Nonmaleficence

A prime example of balancing the competing principles of autonomy, beneficence and nonmaleficence was the use of CAM. One patient and his family openly discussed CAM, including vegan diet, herbalist recommendations, and cannabis oil. Though there are emerging studies in this area that show CAM could be beneficial psychologically and physically with potential cancer directed effect, physicians did not see these treatments as particularly beneficial. However, physicians saw that CAM was permissible if it could be safely provided and the patient agreed to it as the patient had "nothing to lose." However, if patients were enrolled in clinical trials, the use of CAM modalities was not always permitted. Clinician investigators had to address drug-herbal supplement interactions with clinical trial medications. Drug-drug interactions could lead to significant harm or prevent medications from working. Additionally, if the herbal treatment was efficacious, it may show the clinical trial in a falsely positive direction. Patients enrolled in clinical trial had to follow the rules and regulations of the trial, or risk being removed from the trial. When a patient had disease progression, the family members inquired about the use of CAM:

"Doctor: Totally okay, and I don't -- and P11 has to be on board, right?

Grandma: Yeah, oh yeah.

Doctor: Changing his diet is going to be a challenge. (laughs)

Grandma: No, no, he's been doing really well on his vegan diet.

Mom: (laughs)

<u>Doctor</u>: I'm totally okay with that...I'd just like to know what. Some people choose extracts like Thistledown and different types of homeopathic remedies, and as long as I know what they are, it helps me understand other things that are going on, okay? <u>Mom</u>: Okay.

<u>Doctor</u>: So, I have absolutely no objection to any of that. He couldn't -- it was hard for him to be on those things while he's on the study, right? But he's not on a clinical trial then that gives us a lot more freedom, and if he has nausea or discomfort, there's a good reason to try cannabis oil if that's something that your family is interested in."

The physician responded that using CAM was permissible as he was no longer on a clinical trial and had conditions. The patient had to agree to it and the family needed to transparently communicate about what remedies would be used to effectively diminish harm to the patient. The physician later said, the family had "nothing to lose" in trying CAM.

In a following visit with a palliative care physician, further discourse on the CAM and Avastin (a palliative chemotherapy) arose.

"<u>Grandma</u>: I mean, you know, the herbal things, they probably don't work either, but it's a closer thing to not being sick you know, while you're taking it. You're not losing your

hair. You're not, you know, getting sick, so --

<u>Palliative Care Doctor</u>: Well, the risk rate -- So the thing that's different about those is the risk-benefit ratio, right? Like you know, there may -- like chemo, there may actually not be much benefit, but the risk is a lot less for many patients that are doing chemo where chemo can make you feel much sicker, take away your hair, you know, a lot of those different things.

<u>Grandma</u>: Mhm, yeah, and it's not going to -- you're not going to make it, so you're going through this for what?

<u>Palliative Care Doctor</u>: Yeah. When benefit is unknown, then the amount of risk really starts to weigh in, right? In terms of what you're willing to tolerate.

<u>Grandma</u>: But she did tell us that now since he's not on a clinical trial that we still could try herbal things. I don't know. So, we just have to see. We're meeting with an herbalist on Friday.

Palliative Care Doctor: Okay.

Grandma: And so, then we'll know, know, you know --

Palliative Care Doctor: Yeah.

<u>Grandma</u>: I mean, I still want to see doctors, because I'm a nurse. I still believe that God has given doctors -- you know, you wouldn't be here if he didn't intend for you to do something, you know, but right now with this particular tumor, only God can do this, you know? So, there we are.

<u>Palliative Care Doctor</u>: Yeah. And I think that's where I want to make sure that you guys know that even though -- whether he goes forward with Avastin or not, whether you go forward with any therapy or not, right? To know that just because we're not giving

chemo, we're not doing that, that doesn't mean you don't have support and you don't have doctors that care about you, you know? In a way that's when we care about you the most in a sense, because when you strip away all of the chemo and all of the other stuff, right? What is left and what is supposed to be at the core of medicine, and what is, is about caring for him and you guys as a family, you know? And then what that really becomes is focusing on his quality of life and how do we help each day be as good as it possibly can be for P11 and whatever that means for him, you know?

Mom: I don't know anything. I just sit here and I listen. And I try to process.

Grandma: (laughs)"

Later, the patient and family agreed to starting Avastin and CAM. They saw the herbalist and received a long list of recommendations that ranged from yoga, water intake, and diet to herbal remedies like alkaline substances, French green clay, and several other herbs. The mother brought the list to the physician who stated that the alkaline substances would likely not impact his tumor. The theory the physician cited was that cancer grows in acidic environments, so neutralizing them with alkaline substances could decrease their growth rate. However, the physician said that the alkaline agents would not pass the blood brain barrier and his body would buffer the substances, likely making no difference to the tumor. The physician specifically looked up drug-herbal interactions and found none. Thus, the physician discussed with the patient and mother that the recommendations were safe to try but would only be recommended if the patient wanted to do them. If the patient did not like how the French green clay tasted, the physician said they should not continue it. The physician weighed in on the recommendation with an expert opinion, framed it with the patient's values, and ensured that the options that were presented were safe. Another example where autonomy and nonmaleficence were in competition was when physicians limited activities (such as contact sports). These recommendations were meant for patient safety, but oftentimes were thought to be infringing upon liberties. Patients and were upset that they could not participate in the sports, especially as they were not going to live much longer.

Attempting to obtain compassionate use drugs or expanded access to investigational agents are included in obligations of beneficence and the duty to rescue but can compete with nonmaleficence and autonomy. One patient's family referenced the Right to Try Act several times when they discussed the options of care. A mother stated:

"We need to find something else to help with this tumor or it is going to take [my child]. I mean, it is what it is. We all know the survival rate. We all know the history of it, and he's beating the odds. Well, you know, don't give up a child who is beating the odds. You know, we should go the next step. Okay, he made it here. He's beating the odds. Let's try something else. What else can we do? You know? And just like my husband and I were talking with the President's State of the Union [Address] that he did, he mentioned clinical trials and getting the FDA approvals and having these treatments in a safe place, and that's exactly right. And that's what I was talking with that nurse, you know, what makes you know, -- what's considered safe? Why is the FDA not approving this and how is it that so many people are going to a place like Mexico and they're okay, you know, what's the difference, and what's going on, and is it really a money thing, because so many parents say it has to do with money. It has to do with insurance. It has -- You know,

and it may, but in the meantime. I'm trying to save my child's life or improve my child's quality of life, so I -- you know, all that stuff needs to be put aside."

Briefly, the Right to Try Act of 2017 is a federal legislation proposal that has passed Senate approval (R. Johnson 2017) and is pending House approval (Biggs n.d.)(H.R.878-Right to Try Act of 2017). Bipartisan support is present and it is backed by both the Vice President and President. This legislation amends the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act to 1) permit investigational drugs that have passed phase I clinical trials to people with life-threatening illnesses who have exhausted approved treatments and are unable to participate in clinical trials and 2) limit liability to sponsors, manufacturers, prescribers and dispensers that provides, or declines to provide, an eligible investigational drug to an eligible patient. The impact of removing the public health mission of FDA oversight in favor of patient autonomy and market forces, is an increase in potential harm to patients as the FDA already has in place "expanded access" pathways for these types of patients. (Steven Joffe and Lynch 2018) Legislation will have limited changes to the access to investigational drugs as the FDA currently has a 90% approval rate for expanded access requests and manufacturers have similar approval rates. (Steven Joffe and Lynch 2018) Additionally, the FDA's current expanded program is less laborious for physicians than prior versions, taking about 45 minutes to complete an application rather than hours. (Steven Joffe and Lynch 2018; Darrow et al. 2015)

Though the above patient has not been offered a compassionate use drug, two patients did receive compassionate use drugs. One had significant benefit with clear tumor regression. The other patient died shortly after starting the investigational agent. Though clinical outcomes varied from the compassionate use drugs, the parents felt supported by clinicians who attempted to obtain these drugs for their children. They felt respected and felt like the goals of care were being met through provision of the drugs.

Finally, patient and parental rights to seek out care at other institutions was often respected by physicians. If parents expressed that they were considering Mexico, physicians would discuss how they were worried that Mexican healthcare providers were providing the trial to take the parents money and resources would not be available if a toxicity or severe side effect occurred there. They would discuss the risk involved going to Mexico. Most of the time, the patients and parents did not go, but were well-informed by their physician. Thus, disagreement does not necessarily mean that a physician is not respecting a patient or physician's autonomy, rather, it highlights the medical and ethical dilemmas in the spectrum of care.

Ethical Dilemmas

Throughout the HGG disease trajectory, multiple significant ethical decisions must be made. Using principlism may assist oncologists in navigating ethical dilemmas on a case by case basis. However, when conflict is serious, consideration may be made to consult the bioethics team. During this study, none of the patients had ethical dilemmas requiring an ethics consultation. However, these dilemmas do occur as in my medical practice these patients with HGG's have requested to expedite death, parents have requested to clone their child postmortem, and more frequently, patients and parents request interventions that medical providers view as prolonging suffering, such as tracheostomy and long-term ventilation. Each dilemma is contextual and the competing principles of autonomy, beneficence, nonmaleficence, and justice will need to be uniquely applied.

Chapter 7: Conclusions and Implications for Patient/Family Care & Practice

The communication and decision making processes were investigated over the illness trajectory for children and young adults with a high grade gliomas, their parents and physicians, including oncologists and palliative care specialists. In the qualitative study, we demonstrated that decision making is complicated for children with HGGs as there are ever changing options, many decision makers, and influences on those decision makers.

Specifically, the study aimed to evaluate the decision making and informed consent processes for cancer directed therapy for patients with HGGs. The informed consent process was not evaluable by this study as no informed consent discussions were captured. Many of these conversations occurred quickly at the time of diagnosis or at progression and the principle investigator for this study was not notified or was not available for the discussion. In addition, clinical investigators frequently called patients to discuss imaging results, treatment options, and essentially review clinical trials available with a planned follow up visit in clinic. These clinic visits were truncated and often focused on completion of paperwork.

One hypothesis was that the pediatric oncology team favored phase I trials or other cancer directed therapy over palliative care and hospice. It was evident that pediatric oncologists spent more time discussing cancer directed options and briefly mentioned palliative care or hospice services. Oncologists did focus on the hope related to an intervention, believing that they were preserving hope by offering participation in a clinical trial or cancer directed therapy.

Oncologists would mention that they did not know if a clinical trial drug or compassionate use drug would have any efficacy against the tumor; however, it was evident when physicians believed that there could be a potential for efficacy. This belief in potential efficacy was greater when physicians participated in developing a particular clinical trial. Thus, conflict of interest skewed the clinician investigator's viewpoint. Patients and parents did not see this as problematic as they viewed the clinician investigator as an expert and often sought to be under that clinician investigator's care to participate in the trial. They did not believe it prevented their voluntary participation in the trial or their understanding that the trial drug had unknown efficacy. Though the informed consent discussions were not captured, it was evident through interviews that patients and parents knew that the drugs would likely not work, but they were still hopeful. Patients and families held the hope of cure and the hope of an investigational drug being efficacious in tension with the reality of known poor prognosis. They were optimistic about treatments as many of them were often optimistic about life. For those who were not optimistic, someone else in the family often was.

Another aim was to evaluate if palliative care improves the understanding of comfort focused care and hospice services along with family-centered decision making. Palliative care involvement was in forty-six percent of the patients, which is much higher than the twenty percent who received palliative care in 2016. This increase likely reflects the initiation of an outpatient supportive care clinic in the oncology office. Though palliative care was consulted more frequently, only one visit was audio-recorded with only two palliative care specialists enrolling in the study and conflicts in scheduling. Palliative care specialists did complete questionnaires on three patients. Answers were more thorough than oncologists, which could demonstrate that they understood the family dynamics and reasoning for decision making at a deeper level than oncologists, or that they took more time to complete the questionnaires. With this limited information, the impact on the understanding of comfort focused care and hospice services was not evaluable.

Another hypothesis was that patients with HGGs received care that was concordant with their goals more frequently than those who do not have a palliative care consult. This was

partially evaluated, but no strong conclusions can be made. Eight patients without a palliative care consult mostly had out-patient management, came to clinic on days when supportive care clinic was not held, had not progressed after initial therapy (2) or were participating in a clinical trial (6). The seven patients who had a palliative care consult often did while in-patient or went to an oncologist who had clinic the same day as the supportive care clinic. Palliative care consultation did not impede patients from receiving cancer directed therapy, as all of those will palliative consultations received cancer directed care.

One patient had an in-patient consultation prior to the study. That family particularly stated that the palliative care team was unhelpful to them. The patient had been on a clinical trial, had a VP shunt placed, and at the time of progression, transitioned to out-patient hospice services. The palliative care team did not provide helpful interventions for that particular patient. None of the other patients mentioned palliative care in particular in the audio-recorded semi-structured interviews with no prompting by a question about palliative care. One patient's mother rejected palliative care and hospice when her child showed significant improvement on a compassionate use drug.

Patients who died in the hospital received intensive palliative care with the subspecialists. Though the patients were initially planning to die at home on hospice services, they needed intensive symptom management that was not able to be provided by hospice. Additionally, they were able to have limited autopsies for research, which fulfilled goals they had. For one patient who did not have a palliative care consult and died in the preferred location of home with the aid of hospice services, was unable to have a planned limited research autopsy completed as previously desired. An earlier shift to comfort focused care did not occur when palliative care was involved. Patients who came to the center for a second opinion, desired comfort care, or were found to be ineligible for a clinical trial did not participate in this study. Thus, the goals of care may be particular to this cohort that was studied.

The study was longitudinal in nature to evaluate how decision making, hopes and goals change over the illness trajectory for patient with a HGG. One patient was followed over the course of ten months, while most others were followed over the course of two to four months, ending with death or the end of data collection. All patients in the study began a cancer directed therapy or clinical trial shortly after diagnosis.

During the study period, six (40%) patients had not yet had disease progression, four (27%) had disease progression, four (27%) died and one (7%) improved. Of these six who had not yet had disease progression, one was still receiving active chemotherapy, one was being observed after completing initial standard therapy, one was being observed after completing initial standard therapy, one was being observed after completing initial standard therapy receiving investigational drugs on clinical trials.

Decisions for the patients receiving active chemotherapy or investigational agents were focused on coordinating schedules and finances. For patients not receiving active cancer directed care and had lived over a year without progression, decisions were more focused on future endeavors for the patient or school.

Four patients who had disease progression were faced with decisions about whether to start a new cancer directed therapy, enroll in a clinical trial, focus on quality of life, or go on trips, such as Make-A-Wish. Two patients had progression twice during the study. One of these patients chose to enroll in a clinical trial each time and have re-irradiation. The other patient enrolled in a clinical trial and started a vegan diet. At the next progression, the patient was taken off the clinical trial, continued the vegan diet, started Avastin (palliative chemotherapy), and started herbal remedies and meditative practices as suggested by a naturopathic provider. Another patient progressed once during the study and underwent another surgical resection and enrolled in a clinical trial. A fourth patient declined clinical trial participation. For the one patient who improved, decisions were made about continuing the compassionate use drug, stopping hospice services, go on vacation, and later shifted to the sibling who was also diagnosed with a brain tumor. For those who died during the study, decisions were on memory making, legacy building, and end-of-life care.

These patients were all in different stages of their disease course and had decisions that transitioned from coordinating cancer directed care to future planning for those who do not have progression or improve. For those who had progression, decisions focused on care options and began to shift towards end-of-life care. Decisions about hospice would begin to arise for these patients. Palliative care became involved more often for patients who had disease progression, at the time when significant care decisions were being made.

Goals of care for patients and parents shifted for all enrolled patients from cure or cancer treatment at the time of diagnosis to other goals over time. These other goals depended on the trajectory. Quality of life would become an important factor at the time of disease progression and end-of-life, more so than at the time of diagnosis. Comfort focused goals became more prominent as end-of-life approached.

Parallel to the shift of decisions to be made and goals of care was a shift in the hopes of patients, parents and physicians. While patients and families discussed cures throughout the disease trajectory, they held other hopes as well. Many of these hopes focused on achievable hopes, such as going to an activity later in the day. Other hopes were less likely but achievable, such as raising money at a benefit or the patient living to a milestone. At progression, hopes
around symptom control began to emerge along with quality of life. At the end-of-life, they hoped for peace, comfort and no suffering. These findings are similar to a recent study that showed that most hopes are in the domains of quality of life, physical body, future well-being and medical care and that over time hopes increased for quality of life, future well-being and broader meaning. (Hill et al. 2018)

Physicians would mention hopes for patients to have good quality of life as long as possible at the time of diagnosis along with hopes for prolonged progression free survival. As patients progressed or approached end-of-life, the length of time mentioned in survival was shortened. Rarely a physician would mention cure. The one physician who mentioned it also hoped that the patient would avoid suffering and death, and that the family would not have to watch their child die.

The patient and parental hope for a cure may be a part of coping or purposeful ignorance and should not be discounted. It does not always mean that they do not understand the reality of the circumstances or that they lack understanding in the purpose of the clinical trial (therapeutic misconception, misestimation or optimism). However, it may reflect their positive disposition. Patients and families had functional hopes that continually shifted but promoted their ability to take "one day at a time." Inquiring about these functional and shifting hopes may foster further resilience for these patients and families.

Loci of Control Amidst Chaotic Decision Making for Children with High Grade Gliomas

Each participant in decision making had a locus of control. After life is turned upside down from a cancer diagnosis, people did what they are capable of doing. They focused on their loci of control amidst the chaos, attempting to fulfill the duties of their role in decision making. In attempting to be a "good physician," physicians attempted to control and provide standard medical care. They may have gone above and beyond standard medical care in providing extraordinary treatment regimens. However, with patients having poor prognoses, the morale to provide supra-standard or even standard of care did decline. Though parents needed clinicians throughout the trajectory of their child's illness, good clinicians were especially needed at the end-of-life. They did not wish to feel abandoned by their oncologist.

To remediate this problem, more support is needed to improve clinicians work-life balance so that they do not develop compassion fatigue and their patient care can excel. Additionally, physicians should be trained in communication, shared decision making, and preserving hope. Physicians could also learn to interact via social media to provide guidance to patients and parents in viewing high quality information.

Parents attempted to be "good parents" by controlling and providing the basic needs for their children like food, exercise, shelter, comfort, access to knowledge for car, access to care. They cared about helping their children live as well as they could for as long as they could. They attempted to integrate their child into a community of support but also intervened when needed to protect their children's privacy. Home was a safe haven and was guarded as such. Parents worked to establish normalcy at home for the patients and their siblings. They worried about caring for their sick child and other siblings.

Patients tried to be "good patients and good children" as best as they could. They experienced many different emotions. It was hard to control their anger, fears, worries and anxieties. Patients attempted to be brave and hide their fears. They appeared to be mature beyond their years. At other times, they went back to being a normal child or regressed. Children attempted to control certain settings to feel more secure.

Communities attempted to be "good" by supporting their members, but may have felt a loss in how to support a child with HGG and the child's family. They rallied together to support patients and families, providing significant resources that enable medical care or memory making through trips like Make-A-Wish.

Acknowledging these differing loci of control is important in developing relationships, communicating ideas, and making decisions. When these roles are not honored, relationships can be damaged, communication breaks down, and distress results from conflict in the decision making process. However, when they are honored, relationships are supported, communication is transparent, and peace results from teamwork in the shared decision making process.

Implications and Communication Framework for the Longitudinal Decision Making Processes

In decision making discussions, knowledge exchange can be difficult, especially when there are many participants, opinions and emotions. Clear communication is essential in learning about the goals of care that will guide the approach to the patient's care. It is important to revisit goals of care throughout the trajectory of a child's illness, especially as the child nears the endof-life. Figure 15 demonstrates my proposed decision making framework that has been informed by the literature and my informants (patient, parent and physician) for communication for children with HGGs.

The framework begins at diagnosis and progresses through initial discussion of treatment options, through disease progression, to end-of-life. This framework uses the SPIKES model for delivering bad news. (Baile et al. 2000) Briefly, the SPIKES model stands for the following:

- 1) *Set up* the interview with privacy, involving the people patients and/or parents want to be there, sit down and maintain eye contact and diminish or eliminate interruptions.
- 2) Assess the patient's and parent's *perception* (i.e. What have you been told so far?)

- 3) Obtain the patient's and/or parent's *invitation* to disclose information
- 4) Give *knowledge* and information to the patient/family
- 5) Address the patient's *emotions* with empathic responses (observe and name the emotion, identify why the emotion is there and allow the patient/parent to express the emotion)
- 6) Strategy and *summary*

At diagnosis, the medical provider would provide bad news using the SPIKES model. In discussing the diagnosis, the physician should share honest, effective, compassionate knowledge in an Ask-Tell-Ask exchange with patients and their families. (Back et al. 2005) Physicians should allow time for families to process the information and ask questions. During the exchange, the physician should learn about the patient's and family's hopes. When a patient and family states that they hope for a cure or miracle, the provider should also ask what else they are hoping for as it will be important to know throughout the illness trajectory.

When discussing treatment options, the physician should be prepared to discuss the available and feasible options for cancer directed care and palliative care at a goals of care discussion. Again, the Ask-Tell-Ask strategy should be used to learn what is important to the patient and family. At this time, reveal the options that align with the stated goals of patients and families. Allow time for questions. Encourage patient and family hopes through active, empathetic listening and asking. While the patient is stable, consider discussions on advanced care planning. This discussion should be separate from discussing other treatment options as it can be overwhelming to the patient and family.

At the time of disease progression, the physician should again prepare what options are available and feasible. A goals of care discussion should ensue. At that meeting, the physician should support the family through listening and inquire about hopes. The physician should note if the hopes begin to shift away from cure and towards comfort but should not be surprised if cure remains a hope. Again, inquire further about other hopes and more hopes may emerge that reflect comfort than cure. The physician should not abandon the patient. If the patient needs to transition to another facility or clinician, the physician should ensure the transition is as smooth as possible, providing vital information to the receiving institution for clinician.

Finally, at the end-of-life, the physician should provide anticipatory guidance about the dying process and what death looks like. Ensure that care aligns with the current goals of care and continue to inquire about hopes. Focus on memory making and legacy building. Provide bereavement resources and be available for the family.

Utilizing this framework in clinical practice may facilitate clearer communication in difficult conversations. This will respect the autonomy of each participant in decision making, balancing benefits and harms, and assess the justice of the available options. The goal is to provide care that aligns with the roles of each patient and family, allowing physicians, parents, patients and communities to be good at their respective roles. When each of these participants are supported, they can more easily care for one another, share hopes with one another, and share responsibilities in shared decision making.

Future work is needed to 1) develop preference tools for pediatric patients and families to inform medical providers, 2) provide training in communication and shared decision making with pediatric oncologists, 3) further evaluate informed consent discussions for clinical trials and compassionate drugs, 4) further evaluate the impact of palliative care on decision making and compare shared decision making practices between palliative care specialists and oncologists, 5) evaluate the potential roles physicians and researchers have with assisting in decision making on social media websites, 6) determine what physicians, parents and patients determine to be ethical

in presented case studies and evaluate if there is a discrepancy, and 7) determine if physicians have moral distress or regret related to shared decision making processes.

Figure 15: Framework of Communication for Decision Making for Children with HGGs

Diagnosis

- Follow the SPIKES model of Delivering Bad News*
- Physicians share honest, effective, compassionate knowledge in an Ask-Tell-Ask exchange with patients and their families
- Allow time to process the information and ask questions
- Begin learning about patient/family hopes

• Available and feasible options for cancer directed care and palliative care are assesed by the

Treatment

Options

- physician
 Have a Goals of Care Discussion after preparation.
- •Use the Ask-Tell-Ask strategy to learn what is important to the patient and family
- •Reveal the options that align with the patient /family goals
- •Allow patient/family time to ask questions
- •Encourage patient/family hopes by listening and asking
- While stable, consider discussions on advanced care planning

Review options and

Progression

- have another goals of care discussion. •Support patient/family
- through listening •Inquire about hopes and note if they have started to shift away from cure and towards comfort, knowing that the hope of cure will likely persist until
- deathDo not abandon the patient/family.

 Provide anticipatory guidance about the dying process and what death looks like

End-of-Life

- •Ensure that care aligns with the current goals of care
- Inquire about hopes
- •Focus on memory making and legacy building
- Provide bereavement resources and be avaiable for family

Appendix A: Interview Guide for Patients/Families

- 1- Tell me all about your child's illness (Probe for: What is your understanding of your child's diagnosis and What is your understanding of your child's prognosis? When you say that, is this the facts, what you hope for or what you fear will happen?
- 2- Tell me about all of the options for taking care of your child are right now.
- 3- Did the doctor recommend one of the options? What did he or she say? Did you think this was a strong recommendation or just a suggestion? (may want to probe: What made you think that?)
- 4- What option did you pick and why? Tell me all about how you made the decision. (probe for influences friends, past experiences, nurse, doctor, God) Who usually makes big decisions in your family?
- 5- What do you wish you could know that you have not discussed yet? How would you like to be told that?
- 6- What do you wish you did not know or wish that you had not been told? Is there anything you wish your child was not told?
- 7- What do you think is the best outcome of the choice you made? The worst?
- 8- Describe for me the biggest fears you have right now. What are your fears? What do you hope for right now?
- 9- Would you call yourself an optimist, a realist, or a pessimist?
- 10- How could we improve conversations like the one you had with your child's doctor? We welcome any suggestions!!!

Appendix B: Physician Questionnaires

Questionnaire for Oncologists

- 1- What is the patient's diagnosis?
- 2- Do you expect this child to live longer than 6 months?
- 3- Did you offer a Phase I trial?
- 4- Did you offer cancer directed therapy (radiation, chemo-not on trial)?
- 5- Did you offer palliative care?
- 6- What did you recommend?
- 7- What option did they pick and why?
- 8- Who do you think is the primary decision maker in their family?
- 9- Who do you think influenced these decisions the most?
- 10- What do you think is the best outcome? Why? The worst? Why?
- 11- Do you try to preserve hope? If so, how?
- 12-What are your fears for the patient? For the family? Your hopes?
- 13-Would you call yourself an optimist, a realist, or a pessimist?
- 14- If you could re-do the conversation, what would you do differently? If so, how would you change it?
- 15- How could we improve training for physicians to have difficult conversations like the one you had with patients and/or families?

Questionnaire for Palliative Care Specialists

- 1- What did the patient/family relay about the diagnosis and prognosis and treatment options offered by their primary team?
- 2- What options for care did you discuss with the child and/or family?
- 3- Did you discuss hospice?
- 4- What did you recommend?
- 5- What option did they pick and why?
- 6- Who do you think is the primary decision maker in their family?
- 7- What do you think is the best outcome? Why? The worst? Why?
- 8- Do you try to preserve hope? If so, how?
- 9- What are your fears for the patient? For the family? Your hopes?
- 10-Would you call yourself an optimist, a realist, or a pessimist?
- 11- If you could re-do the conversation, what would you do differently? If so, how would you change it?

How could we improve training for physicians to have difficult conversations like the one you had with patients and/or families?

Bibliography

- AAP. 2013. "Pediatric Palliative Care and Hospice Care Commitments, Guidelines, and Recommendations." *Pediatrics*, 967.
- Adams, Richard C, Susan E. Levy, and Council on Children with Disabilities. 2017. "Shared Decision-Making and Children with Disabilities: Pathways to Consensus." *Pediatrics* 139 (6): e20170956.
- Albright, AL, RJ Packer, R Zimmerman, LB Rorke, J Boyett, and GD Hammond. 1993. "Magnetic Resonance Scans Should Replace Biopsies for the Diagnosis of Diffuse Brain Stem Gliomas: A Report from the Children's Cancer Group." *Neurosurgery* 33 (6): 1029–30.
- Amano, T, T Inamura, A Nakamizo, S Inoha, CM Wu, and K Ikezak. 2002. "Case Management of Hydrocephalus Associated with Progression of Childhood Brain Stem Gliomas." *Child Nerv Syst* 18 (11): 599–604.
- American Medical Association. 2001. "AMA Code of Medical Ethics." https://www.amaassn.org/sites/default/files/media-browser/principles-of-medical-ethics.pdf.
- Andre, Nicolas. 2006. "Decisional Priority in Pediatric Oncology Revisited: Involving Children in Decision Making." *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 24 (13): 2131.
- Appelbaum, Paul S, Loren H Roth, and Charles Lidz. 1982. "The Therapeutic Misconception: Informed Consent in Psychiatric Research." *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry* 5 (3–4): 319–29.
- Baile, Walter F, Robert Buckman, Renato Lenzi, Gary Glober, Estela A Beale, and Andrzej P Kudelka. 2000. "SPIKES-A Six-Step Protocol for Delivering Bad News: Application to the Patient with Cancer." *The Oncologist* 5: 302–11.
- Baker, JN, R Barfield, PS Hinds, JR Kane, and et al. 2007. "A Process to Facilitate Decision Making in Pediatric Stem Cell Transplantation: The Individualized Care Planning and Coordination Model." ASBMT 13 (3): 245–54.
- Baker, JN, AC Leek, HS Salas, D Drotar, R Noll, SR Rheingold, and ED Kodish. 2013. "Suggestions from Adolescents, Young Adults, and Parents for Improving Informed Consent in Phase 1 Pediatric Oncology Trials." *Cancer* 119: 4154–61.
- Balboni, Tracy A, Michael Balboni, Andrea C Enzinger, Kathleen Gallivan, M Elizabeth Paulk, Alexi Wright, Karen Steinhauser, Tyler J VanderWeele, and Holly G Prigerson. 2013. "Provision of Spiritual Support to Patients with Advanced Cancer by Religious Communities and Associations with Medical Care at the End of Life." JAMA Intern Med 173 (12): 1109–17.
- Beauchamp, Tom L, and James F Childress. 2013. *Principles of Biomedical Ethics*. Seventh. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Beecham, Emma, Linda Oostendorp, Joanna Crocker, Paula Kelly, June Hemsley, Andrew Dinsdale, Jessica Russell, Louise Jones, and Myra Bluebond-Langner. 2016. "Keeping All Options Open: Parents' Approaches to Advance Care Planning." *Health Expectations*, 675–84.
- Bergstraesser, Eva. 2013. "Pediatric Palliative Care: A Reflection on Terminology." *Palliat Care* 7: 31–36.
- Biggs, Andy. n.d. *Right to Try Act of 2017*. Accessed March 14, 2018. https://www.congress/gov./bill/115th-congress/house-bill/878.
- Bioethics, Committee on. 2016. "Informed Consent in Decision-Making in Pediatric Practice." *Pediatrics*, 1–7.
- Bluebond-Langner, Myra. 1978. *The Private Worlds of Dying Children*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Bluebond-Langner, Myra, Jean Bello Belasco, and Marla DeMesquita Wander. 2010. "I Want to Live, Until I Don't Want to Live Anymore': Involving Children with Life-Threatening and Life-Shortening Illnesses in Decision Making About Care and Treatment." Nurs Clin N Am 45: 329– 43.
- Breese, PE, WJ Burman, S Goldberg, and SE Weis. 2007. "Education Level, Primary Language, and Comprehension of the Informed Consent Process." *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics: An International Journal* 2 (4): 69–79.

Brook, L, and R Hain. 2008. "Predicting Death in Children." BMJ 93 (12): 1067-70.

Bulger, Jeffrey W. 2007. "Teaching Ethics." Society for Ethics Across the Curriculum 8 (1): 81-100.

- CAPC. n.d. "About Palliative Care." Accessed March 24, 2018. https://www.capc.org/about/palliative-care/.
- Castro, BA, BS Imber, R Chen, MW McDermott, and MK Aghi. 2017. "Ventriculoperitoneal Shunting for Glioblastoma: Risk Factors, Indications, and Efficacy." *Neurosurgery* 80 (3): 421–30.
- Cohen, KJ, IF Pollack, T Zhou, and et al. 2011. "Temozolomide in the Treatment of High-Grade Gliomas in Children: A Report from the Children's Oncology Group." *Neuro Oncol* 13 (3): 317–23.
- Cohn, Felicia. 2004. "Addressing Paternalism with Patients' Rights: Unintended Consequences." AMA Journal of Ethics 6 (2).
- Cole, CM, and E Kodish. 2007. "Ethics Case: Minors' Right to Know and Therapeutic Privilege." *Virtual Mentor-AMA J Ethics* 15 (8): 638–44.
- Coyne, I, DP O'Mathuna, F Gibson, L Shields, and G Sheaf. 2013. "Interventions for Promoting Participating in Shared Decision-Making for Children with Cancer." *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 6 (CD008970): 1–25.
- Curtin, SC, AM Minino, and RN Anderson. 2016. "Declines in Cancer Death Rates Among Children and Adolescents in the United States, 1999-2014." *NCHS Data Brief*, no. 257: 1–8.
- Dans, Maria, Thomas Smith, Anthony Back, Justin N. Baker, and et al. 2017. "NCCN Guidelines Insights: Palliative Care, Version 2.2017." *J Natl Comp Canc Netw* 15: 989–97.
- Darrow, Jonathan J., Ameet Sarpatwari, Jerry Avorn, and Aaron S. Kesselheim. 2015. "Practical, Legal, and Ethical Issues in Expanded Access to Investigational Drugs." *NEJM* 372: 279–86.
- Decoster, G, G Stein, and E Holdener. 1990. "Responses and Toxic Deaths in Phase I Clinical Trials." Ann Oncol 1: 175–81.
- Donaldson, Chase M. 2017. "Using Kantian Ethics in Medical Ethics Education." *Medical Science Educator* 27 (4): 841–45.
- Durall, Amy, David Zurakowski, and Joanne Wolfe. 2012. "Barriers to Conducting Advance Care Discussions for Children with Life-Threatening Conditions." *Pediatrics*, e975-982.
- Fangusaro, J. 2012. "Pediatric High Grade Glioma: A Review and Update on Tumor Clinical Characteristics and Biology." *Frontiers in Oncology* 2: 105.
- Ferrell, Betty R, Jennifer S Temel, Sarah Temin, Erin R. Alesi, Tracy A. Balboni, Ethan M. Basch, and et al. 2017. "Integration of Palliative Care into Standard Oncology Care: American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice Guideline Update." J Clin Oncol 35 (1): 96–112.
- Francisco Barajas, Jr., Ramon, Andrew Phelps, Hallee C. Foster, Jesse Courtier, Benjamin D. Buelow, Nalin Gupta, Theodore Nicolaides, Oritt A. Glenn, and Anuradha Banerjee. 2015. "Metastatic Diffuse Intrinsic Pontine Glioma to the Peritoneal Cavity Via Ventriculoperitoneal Shunt: Case Report and Literature Review." *Journal of Neurological Surgery Reports* 76 (1): e91-396.
- Friedrichsdorf, SJ, A Postier, J Dreyfus, K Osenga, S Sencer, and J Wolfe. 2015. "Improved Quality of Life at End of Life Related to Home-Based Palliative Care in Children with Cancer." J Palliative Med 18 (2): 143–50.
- Friedrichsdorf, Stefan J., Stacy Remke, Joshua Hauser, and Joanne Wolfe. 2015. "Module 7: Communication and Planning." In *Education in Palliative and End of Life Care: EPEC-Pediatrics*.
- Gardner, MH, S Mrug, DC Schwebel, S Phipps, K Whelan, and A Madan-Swain. 2017. "Benefit Finding and Quality of Life in Caregivers of Childhood Cancer Survivors: The Moderating Roles of Demographic and Psychosocial Factors." *Cancer Nursing* 40 (5): E28–37.
- Germann, JN, D Leonard, TJ Stuenzi, RB Pop, SM Stewart, and PJ Leavey. 2015. "Hoping Is Coping: A Guiding Theoretical Framework for Promoting Coping and Adjustment Following Pediatric Cancer Diagnosis." J Pediatr Psychol 40 (9): 846–55.
- Glod, J, GJ Rahme, H Kaur, E Raabe, EI Hwang, and MA Israel. 2016. "Pediatric Brain Tumors: Current Knowledge and Therapeutic Opportunities." *Journal of Pediatric Hematology/Oncology* 38 (4): 249–60.

- Gripp, Stephan, Sibylle Mioeller, Edwin Bolke, Gerd Schmitt, Christiane Matuschek, Sonja Asgari, Farzin Asgharzadeh, et al. 2007. "Survival Prediction in Terminally III Cancer Patients by Clinical Estimates, Laboratory Tests, and Self-Rated Anxiety and Depression." J Clin Onc 25 (22): 3313–20.
- Hargrave, D. 2012. "Pediatric Diffuse Intrinsic Pontine Glioma: Can Optimism Replace Pessimism?" *CNS Oncology* 1 (2): 137–48.
- Hasan, Fyeza, Kevin Weingarten, Adam Rapoport, Eric Bouffet, and Ute Bartels. 2018. "End-of-Life Care of Children with Diffuse Intrinsic Pontine Glioma." *Journal of Neurooncology*, 1–7. https://doi-org.proxy.library.emory.edu/10.1007/s11060-018-2781-0.
- Hill, Douglas L, Pamela G Nathanson, Karen W Carroll, Theodore E Schall, Victoria A Miller, and Chris Feudtner. 2018. "Changes in Parental Hopes for Seriously Ill Children." *Pediatrics* 141 (4): e20173549.
- Hinds, PS, D Drew, LL Oakes, and et al. 2005. "End-of-Life Care Preferences of Pediatric Patients with Cancer." *J Clin Onc* 23 (36): 9146–54.
- Houtzager, Bregje A., Frans J. Oort, Josette E. H. M. Hoekstra-Weebers, Huib N. Caron, Martha A. Grootenhuis, and Bob F. Last. 2004. "Coping and Family Functioning Predict Longitudinal Psychological Adaptation of Siblings of Childhood Cancer Patients." *Journal of Pediatric Psychology* 29 (8): 591–605.
- Hui, D, A Elsayem, M De La Cruz, and et al. 2010. "Availability and Integration of Palliative Care at United States Cancer Centers." *JAMA* 303 (11): 1054–61.
- Jackson, Vicki A, Juliet Jacobsen, Joseph A Greer, William F Pirl, Jennifer S Temel, and Anthony L Back. 2013. "The Cultivation of Prognostic Awareness Through the Provision of Early Palliative Care in the Ambulatory Setting: A Communication Guide." *Journal of Palliative Medicine* 16 (8): 894–900.
- Jansen, Lynn A, Daruka Mahadevan, Paul S Applebaum, William MP Klein, Neil D Weinstein, Motomi Mori, Racky Daffe, and Daniel P Sulmasy. 2016. "Dispositional Optimism and Therapeutic Expectations in Early Phase Oncology Trials." *Cancer* 122 (8): 1238–46.
- Jansen, MHA, DG van Vuurden, WP Vandertop, and GJL Kaspers. 2012. "Diffuse Intrinsic Pontine Gliomas: A Systematic Update on Clinical Trials and Biology." *Cancer Treatment Reviews* 31 (1): 27–35.
- Joffe, S, EF Cook, PD Cleary, JW Clark, and JC Weeks. 2001. "Quality of Informed Consent: A New Measure of Understanding Among Research Subjects." *J Nat Ca Inst* 93 (2): 139–47.
- Joffe, Steven, and Holly Fernandez Lynch. 2018. "Federal Right-to-Try Legislation Threatening the FDA's Public Health Mission." *NEJM* 378: 695–97. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp1714054.
- Johnson, LM, AC Leek, D Drotar, and et al. 2015. "Practical Communication Guidance to Improve Phase I Informed Consent Conversations and Decision-Making in Pediatric Oncology." *Cancer* 121 (4): 2439–48.
- Johnson, Ron. 2017. Trickett Wendler, Frank Mongiello, Jordan McLinn, and Matthew Bellina Right to Try Act of 2017. https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/204/text.
- Jones, C, MA Karajannis, DTW Jones, MW Kieran, M Monje, SJ Baker, OJ Becher, et al. 2017. "Pediatric High-Grade Glioma: Biologically and Clinically in Need of New Thinking." *Neuro-Oncology* 19 (2): 153–61.
- Kaye, Erica C., Jonathan Jerkins, Courtney A. Gushue, April Sykes, Zhaohua Lu, Jennifer M. Snaman, Lindsay Blazin, et al. 2018. "Predictors of Late Palliative Care Referral in Children with Cancer." *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2018.01.021.
- Kim, A, E Fox, K Warren, and et al. 2008. "Characteristics and Outcome of Pediatric Patients Enrolled in Phase I Oncology Trials." *The Oncologist* 13: 679–89.
- Labay, Larissa E., and Gary A. Walco. 2004. "Brief Report: Empathy and Psychological Adjustment in Siblings of Children with Cancer." *Journal of Pediatric Psychology* 29 (4): 309–14.
- Lad, Pramod, and Rebecca Dahl. 2017. "Therapeutic Optimism and Informed Consent in Phase I Oncology Trials." *Medical Research Archives* 5 (11). https://doi.org/10.18103/mra.v5i11.1607.

- Last, BF, and AMH van Veldhuizen. 1996. "Information about Diagnosis and Prognosis Related to Anxiety and Depression in Children with Cancer Aged 8-16 Years." *European Journal of Cancer* 32 (2): 290–94.
- Lee, DP, JM Skolnik, and PC Adamson. 2005. "Pediatric Phase I Trials in Oncology: An Analysis of Study Conduct Efficacy." J Clin Onc 23 (33): 8431–41.
- Levine, DR, LM Johnson, BN Mandrell, J Yang, NK West, PS Hinds, and JN Baker. 2015. "Does Phase 1 Trial Enrollment Preclude Quality End-of-Life Care? Phase 1 Trial Enrollment and End-of-Life Care Characteristics in Children with Cancer." *Cancer* 121 (9): 1508–12.
- Levine, DR, BN Mandrell, A Sykes, M Pritchard, D Gibson, HJ Symons, D Wendler, and JN Baker. 2017. "Patients' and Parents' Needs, Attitudes, and Perceptions About Early Palliative Care Integration in Pediatric Oncology." JAMA 3 (9): 1214–20.
- Louis, DN, A Perry, G Reifenberger, A von Deimling, D Figarella-Branger, WK Cavenee, H Ohgaki, OD Wiestler, P Kleihues, and DW Ellison. 2016. "The 2016 World Health Organization Classification of Tumors of the Central Nervous System: A Summary." Acta Neuropathology, 1– 18.
- Mack, Jennifer W., EF Cook, Joanne Wolfe, HE Grier, PD Cleary, and JC Weeks. 2007. "Understanding of Prognosis among Parents of Children with Cancer: Parental Optimism and the Parent-Physician Interaction." J Clin Onc 25 (11): 1357–62.
- Mack, Jennifer W., Angel M Cronin, and Tammy I Kang. 2016. "Decisional Regret Among Parents of Children with Cancer." *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 34 (33): 4023–30.
- Mack, Jennifer W., Joanne Wolfe, EF Cook, HE Grier, PD Cleary, and JC Weeks. 2007. "Hope and Prognostic Disclosure." *J Clin Onc* 25 (35): 5636–42.
- Mack, Jennifer W., Joanne Wolfe, HE Grier, PD Cleary, and JC Weeks. 2006. "Communication about Prognosis between Parents and Physicians of Children with Cancer: Parent Preferences and the Impact of Prognostic Information." J Clin Onc 24 (33): 5265–70. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2006.06.5326.
- Mandrell, BN, J Baker, D Levine, J Gattuso, N West, A Sykes, A Gajjar, and A Broniscer. 2016.
 "Children with Minimal Chance for Cure: Parent Proxy of the Child's Health-Related Quality of Life and the Effect on Parental Physical and Mental Health during Treatment." J Neurooncol 129: 373–81.
- Mannix, MM, JM Feldman, and K Moody. 2009. "Optimism and Health-Related Quality of Life in Adolescents with Cancer." *Child Care Health Dev* 35 (4): 482–88.
- McCarthy, J. 2003. "Principlism or Narrative Ethics: Must We Choose between Them?" *Medical Humanities* 29: 65–71.
- Miles, Steven H. 2004. *The Hippocratic Oath and the Ethics of Medicine*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Miller, Franklin G, and Steven Joffe. 2008. "Benefit in Phase 1 Oncology Trials: Therapeutic Misconception or Reasonable Treatment Option?" *Clinical Trials* 5 (6): 617–23.
- Miller, VA, M Cousino, AC Leek, and ED Kodish. 2014. "Hope and Persuasion by Physicians during Informed Consent." *J Clin Oncol* 32 (29): 3229–35.
- Molina, Y, JC Yi, J Martinez-Gutierrez, KW Reding, JP Yi-Frazier, and AR Rosenberg. 2014. "Resilience among Patients across the Cancer Continuum: Diverse Perspectives." *Clin J Oncol Nurs* 18 (1): 93–101.
- Munshi, Anusheel, Lee Hsueh Ni, and Manpreet Singh Tiwana. 2008. "Complementary and Alternative Medicine in Present Day Oncology Care: Promises and Pitfalls." *Japanese Journal of Clinical Oncology* 38 (8): 512–20.
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. 1978. "The Belmont Report: Ethical Principles and Guidelines for the Protection of Human Subjects of Research." US Government Printing Office.
- Ogiwara, H, and N Morota. 2013. "The Efficacy of a Biopsy of Intrinsic Brainstem Lesions for Decision Making of the Treatments." *Childs Nerv Syst* 29: 833–37.

- Okado, Y, KM Howard Sharp, R Tillery, AM Long, and S Phipps. 2016. "Profiles of Dispositional Expectancies and Affectivity Predict Later Psychosocial Functioning in Children and Adolescents with Cancer." *J Pediatr Psychol* 41 (3): 298–308.
- Opel, Douglas J, and Maren E. Olson. 2012. "Ethics for the Pediatrician: Bioethics Education and Resources." *Pediatr Rev* 33 (8): 370–73.
- Ostrom, QT, H Gittleman, P Farah, and et al. 2013. "CBTRUS Statistical Report: Primary Brain and Central Nervous System Tumors Diagnosed in the United States in 2006-2010." *Neuro Oncol* 15 (Supplement 2): ii1–56.
- PDQ Pediatric Treatment Editorial Board. 2018. "Childhood Astrocytomas Treatment (PDQ®): Health Professional Version." In *PDQ Cancer Information Summaries*. Bethesda, MD: National Cancer Institute. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK65944/.
- Pentz, RD, M White, RD Harvey, ZL Farmer, C Lewis, O Dashevskaya, T Owonikoko, and FR Khuri. 2012. "Therapeutic Misconception, Misestimation, and Optimism in Participants Enrolled in Phase 1 Trials." *Cancer* 118 (18): 4571–78.
- Puchalski, Christina M, Robert Vitillo, Sharon K Hull, and Nancy Reller. 2014. "Improving the Spiritual Dimension of Whole Person Care: Reaching National and International Consensus." J Palliative Med 17 (6): 642–56.
- Puget, S, T Blauwblomme, and J Grill. 2012. "Is Biopsy Safe in Children with Newly Diagnosed Diffuse Intrinsic Pontine Glioma?" *American Society Clinical Oncology Education Book*, 629–33.
- Reder, Elizabeth A, and Janet R Serwint. 2009. "Until the Last Breath: Exploring the Concept of Hope for Parents and Health Care Professionals During a Child's Serious Illness." JAMA Pediatrics 163 (7): 653–57.
- Reeder-Hayes, Katherine E, Megan C Roberts, Gail E Henderson, and Elizabeth C Dees. 2017. "Informed Consent and Decision Making Among Participants in Novel-Design Phase I Oncology Trials." *Journal of Oncology Practice*, Ethics in End-of-Life Care, 13 (10): e863–73. https://doi.org/10.1200/JOP.2017.021303.
- Rizzo, D, A Ruggiero, M Martini, V Rizzo, P Maurizi, and R Riccardi. 2015. "Molecular Biology in Pediatric High-Grade Glioma: Impact on Prognosis and Treatment." *Biomed Research International* 2015.
- Rosenberg, Abby R, Andrea Postier, Kaci Osenga, Ulrika Kreicbergs, Bridget Neville, Veronica Dussel, and Joanne Wolfe. 2015. "Long-Term Psychosocial Outcomes among Bereaved Siblings of Children with Cancer." *J Pain Symptom Manage* 49 (1): 55–65.
- Rosenberg, AR. 2016. "Get the Consent'-Nonfinancial Conflict of Interest in Academic Clinical Research." *J Clin Onc* Ahead of print: 1–4.
- Rosenberg, AR, L Orellana, C Ullrich, T Kang, JR Geyer, C Feudtner, V Dussel, and J Wolfe. 2016. "Quality of Life in Children with Advanced Cancer: A Report from the PediQUEST Study." J Pain Symptom Manage 52 (2): 243–53.
- Rosenberg, AR, JP Yi-Frazier, C Wharton, and B Jones. 2014. "Contributors and Inhibitors of Resilience Among Adolescents and Young Adults with Cancer." *Contributors and Inhibitors of Resilience Among Adolescents and Young Adults with Cancer* 3 (4): 185–93.
- Ross, WD. 1930. *The Right and the Good*. Oxford: Oxford University Press. http://www.ditext.com/ross/right2.html.
- Roujeau, T, F Di Rocco, C Dufour, F Bourdeaut, S Puget, CS Rose, and M Zerah. 2011. "Shall We Treat Hydrocephalus Associated to Brain Stem Gliomas in Children?" *Child Nerv Syst* 27 (10): 1735– 39.
- Sanderson, A, D Zurakowski, and Joanne Wolfe. 2013. "Clinician Perspectives Regarding the Do-Not-Resuscitate Order." *JAMA Pediatrics* 167 (10): 954–58.
- Saunders, Cicely. 1964. "The Symptomatic Treatment of Incurable Malignant Disease." *Prescribers' Journal*, 68–73.
- Shah, S, S Weitman, AM Langevin, M Bernstein, W Furman, and C Pratt. 1998. "Phase I Therapy Trials in Children with Cancer." *J Ped Hem Onc* 20 (5): 431–38.

Siegel, R, D Naishadham, and A Jemal. 2012. "Cancer Statistics." CA Cancer J Clin 62: 10-29.

- Simon, CM, LA Simonoff, ED Kodish, and C Burant. 2004. "Comparison of the Informed Consent Process for Randomized Clinical Trials in Pediatric and Adult Oncology." *J Clin Onc* 22 (13): 2708–17.
- Sisk, BA, M Bluebond-Langner, L Wiener, J Mack, and J Wolfe. 2016. "Prognostic Disclosures to Children: A Historical Perspective." *Pediatrics* 138 (3): pii.
- Sison, Julian, Hung Tran, Ashley Margol, Nishant Tiwari, Karla M Garcia, Jennifer Cotter, Erin Kiehna, Arthur J Olch, and Kenneth Wong. 2017. "Palliative Care Options for a Young Adult Patient with a Diffuse Intrinsic Pontine Glioma." *Cureus* 9 (8): e1580.
- Sulkers, E, J Fleer, PF Roodbol, WA Kamps, WJ Tissing, and R Sanderman. 2013. "Dispositional Optimism in Adolescents with Cancer: Differential Associations of Optimism and Pessimism with Positive and Negative Aspects of Well-Being." *Br J Health Psychol* 18 (3): 474–89.
- Temel, Jennifer S, Joseph A Greer, Alona Muzikansky, RN Gallagher, and et al. 2010. "Early Palliative Care for Patients with Metastatic Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer." *NEJM* 363: 733–42.
- Tervalon, M, and J Murray-Garcia. 1998. "Cultural Humility versus Cultural Competence: A Critical Distinction in Defining Physician Training Outcomes in Multicultural Education." J Health Care Poor Underserved 9 (2): 117–25.
- Truong, TH, JC Weeks, EF Cook, and S Joffe. 2011. "Outcomes of Informed Consent among Parents of Children in Cancer Clinical Trials." *Ped Blood Cancer* 57 (6): 998–1004.
- Ullrich, Christina K., Leslie Lehmann, Wendy B. London, Dongjing Guo, Madhumitha Sridharan, Richard Koch, and Joanne Wolfe. 2016. "End-of-Life Care Patterns Associated with Pediatric Palliative Care among Children Who Underwent Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplant." *Biology* of Blood and Marrow Transplantation, 1049–55.
- Vanan, Magimairajan Issai, and David D Eisenstat. 2015. "DIPG in Children What Can We Learn from the Past?" *Front Oncol* 4: 237.
- Verberne, Lisa M, Antoinette YN Schouten-van Meeteren, Diederik K Bosman, Derek A Colenbrander, Charissa T Jagt, Martha A Grootenhuis, Johannes JM van Delden, and Marijke Kars. 2017.
 "Parental Experiences with a Paediatric Palliative Care Team: A Qualitative Study." *Palliative Medicine* 31 (10): 956–63.
- Villafranca, Alexander, Stephanie Kereliuk, Colin Hamlin, Andrea Johnson, and Eric Jacobsohn. 2017. "The Appropriateness of Language Found in Research Consent Form Templates: A Computational Linguistic Analysis." *PLoS One* 12 (2): e0169143.
- Villanueva, Gemma, M. Stephen Murphy, David Vickers, Emily Harrop, and Katharina Dworzynski. 2016. "End of Life Care for Infants, Children and Young People with Life Limiting Conditions: Summary of NICE Guidance." *BMJ*, i6385.
- Waligora, M, MM Bala, M Koperny, and J Kimmelman. 2018. "Risk and Surrogate Benefit for Pediatric Phase I Trials in Oncology: A Systematic Review with Meta-Analysis." *PLoS Med* 15 (2).
- Walker, DA, J Liu, M Kieran, N Jabado, S Picton, R Packer, C St Rose, and CPN Paris 2011 Conference Consensus Group. 2013. "A Multi-Disciplinary Consensus Statement Concerning Surgical Approaches to Low-Grade, High-Grade Astrocytomas and Diffuse Intrinsic Pontine Gliomas in Childhood (CPN Paris 2011) Using the Delphi Method." *Neuro Oncol* 15 (4): 462–68.
- Wall, L, ZL Farmer, MW Webb, MD Dixon, A Nooka, and RD Pentz. 2015. "Description of the Types and Content of Phase 1 Clinical Trial Consent Conversations in Practice." *Clinical Trials* 12 (6): 567–74. https://doi.org/10.1177/17407745156016792015.
- Walter, JK, and LF Ross. 2014. "Relational Autonomy: Moving beyond the Limits of Isolated Individualism." *Pediatrics* 133: S16-23.
- Warren, KE. 2012. "Diffuse Intrinsic Pontine Glioma: Poised for Progress." Front Oncol 2: 205.
- Weaver, MS, K Heinze, KP Kelly, L Wiener, RL Casey, CJ Bell, J Wolfe, AM Garee, A Watson, and PS Hinds. 2015. "Palliative Care as a Standard of Care in Pediatric Oncology." *Ped Blood Cancer* 62: S829–33.

- Weinfurt, KP. 2013. "Understanding What Participants in Empirical Bioethical Studies Mean: Historical Cautions from William James and Ludwig Wittgenstein." *AJOB Primary Research* 4 (3): 49–54.
- Whitney, SN, AM Ethier, E Fruge, S Berg, LB McCullough, and M Hockenberry. 2006. "Decision Making in Pediatric Oncology: Who Should Take the Lead? The Decisional Priority in Pediatric Oncology Model." J Clin Onc 1 (24): 160–65.
- Wiener, L, A Kazak, RB Noll, AF Patenaude, and MJ Kupst. 2015. "Standards for the Psychosocial Care of Children with Cancer and Their Families: An Introduction to the Special Issue." *Pediatr Blood Cancer* 62: S419–24.
- Wiener, L, DG McConnell, L Latella, and E Ludi. 2013. "Cultural and Religious Considerations in Pediatric Palliative Care." *Palliat Support Care* 11 (1): 47–67.
- Wolf, Airin, Catherine F Garlid, and Kristiina Hyrkas. 2018. "Physicians' Perceptions of Hope and How Hope Informs Interactions with Patients: A Qualitative, Exploratory Study." *American Journal of Hospice and Palliative Medicine*.
- Wolfe, J, HE Grier, and et al. 2000. "Understanding of Prognosis among Parents of Children Who Died of Cancer: Impact on Treatment Goals and Integration of Palliative Care." *JAMA* 284 (19): 2469–75.
- Wolfe, J, N Klar, SB Levin, JM Ellenbogen, S Salem-Schatz, E Emanuel, and JC Weeks. 2000. "Symptoms and Suffering at the End of Life in Children with Cancer." *NEJM* 342 (5): 326–33.
- Wolfe, J, L Orellana, C Ullrich, EF Cook, TI Kang, A Rosenburg, R Geyer, C Feudtner, and V Dussel. 2015. "Symptoms and Distress in Children with Advanced Cancer: Prospective Patient-Reported Outcomes from the PediQUEST Study." JCO 33 (17): 1928–38.
- Wolpe, PR. 1998. "The Triumph of Autonomy in American Bioethics: A Sociological View." In Bioethics and Society: Constructing the Ethical Enterprise, edited by Raymond DeVries and Janardan Subedi, 38–59. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Wu G, Diaz AK, Paugh BS, Rankin SL, Ju B, Li Y...Baker SJ. 2014. "The Genomic Landscape of Diffuse Intrinsic Pontine Glioma and Pediatric Non-Brainstem High-Grade Glioma." *Nature Genetics.* 45 (5): 444–50.
- Yap, TY, AD Yamokoski, S Hizlan, and et al. 2010. "Informed Consent for Pediatric Phase I Cancer Trials: Physicians' Perspectives." *Cancer* 116 (13): 3244–50.
- Yeh, Jonathan, Peng Huang, and Kenneth J. Cohen. 2016. "Phase I and Phase II Objective Response Rates Are Correlated in Pediatric Cancer Trials: An Argument for Better Clinical Trial Efficiency." *Journal of Pediatric Hematology Oncology* 38 (5): 360–66.
- Zelcer, S, D Cataudella, AE Cairney, and SL Bannister. 2010. "Palliative Care of Children with Brain Tumors: A Parental Perspective." *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* 164 (3): 225–30.